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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEIER
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Mr. Zou Chengjian
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Mr. Zhou Chunsheng
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Mr. Shek Wing Wa Acis ACS(PE)
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2 Church Street
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Hong Kong
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Ngau Tau Kok Sub-Branch
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Phase |, Amoy Plaza

77 Ngau Tau Kok Road, Kowloon
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DNRIEF
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Hong Kong

AUDITOR

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
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Causeway Bay

Hong Kong
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Codan Services Limited
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TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Tengis Limited
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Hong Kong

WEBSITE
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BOARD’S AND MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

EEREEASGH

MR. ZHANG SANHUO

— Executive Director (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo, aged 50, joined the Company on 7 June 2013 and
now being as an Executive Director, Chairman of the Board, chairman of
nomination committee and member of the remuneration committee of the
Company, graduated from LI 7FEEF4E K2 (Shanxi University of Finance &
Economics®) (formerly known as L 7581 48 2 f7 (Shanxi Institute of Finance
& Economics®)) with a bachelor’s degree in accounting and obtained a
master’s degree in business administration from &I &£t (Cheung Kong
Graduate School of Business). Mr. Zhang has over 20 years of experience in

corporate management in mining, investment, finance and other industries.

MR. HUANG BOQlI

— Executive Director (Deputy Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Huang Boqi, aged 50, joined the Company in 6 October 2014 as
an Executive Director, deputy Chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company. He obtained his Bachelor degree in Engineering from South
China University of Technology (formerly known as South China Institute
of Technology) in 1987 and a Master degree in Economics from Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics in 1999. He was the chairman and
executive director of China Best Group Holding Limited (Hong Kong
listed company, Stock Code: 370) from June 2011 to July 2014. He
was also a chairman, executive director and interlocking chief executive
officer of Goldmond Holdings Limited (Hong Kong listed company, Stock
Code: 8190) from February 2005 to March 2010. He has over 20 years
of experience in corporate management, corporate finance and capital
operation, merger and acquisition transactions. He also has extensive
experience in the field of information technology and electronics industries

as well as mining industry.

* For identification purpose only
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BOARD’S AND MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

EENEEASEHN

MR. ZOU CHENGJIAN

— Non-Executive Director

Mr. Zou Chengjian, aged 73, joined the Company on 7 June 2013 as a
non-Executive Director, graduated from L & 2£ 27 (Shandong Institute
of Mining and Technology*) with a bachelor’s degree in mining in September
1965. From September 1965 to January 1970, he worked as a mining
technician at 78 LU &% B 7 8 5& (Xishan Mining Administration Ximing
Mine®).

in January 1970 and acted as the mining engineer, the deputy technical

He was promoted to the position of executive mining technician

manager and the acting manager of the mining area successively from
January 1970 to April 1980. He served at the development headquarters of
LIRS B & X ER (Xishan Mining Administration Gujiao Mine District*)
from April 1980 to April 1985, during which period he worked as the deputy
group leader of the development group of P L& B FE#EHE (Xishan Mining
Administration Ximing Mine*), the chief engineer and the mine manager of
such mine. He then served as the leader of such development headquarters
and its deputy general and production director from April 1985 to April
1995. From December 1995 to December 1997, he acted as the director of
YERAERS /S (Huainan Mining Administration®). He subsequently worked as
the deputy general manager and general manager of & £ A &) (Huajin
Coking Coal Company*) successively from December 1997 to June 2003.
Since 2004, he has acted as the technical consultant of Shanxi Changtong
and had been the dean of Kk T2 A& BT LD BT (Shanxi

Branch of Hefei Design Research Institute for Coal Industry®).

MS. LEUNG YIN FAI

— Independent Non-Executive Director

Ms. Leung Yin Fai, aged 51, joined the Company on 1 April 2014 and
now being as an Independent non-Executive Director and chairman of
each of the audit and remuneration committees and member of nomination
committee of the Company, obtained the master degree of commerce
from the University of New South Wales, Australia. She is currently the
managing director of K E Management & Consultancy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
Prior to this, Ms. Leung acted as the office head of KCS Management &
Consultancy (China) Co., Ltd Beijing Branch and Tianjin Branch for 7 years
and worked in one of international CPA firms for 20 years.

Ms. Leung is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, CPA Australia and Association of Chartered Certified

Accountants.

* For identification purpose only
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BOARD’S AND MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

EEREEASGH

MR. LEUNG PO WING, BOWEN JOSEPH GBS, JP

— Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph GBS, JP, aged 66, joined the
Company on 26 March 2010 and now being as an Independent non-
Executive Director and member of each of the audit, nomination and
remuneration committees of the Company, is currently serving as an
independent non-executive director for two other companies listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange namely Paliburg Holdings Limited (stock code
0617) and Quali-Smart Holdings Limited (stock code 1348). Mr. Leung
previously served as the Director of the Office of the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in Beijing until his retirement
in November 2005. During his tenure with the Government, Mr. Leung
has served in various senior positions including the Deputy Secretary for
District Administration (later re-titled as Deputy Secretary of Home Affairs),
Deputy Secretary for Planning, Environment and Lands, Private Secretary,
Government House, and Secretary for Planning Environment and Lands.
Mr. Leung has extensive experience in corporate leadership and public
administration. Mr. Leung was conferred with the Gold Bauhinia Star
honour in 2004 and appointed as a Justice of Peace in 2007, for his very

distinguished services to the Hong Kong community.
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BOARD’S AND MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

EENEEASEHN

MR. ZHOU CHUNSHENG

— Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Zhou Chunsheng, aged 50, joined the Company on 14 June 2013
and now being as an Independent non-Executive Director and member
of each of the audit, nomination and remuneration committees of the
Company, is currently a professor-in-residence and director of the executive
master of business administration program of &£ I# £t (Cheung Kong
Graduate School of Business). He was an assistant dean, director of the
executive education program and a professor of finance of Y ZEEE &
Bt (Guanghua School of Management) of 1t AZ (Peking University).
He is a distinguished economist, a winner of the National Excellent Young
Researcher Grant, an honorary professor at the University of Hong Kong, a
visiting professor at the City University of Hong Kong and a member of the
1st and 2nd Listing Committee of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. Zhou
obtained a master’'s degree in mathematics from Peking University and
a doctoral degree in economics (finance) from Princeton University in the
United States. From 1994 to 1995, he was awarded an honorary doctoral
scholarship excellence from Princeton University. During 1997 to 2001, Mr.
Zhou worked for the University of California and the School of Business of
the University of Hong Kong. From April to December 2001, at the invitation
of China Securities Regulatory Commission (“CSRC”), Mr. Zhou acted as
a member (deputy level) of the planning and development committee of
CSRC. He also became the head of the finance department of ¢ & 1 £
Bt (Guanghua School of Management). Mr. Zhou is an expert in analysing
financial investment, securities markets, capital operation and financial

derivatives.

Mr. Zhou is an independent non-executive director of each of Zhejiang
Transfar Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 002010: Shenzhen Stock Exchange),
GuangDong HuaSheng Electrical Appliances Co., Ltd. (Stock Code 002670:
Shenzhen Stock Exchange), Kunwu Jiuding Investment Holdings Co., Ltd
(Stock Code 600053: Shanghai Stock Exchange) and China ITS (Holdings)
Co., Ltd. (Stock Code 1900: Hong Kong Stock Exchange).
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BOARD’S AND MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

EEREEAERGH

MR. ZHU BEN YU

— Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Zhu Ben Yu, aged 43, is fellow member of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Zhu obtained a bachelor degree of
Business Administration and Executive Master of Business Administration
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Zhu has over 18 years
of experience in financial management and auditing. Mr. Zhu was chief
financial officer, financial controller and company secretary of several

companies listed in the main board of the Stock Exchange.

MR. SHEK WING WA

— Company Secretary

Mr. Shek Wing Wa, aged 39, joined the Company since 2011. He holds
a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration and a Master Degree in
Corporate Governance and has solid experience in company secretarial
field gained from both listed companies and professional firms in Hong
Kong. He is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in
the United Kingdom.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERBE

| am please to report on the Group’s business for the year ended
31 December 2015 that through recent developments, our business

development will be became more positive.

Regarding IT business, we are actively looking for opportunity of business
development and acquired wholly-owned information technology
subsidiaries IIFEBEMZEEIRARBMR QA (Shanxi Guanghui Corporate
Management Consultancy Limited*) and JT 75 & 8112 8 51T A R A 7 (Jiang
Xi Jin Chuang Information Technology Limited*) which engaged in sales of
IT products, system integration, software development, technology service
and comprehensive product solution and obtained certification of software
enterprise and certificates of registration of certain software products in the
fourth quarter of 2015. During the year, new subsidiary contribute revenue
of HK$4,184,000 to our Group. In the year, our systems integration services
and software solutions business recorded an increase in the turnover and
gross profit due to the increase in revenue from rendering of computer
technology services. As the visibility of the PRC economy remain poor and
labor costs continue to surge, we anticipate that our systems integration
services and software solutions business will continue to face spectacular
challenges. However, we will continuously to provide high quality products
and services to our existing customers and further explore opportunities for
expansion of our products and services chain. We expected our systems
integration services and software solutions business will continuously to

grow in future.

During the year, the commencement of coal mine operation was further
delayed due to further notices from for requiring a higher safety standard
received from the related government authorities. We will continue to use
our best endeavours to satisfy the conditions set forth by the relevant
authorities with aim to resume the construction and development works
of our mines as soon as possible. On 1 February 2016, the State Council
issued (BARERITELHBRELETBERRZEEZ R) (Guideline to
Resolve Overcapacity and Difficulty of Development in Coal Industry*, the
Guideline). China will compress coal production capacity more substantially
and reduce numbers of coal mines moderately in next three to five years
according to the Guideline. We anticipated that coal industry will encounter

more rigorous market and supervision environment in coming years.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERRE

We will continue to identify suitable investments, acquisitions and project
opportunities in order to enhance the value of the Company and to create

higher returns for shareholders.

At the same time, | would like you to take this opportunity to thank our
management and the entire staff for their loyalty and dedication. | would
also like to thank our shareholders and business partners for their trust and
confidence in the board of directors and management of the Group. With
the concerted efforts of all members of the staff, | believe the business
of the Group will continue to thrive and generate greater return for our

shareholders.

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo

Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2016
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmE D

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Review of Results

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group recorded a turnover of
approximately HK$63,923,000 (2014: HK$106,246,000), which represented
a decrease of approximately 39.8%. Due to the decrease in sales of coking
coal, the turnover of mining segment is decreased. System integration
services and software solutions segment also recorded increase in turnover

due to increase in revenue from rendering computer technology services.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group recorded gross profit of
approximately HK$17,170,000 (2014: HK$49,604,000), which represented
a decrease of approximately 65.4%. The decrease in gross profit was

mainly caused by the decrease in sales of coking coal in year 2015.

The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$3,772,732,000 as
compared to a loss of approximately HK$923,131,000 last year, which
was amounted to an increase of approximately HK$2,849,601,000. The
increase in the loss for the year was mainly attributable to the impairment
loss recognized in respect of the mining rights and property, plant and
equipment and loss on change in fair value of derivative component of
convertible loan notes. The impairment loss recognized in respect of mining
rights and property, plant and equipment amounted to HK$3,083,454,000
which was arising from the decrease in fair value of mining operation.
The decrease in the fair value of the mining operation was mainly due to
the delay on the mines’ commercial operation and the drop in coal price.
Greater China Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified professional
valuer, estimated the fair value of the coal mining business based on the
15.51%) and
prevailing coal price of RMB680 per tonne (2014: RMB800 per tonne)

income approach using a discount rate of 15.84% (2014:
based on market information obtained from Shanxi. The major reason
for the decrease in coal price was due to economic downturn in the
PRC. The mines’ commercial operation was delayed by an average of 18
months as compared with 2014 due to the suspension of construction
and development works of our mines. The commercial operation was
further delayed because the Group received the Safe Production Checks
Notice dated 30 April 2015 from L #8% & x T %2 (Shanxi Provincial Coal
Industry Office”) and ILFaEEZ 2 B2 F (Shanxi Administration Bureau
of Coal Mine Safety*), the Supplementary Provisions Notice dated 11 May
2015 from HRXME KX T¥#B (Gujiao Municipality Coal Industry Bureau®)
and the Basic Requirements Notice dated 29 January 2016 from Shanxi
Provincial Coal Industry Office respectively. In order to comply with the
aforesaid relevant notices and requirements by provincial and municipal
regulatory authorities, the Group has established specific project team to
conduct comprehensive checks and improvement works again on our five
suspended mines, especially relevant checks on water and gas prevention
measures. Please refer to Business Review section for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEREN WD

Except for the changes to the mines’ commercial operation schedule B billfiE[E 2 L EREA MEE 2 EHHIN
and coal prices stated above, there has been no change in valuation FALESEBEEBUAR T —NFEF+_-_F=+—H
methodology and only minor changes in discount rate and other Z/(H{E  HEHF AL EES) MEIRE K E M
miscellaneous factors in comparison to previous valuation of Lexing Group  EEEAEMES -BEMBER 2 EESETLEN
dated 31 December 2014. Apart from the delay in commercial operations of ~ (EE NN KRB I A HMEBERBE_ZT—1F
the relevant mines and drop in coal price, the Company is not aware ofany +-A=+—BIrTBREEAETAEMERREA
other significant reason or change in circumstances during the financial year — (AR EE) S EHURERE - LEEER - T—A
ended 31 December 2015 leading to impairment loss. For the key change F+ZA=+—AkKZT—WNF+=_A=+—H
in assumptions and parameters in the valuation of Lexing Group as at 31  Z{EESRZBENLZE 2 T BEEHH T -
December 2015 and 31 December 2014 are set out as below:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
“Z-1% —Z-MmE
+=ZA=+-8 +-A=f+-H
Methodology Income Approach Income Approach Remarks
5E W A& WAE MR
Key Assumptions BERR
1. Production Schedule 1. AERRER
Bolong Mine HERE
Operation Starting Date REAH Second quarter First quarter  Update based on latest
of 2017 of 2016 mines’ commercial
“E-tEHE-F ZT-R"EFE-F operation schedule
RESFBEEEXLE
RERREH
Fuchang Mine BERE
Operation Starting Date KERH Second quarter Third quarter
of 2017 of 2015
—E-tEE-F —T-RFE=F
Jinxin Mine SERE
Operation Starting Date RERH Second quarter Third quarter
of 2017 of 2015
—E-tEHE-F —E-REE=F
Liaoyuan Mine EREE
Operation Starting Date RERH Second quarter First quarter
of 2017 of 2016
“E-tEE-F —E-REEF
Xinfeng Mine BREE
Operation Starting Date REAH Third quarter First quarter
of 2017 of 2016
“Z-tEE=ZF ZE-REE-F
2. Coal Price 2. KB RMB680 RMB800  Drop in prevailing coal price
AR #6807 AR®B00T  ERIEETH
3. Discount Rate (Post-tax) 3. HEE(FHE) 15.84% 15.51%

Note:  As shown in the above table, the primary change in valuation assumption — HizE: N EXRFIR HEBREZIEZLHAEMNEE

would be the drop in prevailing coal price (which is dominant factor for the TH(RHEETRZIZER) RBEHELE
drop in valuation) and delay in mines’ commercial operation schedule. There HHRTEE ZEHEZHERELTEZT 5
was no change in valuation methodology in those valuations. For discount rate, BRIREME - METFHERKETIRETIS2E
calculation of WACC is based on market participant’s data which are varied EHEFE MZSYBEERMEMLTISHES
daily due to new information and changing market expectation every day. RE8mEHEE-
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The summary of impairment loss recognized in respect of mining rights and REE-_ZET—FAF+-A=+—HIFE 53K
property, plant and equipment for year ended 31 December 2015 are set RN E - WENMRECER 2 REEER

out as below. MR o
Property,
Date of acquisition plant and
Mine by the Group Mining right equipment
NE -BER
BE AEEWREBH RiERE B3]
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Bolong Mine 7 June 2013 980,680 111,824
HRERE —E-—=FXAtH
Liaoyuan Mine 7 June 2013 483,352 80,697
BEIRERE —E-—=FXAtH
Xinfeng Mine 7 June 2013 539,544 22,012
BERER —E—=FXAtH
Fuchang Mine 7 June 2013 410,526 96,103
EERER —E—=FXAtH
Jinxin Mine 7 June 2013 300,920 57,796
SHRE —E-—=FXAtH
2,715,022 368,432
The administrative and operating expenses for the year 2015 was —Z— RAF TR RE&LERAL A223,576,0007
approximately HK$223,576,000 (2014: HK$230,452,000) which 70 ( ZZ—PU4F : 230,452,000/ 70 ) * & —_Z—Y
represented a decrease of 3.0% when compared with the year 2014. FFA3.0% °

The finance cost for the year 2015 was approximately HK$371,978,000 —Z— R4 7 @&k A4 A371,978,000/8 T (=
(2014: 477,771,000) which represented an decrease of 22.1% when T —[DH% 477,771,000 T) ' & =T — W F R
compared with the year 2014. The decrease in finance costs was mainly ~ 422.1% - B ER AB L EZ R AR ATARE

due to decrease in effective interests incurred for convertible loan notes. HEBELEZERFERDATE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

FINAL DIVIDEND

Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2015 (2014: nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overview

During the year 2015, the Company has been working diligently towards
(i) exploration of other business; (ii) reduction of debts; (iii) fund raising for
operation of business; and (iv) strive for resumption of the construction
works for the five coal mines located in Shanxi Province, the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) which had been suspended by the PRC

authorities.

Exploration of other business

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 23 March 2015,
the Company intended to purchase 51% equity interest in Great Payment
Limited (the “Proposed Acquisition”) so as to introduce to the Company the
businesses of (i) prepaid card issuance and settlement; (i) Internet payment
and mobile payment services; (i) customised payment services for financial
institutions, asset management companies and Internet companies; and (iv)
other services related to online to offline, credit checking and data mining
businesses. However, as disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 1 June 2015, as the parties anticipated that all the necessary PRC
regulatory approvals would not be granted before the scheduled completion
of the Proposed Acquisition, the parties mutually agreed to terminate
the agreement for the Proposed Acquisition and entered into a deed of
termination to record such termination. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 23 March 2015, 2 April 2015 and 1
June 2015, respectively.

In fourth quarter of 2015, we acquired new information technology
subsidiaries, |78 EZMEERFEAAR A A (Shanxi Guanghui Corporate
Management Consultancy Limited) and T 54 &l B4 fli B R A 7 (Jiang
Xi Jin Chuang Information Technology Limited*), which engaged in sales of
IT products, system integration, software development, technology service

and comprehensive product solution.
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Reduction of debts

During the year 2015, convertible loan notes of the Company in the
aggregate amount of approximately HK$1,744.6 million (comprising USD15
million of 2010 Convertible Loan Notes A, HK$1,593.5 million of 2013
Convertible Loan Notes A, USD3.5 million of 2013 Convertible Loan Notes
B and USD1 million of 2013 Convertible Loan Notes C) were converted
into 683,823,529 shares, 9,373,520,285 shares, 88,064,516 shares and
25,161,290 shares of the Company respectively. The Company had further
reduced the debts of HK$239.3 million by redemption of convertible bonds,
promissory notes and repayments of debts in year of 2015. Due to the
conversion of convertible bonds and settlement of debts, the debt burden
of the Company has been lightened and the future interest expenses would

be lessened.

Fund raising for operation of business

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 9 April 2015
and 17 April 2015, the Company entered into a placing and underwriting
agreement with an underwriter and completed the allotment and issue of
472,205,000 shares to not less than six placees, who and whose ultimate
beneficial owners are independent third parties, at the placing price of
HK$0.18 per share pursuant to the terms and conditions of the placing
and underwriting agreement. The closing price per share on 8 April 2015,
being the last trading date prior to the entering of placing and underwriting
agreement was HK$0.189 per share. Net proceeds from the placing are
approximately HK$83.8 million and have been used for general working
capital of the Group (including settlement of interest expense and reduction

of debts) as intended.

Also, as disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 26
June 2015 and 16 July 2015, the Company entered into another placing
agreement with a placing agent and completed on 16 July 2015 the
allotment and issue of 1,762,300,000 shares to not less than six placees,
who and whose ultimate beneficial owners are independent third party,
at the placing price of HK$0.145 per share. The closing price per share
on 26 June 2015, being the last trading date prior to the entering into of
the placing agreement, was HK$0.174 per share. Net proceeds from the
placing are approximately HK$252.9 million. The net proceeds from the
placing have been used for general working capital (including settlement of
interest expenses and reduction of debts) and/or for future investments of
the Group as intended.

RZT—RF  NAEI4ETHI1,744,600,0007% 7T
Z AR ERER (87515,000,000E T2 A=
Z-TFAMBRERER - 1,593,500,000/7% 7T 2
AR —_Z—=FaRKREFRFER  3,500,000% T
2B T —=Fr R EREEK&1,000,000%
TZCE_ZE-—ZFUHRRERER)EH AR
AR 7] 2683,828,520% i 17 + 9,373,520,285
M A% 19 - 88,064,516[% A% 19 125,161,290 A% 15 ©
RZZE—AFE AARBEBERTRRKRES
AR RERERER & —FEE239,300,0007
TLo BERERAIMRES REEES  NAFIEN
MEBHEE BEAEAIBAEMRRLD -

i

REBEERER

WAL A AT —RAFNAALAR-ZE
—RFFMA+ERAZAMAEE AAFR—F
AR LB E B  WIRERA S R B H
ek 2 R R AR T A A DR R B AL A (1R
ERBEZBRERBEEBEATABIE=7)E
3% [2 3577472,205,00008 88 17 © FL & B AR K5
018 MO R =T —RAFMANEB (AE]
&R e HEHEN &E—EXSAE) 2K
BARER.189B T -BLEFEMBERIEFENA
83,800,000/ 7T ER#TE R iEAIEAEE 2 —
REEES (BEINMEMEZ RHE)

AN A AR BHAZE—RAFE A+
BR-ZZE-—RAFEA+BZAGHER A2
AE-FEERET LS —HEEHE W=
T-RAFtA+RBRERATDRANEBEEA
(BERBEZERERBEBEAYGARBIE=7)
i 7% N %£171,762,300,0000% I 17 Bl & B A E
B&170.145%8 T - ROV T —HFENAZ+H
(BIFT R EHEAz e —ERXSBEH) 2Wm
BERETR0A7T4EIT - EESEMBRBFENR
252,900,000/ 7T © Bt & HIH AT FUEFRE 2 12 HE
ER% AEAEE L —REEES (BEXAF
BHYERE) R/ SKAREAEERERE -
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As disclosed in announcements dated 3 December 2015 and 15
January 2016 and circular dated 31 December 2015 and supplemental
circular dated 20 January 2016 of the Company, the Company entered
into the placing agreement dated 3 December 2015 (as amended and
supplemented by a supplemental placing agreement dated 23 December
2015 and supplemental placing letter dated 15 January 2016) with a placing
agent pursuant to which the placing agent, as agent of the Company,
agrees to procure on a best effort basis not less than six placees, who will
be independent third party, to subscribe for the placing shares, being up-to
38,000,000,000 shares at the placing price of HK$0.01 per placing share.
The closing price per share on 27 November 2015, being the last trading
date prior to the entering into of the placing agreement, was HK$0.061. The
placing was completed on 18 March 2016 and the allotment and issue of
38,000,000,000 shares to more than six placees, who and whose ultimate
beneficial owners are independent third party, at the price of HK$0.01.
Net proceeds from the placing are approximately HK$374.8 million. The
net proceeds of HK$364.0 million from the placing are used to redeem
the 2016 Convertible Bonds due to mature on 23 June 2016 and the
2016 Promissory Notes due to mature on 23 June 2016 and 2 July 2016
respectively and settle the related interest expenses of the Group. The
balance of the net proceeds from the Placing of approximately HK$10.8
million are intended to be used for general working capital of the Group.

Strive for resumption of the construction works for the five
coal mines

The Group had established project teams and procured more equipment
for tackling the soakaway pit during the year 2015. After implementation
of the rectification measures and inspection of the implementation of
the rectification measures by the relevant authorities, the Group shall be
entitled to apply for the resumption of construction and development
works of the Group’s mining sites located in Shanxi Province from the
relevant authorities. However, as further notices for requiring a higher
safety standard were received from the related government authorities, the
schedules of the improvement works and operation of the respective mines

are expected to be further delayed.

Details are stated in the Coal Mining section below.
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Coal Mining

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 27 January
2015, Gujiao Municipality Coal Industry Bureau issued a notification to the
Group in connection with suspension of construction and development
works and rectification scheme. Also, as disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 27 May 2015, the Group received (FERFHE
PEBRBLTE2EERNBERNBA) (Notification of Commencement of
Comprehensive Checks for Safe Coal Production in Shanxi Province*,
the Safe Production Checks Notice”) dated 30 April 2015 from Shanxi
Provincial Coal Industry Office and Shanxi Administration Bureau of Coal
Mine Safety and {EIRHE — 25 I B BERT VA /K # 78R E &Y E1) (Notice of
Supplementary Provisions for Additional Efforts on Prevention of Coal Mine
Flooding*, the “Supplementary Provisions Notice”) dated 11 May 2015 from
Gujiao Municipality Coal Industry Bureau respectively. The Supplementary
Provisions Notice, stipulates the requirement for further implementation
of prevention measures against coal mine flooding in Gujiao Municipality.
The Safe Production Checks Notice requires specific checks on coal
mine flooding and gas leakage, electrical and mechanical systems and
construction procedures. According to the requirement of these notices, the
Group has established a specific project team responsible for self-check
and self-rectification, the rectification planning and the implementation of
the rectification measures. During the year, the Group has implemented
rectification scheme on further exploration work on the hydrological and
geological conditions, staff training, construction team management and
emergency team management required by Gujiao Municipality Coal Industry
Bureau. Also, the checks and rectification measures required by the notices
on electrical and mechanical systems and construction procedures are
basically completed. The implementation on the checks and rectification
measures required by the notices for coal mine flooding and gas prevention
of our five mines are still in progress. On 29 January 2016, Shanxi Provincial
Coal Industry Office issued (L 7EE HIE1EEEEBRUKERKLHE
41) (Notification of Basic Requirements on Inspection for Resumption
of Production and Construction for Coal Mine in Shanxi Province®), (the
“Basic Requirements Notice”). The Basic Requirements Notice provided
further requirements by relevant authority in inspection of resumption of
production and construction. Our specific project team is now following up
with the relevant authority from Taiyuan Municipality and Gujiao Municipality
on further detailed execution requirements. The management of the
Group estimated that the checks and rectification measures required by
the notices are expected to be completed in the middle of 2016. After
the completion of rectification measures required by the notices, we shall

be entitled to apply for inspection on rectification measures to relevant

15 ix B R
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authorities. After inspection by relevant authorities on rectification measures,  PIEEEE &5 R B EIE i - £ BB EFIE B HB W
we shall be entitled to apply for resumption of the construction and  EEEEEE  AEBEB T HEBREENSER 2
development works of our mines. HEIRAZEIE.

Due to the uncertainty on timing of completion of rectification measures and ~ FEUB ¥ i 5 Ak &2 B 8 S0 P94 & B W B UB 45 it 2 B
inspection on rectification measures by relevant authorities, under the best IR T  KALEEETEESE G SBER Y
estimation of the management of the Group, the schedule of the respective ~ B &R & 50T :

mines are set out below:

Expected Expected
completion date of date of the
the reconstruction commencement

and improvement of commercial

works operation

EERBEIRZ REHBXEEZ

A TR B mEES

Liaoyuen Mine FRER 31 January 2017 31 May 2017

“F—t4-A=+—8 —F—tFHA=+—A

Jinxin Mine (Note) SHBER (&) 31 December 2016 30 April 2017
“E-RFt+-A=t+-—H8H Z—E—tFNA=+H

Xinfeng Mine BERER 28 February 2017 30 June 2017
“E—tH-A-+NB —ZE—tFXA=TH

Bolong Mine HEER 31 January 2017 31 May 2017
—F—+%-F=t-0 —E—+FRAA=1+—F

Fuchang Mine (Note) EEERE (M) 31 December 2016 30 April 2017
“E-XF+ZA=+—H ZZE—+tFWA=+H

Note: In order to comply with the new additional safety requirement imposed by the — MizE: A TR BEE R M T REE BP9 MHETT 2 FiE

relevant PRC provincial and municipal regulatory authorities, the Group has to ZEHTE AEBEAUHETRERRNEIRZ
conduct further improvement works on Jinxin Mine and Fuchang Mine which CERRREEBREETHIIMETIR -Et- B
have already completed the reconstruction and improvement works. Therefore, ENMEETRERREREMAEELEE 2TEFTA B

expected dates of commencement of commercial operation of the relevant mines
have been re-scheduled.
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The Board will continue to use its best endeavours to satisfy the conditions
set forth by the relevant PRC authorities with an aim to resuming the
construction and development work of the Group’s mining sites located in
Shanxi Province as soon as possible. We will keep Shareholders updated
for the development as and when appropriate. Summary of expenditure
incurred for the year ended 31 December 2015 for the mines’ development

and improvement works are set out below:

EESREBRRASNIUFTATREAMBIIR
HZ G UERIREREBGZN LTS NZE
BZETRAETE AEEHRNEERBEN
EReEFER BREAELNETRREBEE_F
—hAFET A=t HULEFEELAZHAXHEN
FIET

Mines

®E
Expenditures Liaoyuen Jinxin Xinfeng Bolong Fuchang
(HK$ in million) Mine Mine Mine Mine Mine
B (EEBERT) BEREE <SEBRE ZBREE HEBRE BEERE
Exploration RS 8.9 - - 0.1 -
Construction B3 6.7 - - 1.3 6.3
Equipment and installation BB R - - - 1.2 18.5
Total wat 15.6 - - 2.6 24.8

Note: Due to the suspension on construction and developments of the mines,
examination, acceptance and related clearance on basically completed
reconstruction and improvement works prior to year 2014 were gradually
performed in current year.

For the details of historical development activities of our five mines and their

latest status, please refer to our 2014 Annual Report.

Resources and Reserves of Mines

The mines and projects owned by the Group have significant coal reserves
and resources under the JORC Code. According to the Competent
Person’s Report from John T. Boyd Company disclosed in the circular of
the Company dated 25 March 2013, as of 21 November 2012, the total
aggregate proved and probable recoverable reserves of coal in Liaoyuan
mine was approximately 7.91 Mt, the total aggregate proved and probable
recoverable reserves of coal in Jinxin mine was approximately 3.55 Mt, the
total aggregate proved and probable recoverable reserves of coal in Xinfeng
mine was approximately 7.41 Mt, the total aggregate proved and probable
recoverable reserves of coal in Bolong mine was approximately 22.04 Mt
and the total aggregate proved and probable recoverable reserves of coal in

Fuchang mine was approximately 5.68 Mt.

The Group estimated resources and reserves as of 31 December 2015
were the same as that as at 21 November 2012 because the commercial

operation of all five mines had not been commenced.

fiex: R ERETRBEEL oK T —HFa
BEATKZERZRBETENERTIRERERT
BEEEAFEZTET-

fREARELERERBE ZAZESH REHBER
ZHE BEHAREZ T -NEFR-

BFRBECERERFE
REEPHA 2 B2 &IEEB REBEJORCHRAIG S -
REERARELE - BEABTHEEARLEAZ
SEBALTRE (RARFBRHPR-_Z—==
H_‘T‘ﬁElZLlilqjﬁﬁ)'ﬁ/\‘_?—_fF‘f'—ﬂ
Z+—H - ERERR 2T R AT 48
EHATINEEW SERRE 2EFE LKA
HRHEELNISEEN SRBERECEFER
PRSP U Bl R E HA7. 41 B BN HRERRE
BE NGBS P U B 4R B 2 £ 4022.04 B B

BERRER 2 FE RLE A Y0 485K % 2 £ 45.68
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‘hAER s BmxLE2BRARE ~%E
BHHE_T—RAFTA=T—RAZEEZR
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JORC Mineral Resources and Reserves as of 31 December 2015: HE-_Z-—HAF+-_A=1+—HZJORCERESE
RERFEE
MINING RIGHT AREAS
RREE
In-Place Resource (Mt) Recoverable Reserves (Mt) Marketable Reserves (Mt)
BUERE (FEM) TREE (FER) TERE (FEW)
Processing % of
Mine Measured  Indicated Inferred Total Proved  Probable Total Yield % Proved  Probable Total  Reserves
nT
BE by 24 bid @z 28 e @zt El&S 28 e @zt g
(%) (%)
Within Authorized Mining Elevation
BHRERFSEEENR
Bolong 18.58 19.27 - 37.85 11.09 10.25 21.34 93 10.27 9.54 19.81 45
fick:
Fuchang 8.10 2.31 - 10.41 4.62 1.06 5.68 92 4.23 0.99 5.22 12
e
Jinxin 1.38 2.28 - 3.66 0.78 1.02 1.80 94 0.72 0.98 1.70 4
28
Liaoyuan 8.97 6.52 2.53 18.02 4.42 3.49 7.91 94 414 3.30 7.44 17
Xinfeng 6.39 6.59 - 12.98 4.09 3.32 741 93 3.79 3.07 6.86 16
2k
Total 43.42 36.97 2.53 82.92 25.00 19.14 4414 2315 17.88 41.03 94
@it
Outside Authorized Mining Elevation
BHERRSEEENN
Bolong 0.59 0.66 - 1.25 0.36 0.34 0.70 94 0.34 0.32 0.66 2
fick
Jinxin 0.59 2.64 0.45 3.68 0.33 1.42 1.75 95 0.33 1.34 1.67 4
&2
Total 1.18 3.30 0.45 493 0.69 1.76 245 0.67 1.66 2.33 6
@5t
Total
st
Bolong 19.17 19.93 - 39.10 11.45 10.59 22.04 93 10.61 9.86 20.47 47
fidH
Fuchang 8.10 2.31 - 10.41 4.62 1.06 5.68 92 4.23 0.99 5.22 12
=
Jinxin 1.97 4.92 0.45 7.34 1.1 2.44 3.55 95 1.05 2.32 3.37 8
t&
Liaoyuan 8.97 6.52 2.53 18.02 4.42 3.49 7.91 94 4.14 3.30 7.44 17
Xinfeng 6.39 6.59 - 12.98 4.09 332 7.41 93 3.79 3.07 6.86 16
i
Total 44.60 40.27 2.98 87.85 25.69 20.90 46.59 23.82 19.54 43.36 100
@5t
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The reserves and resources table was compiled by the technical advisors

from J T Boyd. Their identities and qualifications are:

Mr. Ronald L. Lewis — Chief Operating Officer and Managing
Director, BS (Civil Engineering)

Mr. Lewis has over 40 years of experience in assessment and evaluation
of coal mining companies, with specialized expertise in the areas of coal/
mineral reserve estimation, opencut and underground mine analysis,
and economic assessment of mining operations. He is a Registered
Professional Mining Engineer within the United States and a recognized
expert in mining property valuation. Mr. Lewis is a Registered Member of the
Society for Mining, Metallurgy, and Exploration, Inc., and is qualified as a
Competent Person as defined in the JORC Code. Mr. Lewis accepts overall
responsibility for the CPR and he is independent as required by Rule 18.22
of the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Mr. Dehui (David) Zhong — Managing Director — China, BS (Mining
Engineering)

Mr. Zhong has over 40 years of experience in the mining industry, primarily
in coal mine design at the Beijing Coal Design and Research Institute. He
last served as the institute’s Chief Engineer.

Mr. James F. Kvitkovich — Vice President, BS (Mining Engineering)

Mr. Kvitkovich has 30 years of experience in assessment and evaluation
of underground coal mining operations throughout the world. He is a
Registered Professional Engineer within the United States and is highly
experienced with regard to reviewing and evaluating CM and LW mining
operations. Mr. Kvitkovich is a Registered Member of the Society for Mining,
Metallurgy, and Exploration, Inc., and is a Competent Person as defined
in the JORC Code. Mr. Kvitkovich is a co-author of this CPR and he is
independent as required by Rule 18.22 of the Listing Rules.

FERERERIDBITERZRIMBERGR &
EZ2 5 RERBIIMT

Ronald L. Lewis’t 4 — &£ ERETE SR
K EEEL (EATRE)

Lewisst A EHETE A 7514 & (G E TE@40F -
BEEER /T BEKSELHE BRARTES NI
MR BT GEH 2 EMIANE - K AEE
AMEXHBEIRMEATHBEDEGHESER -
LewisE £ AFRE e kEpeafes I
RJORCH AIFT A E 2 & A AT o Lewisst 7k
BEBRAERATREZEEER WABEHE
REMBRAR ([BR])FSH MR (L
MHA]) EB18. 221k E 2 B AL~

BEELE-EEREE-—hE 22
2+ (KEIR)
EEENRBERWBIOFER ETEELTE
PR B IE B 4 AR AR AT T AE (R R BA SR AT B
A L8 T 24T -

James F. Kvitkovich 5= — BI42 %, - BB E
T+ (KEITRE)

Kvitkovich %t 4 4 S 3t T BRI 1E 2E 574k e (b (B T1E
HI0F - R ZESE R RS - 1 AEREM
HETRR - EFE KA E R R RERE
EZRBIEE T EBAHRE S 2 45 o Kvitkovich
EERKBE - RekMEHheales 1A
JORCH BIFT R TE 2 & B & A I ° Kvitkovichst &
REBERATREZEZEE WA LETHAAE
18.22(FFIMEZBILANL -

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 2015 F F




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREN WD

Mr. Paul D. Anderson — Director of Geological Services, BS (Geology)

Mr. Anderson is a Certified Professional Geologist (AIPG) with 36 years of
professional experience in exploration, evaluation, and development of coal
and mineral deposits. Mr. Anderson is a Registered Member of the Society
for Mining, Metallurgy, and Exploration, Inc., and a member of the American
Institute of Professional Geologists, and is qualified as a Competent Person
as defined in the JORC Code. Mr. Anderson is a co-author of this CPR and
he is independent as required by Rule 18.22 of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Jisheng (Jason) Han — Mining Consultant, MS (Mining Engineering)

Mr. Han has 16 years of mining industry experience in both China and the
United States with extensive background in evaluation of underground
mines in China. His technical specialty is geotechnical assessments of
underground openings. Mr. Han is a Registered Member of the Society for
Mining, Metallurgy, and Exploration, Inc., and is a Competent Person as
defined in the JORC Code. Mr. Han is a co-author of this CPR and he is
independent as required by Rule 18.22 of the Listing Rules.

System Integration Services and Software Solutions

The turnover and gross profit margin for the year 2015 increased in
comparison to the year 2014 mainly due to the increase in revenue from
rendering of computer technology services. However, the cost of sales
also decreased mainly due to the decrease in sales of ATMs. Loss for the
year was increased mainly due to impairment loss recognised in respect
of goodwill. In the year 2015, the PRC economic slowdown caused the
suppression in demand for ATMs by banking industry. Furthermore, the
keen competition from local manufactures of ATMs also affected our result
of the year. During the year, we continuously maintained costs and provided
high quality maintenance services to our clients in order to increase their
loyalty. Our system integration services and software solutions business
continues to develop by providing installation and maintenance services to
PRC post offices and the cooperation with a US manufacturer of postage
machines. In current year, we successful obtained orders from postage

offices for our maintenance services on postage machines.

In the fourth quarter of 2015, we acquired wholly-owned information
technology subsidiaries, Shanxi Guanghui Corporate Management
Consultancy Limited and Jiang Xi Jin Chuang Information Technology
Limited, which engaged in sales of IT products, system integration, software
development, technology service and comprehensive product solution.
During the year, the new subsidiary contributes revenue of HK$4,184,000 to

our Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmE D

In the 2016, we will (i) promote our products and services to our existing
and new clients to increase our sales, (i) keep enhancing our internal
control, (iii) strive to control costs; and (iv) strictly control expenses.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to maintaining
the highest environmental and social standards to ensure sustainable
development of its business. The Group has complied with all relevant
laws and regulations in relation to its business including health and safety,
workplace conditions, employment and the environment. The Group
understands a better future depends on everyone’s participation and
contribution. It has encouraged employees, customers, suppliers and other
stakeholders to participate in environmental and social activities which
benefit the community as a whole. The Group maintains strong relationships
with its employees, has enhanced cooperation with its suppliers and has
provided high quality products and services to its customers so as to

ensure sustainable development.

OUTLOOK

The PRC economy is in the process of transformation and the impact of
information technology is particularly notable on economic development.
After promulgation of the “Internet+” action plan at the beginning of the
year 2015, the State Council further issued the Guidance Opinions on
“Internet+” Actions in July 2015, which proposed a specific scope that
required in-depth integration between information technology, represented
by “Internet+”, and various economic and social sectors in order to
promote technological advancement, enhance innovative capabilities and
productivity of the actual economy and aimed to establish an initial new
form of “Internet+” economy by the year 2025. Under this policy direction,
the information technology industry is facing enormous development
opportunities. With the macro development trend of “Internet+”, the Group
will continue to strengthen our system integration services and software
solutions business in order to enhance our competitiveness and further
explore opportunities for expansion of our products and services chain in

preparation for greater room for growth in the future.

The Company will continue monitoring the progress of the resumption of
construction work of the coal mines in Shanxi Province, the PRC, in order to

meet the expected timetable.

Also, the Group will continue to identify suitable investments, acquisitions
and project opportunities in order to enhance the value of the Company and

to create higher returns for shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Net Assets

As at 31 December 2015, the Group recorded total assets of approximately
HK$9,221,849,000 (2014: HK$12,875,722,000), which financed by total
liabilities of approximately HK$8,614,188,000 (2014: HK$11,335,879,000)
and total equity of approximately HK$607,661,000 (2014:
HK$1,539,843,000). The Group’s net assets value as at 31 December
2015 was decreased by 60.5% to HK$607,661,000 as compared to
approximately HK$1,539,843,000 as at 31 December 2014.

Gearing

As at 31 December 2015, the Group gearing ratio computed as the Group’s
other borrowings, promissory notes and liabilities component of convertible
loan notes over the total equity was approximately 2.50 as compared to
approximately 1.89 as at 31 December 2014.

Liquidity

The Group had total cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$34,461,000 as at 31 December 2015 (2014: HK$40,632,000). The
Group did not have any bank borrowings for both years.

Based on the working capital forecast prepared by the management with
reference to the Group’s current business plans and the financial support
by Shanxi Coal Transportation and Sales Group Co., Ltd., the management
considers that the Company will be able to finance its working capital
requirement.

Funding raising activities — Placing

As mentioned in the section of Business Review, the Company entered into
a placing and underwriting agreement with the underwriter on 9 April 2015
and completed to allot and issue all 472,205,000 shares at the placing price
of HK$0.18 per placing share on 17 April 2015. The net proceeds from the
placing are approximately HK$83.8 million and have been used for general
working capital (including settlement of interest expense and reduction of
debts) as intended. The summary of use of proceeds from the placing is set
out as below:

Net proceeds from the placing e EBEMEREF

Less: Settlement of interest B AR
Reduction of debt RAE
Operating expenses e

#

RBESRMEER

EEFE
R-ZE—HF+-_BA=+—H AEHE
E#EHAE9,221,849,0008 T (22 —MN
F£:12,875,722,0008 L) B BAE
4 %8 498,614,188,000/8 7t (=T — 0 4 :
11,335,879,000/% 7. ) K # 7 42 %8 #41607,661,000
T (ZZ — P4 1,539,843,000/%8 7T ) T & AT
B-AEE-_T—RF+-_A=+—BZEBEF
B4 /607,661,000 T B2 —MF+=A
=+—H#1,539,843,000/ 7T 8 460.5% °

BEEREKYF
R-ZF-RF+-A=+—0 FREzEEAH
PRRA I RS E A B R AR
REH 2 BEDHRIERBIELE 05250
MR=F—mE+=A=+—BAIKA1.80°

RBES

R-ZE—RAF+-_A=+—H AEERE LR
1THE B8 4B R 40 /534,461,00058 7T ( — T — PO 4F
40,632,000/ 7T ) © 7~ 5 B A M 8 5 5 19 EAE (4R
TiEE-

ENERES EAEERE LB BRI ERR
BHEBMARA R B E AL 48
EeEN ERERARANGENARELS
BREA -

RETH-BE

WINEFEBE— AT ARARR =T —AFMA
NBHEBEEEIEERBHERE YR =T —h
FIY A4+ B KB # K& B 1T 2 #0472,205,000
BAZ 5 - REEATRE S R7H0.18E L ELES
T8 AT 18 308 F B2 49 583,800,000 7T ' BRI E
AR REEE (BREINFEAI KA
&) EEEFEMERBABRBAIT :

HK$ in million
BEET

83.8
(23.7)
(39.5)
(20.6)

Balance as at 31 December 2015

RZZB-—RAF+-A=+—HZHER -
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As mentioned in the section of Business Review, the Company entered
into another placing agreement with a placing agent and completed on 16
July 2015 the allotment and issue of 1,762,300,000 shares at the placing
price of HK$0.145 per share. The net proceeds from the placing are
approximately HK$252.9 million and have been used for general working
capital (including settlement of interest expenses and reduction of debts)
and/or for future investments of the Group as intended. The summary of use

of proceeds from the placing is set out as below:

WA B —E AT AR R B — R SRR
S —HEERH YR =_T—AFLATX
B 72k Bc 2% & 3£171,762,300,0000 B 17 - B & (&
REROI4ASE T -IEEBHEMERIBFENR
252,900,000 7T EiREBEHREBE—REEE
& (BEINFERAIERE) R SARAEE
HEeERE - REFEMESHREBREBBFMRAT

HK$ in million

BEETT

Net proceeds from the placing BlEEBEMERBFE 252.9
Less: Settlement of interest A RE (14.8)
Reduction of debt BE (203.3)
Investment wEaE (2.4)
Operating expenses KERX (21.2)
Balance as at 31 December 2015 RZEBE—RF+_A=+—HZ&E% 11.2

For details, please refer to Business Review section.

Charge on assets

As at 31 December 2015, a share charge has been created over entire
issued shares of Topasia Computer Limited, a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company to the Lender. For details of Supplemental Loan Agreement,
the Share Charge and the Capitalisation Agreement, please refer to the

announcement dated 13 July 2015.

There was no asset pledged as at 31 December 2014.

Treasury Policies

The Group generally finance it operations with internally generated
resources, from equity and/or debt financial activities. All financing methods
will be considered so long as such methods are beneficial to shareholders
as a whole. Subsidiaries in the PRC use internally generated resources
to finance their working capital requirements. Bank deposits are mainly
in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”), Renminbi (“RMB”) and United States dollar
("US$").
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

il

Contingent Liabilities and Capital Commitments
The Group had no material contingent liability as at 31 December 2015
(2014 nil).

EEENWED

The Group has capital commitments for the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment which were contracted but not provided for
as at 31 December 2015 of approximately HK$328,555,000 (2014:
HK$315,925,000).

Foreign Exchange Exposure

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group mainly earns revenue in
HK$, RMB and incurred costs in HK$, RMB and US$. Although, the Group
currently does not have any foreign currency hedging policies, it does not
foresee any significant currency exposure in the near future. However, any
permanent or significant changes in RMB against HK$, may have possible

impact on the Group’s results and financial positions.

Employee and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2015, the Group employed approximately 1,012 (2014:
891) full time staff in the PRC and Hong Kong. The Group remunerates
its employees based on their performance, working experience and the
prevailing market price. Other employee benefits include mandatory

provident fund, insurance and medical coverage and training programs.

Subsequent events

As disclosed in announcements dated 3 December 2015 and 15
January 2016 and circular dated 31 December 2015 and supplemental
circular dated 20 January 2016 of the Company, the Company entered
into the placing agreement dated 3 December 2015 (as amended and
supplemented by a supplemental placing agreement dated 23 December
2015 and supplemental placing letter dated 15 January 2016) with the
placing agent pursuant to which the placing agent, as agent of the
Company, agrees to procure on a best effort basis not less than six placees,
who will be independent third party, to subscribe for the placing shares,
being up to 38,000,000,000 shares at the placing price of HK$0.01 per
placing share. The Placing was completed on 18 March 2016 and the
allotment and issue of 38,000,000,000 shares to more than six placees,

who and whose ultimate beneficial owners are independent third party.

Please refer to Business Review section for details.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ESEWRE

The board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased to present
their report and the audited financial statements of the Company and its

subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group’s
principal business activities during the year were principally involved in the
sales of information technology products, system integration, software
development, technology service and comprehensive product solution and
geological survey, exploration and development of coal, sales of coking coal
and coal trading. Details of the material activities of the Group’s principal

subsidiaries are set out in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors of the Company, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital as required under the Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 31 December 2015 and as at the date of this report.

RESULTS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2015 and the state
of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are set out in the

consolidated financial statements on pages 59 to 188.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the published results and the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group, prepared on the basis set out in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements. This summary does not

form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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RESULTS ES
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
~®-1f -F-mF  Z%-=F ZF-ZfF ZF—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThEx TAT ThET TR TR
TURNOVER ExE 63,923 106,246 129,737 86,147 73,497
LOSS BEFORE TAX BREAER (4,450,916)  (1,100,171)  (4,203,178) (114,044) (946,740)
TAX BE 678,184 177,040 56,980 (320) 81,350

LOSS BEFORE NON-CONTROLLING Rt FEZEREZAIEE

INTERESTS (3,772,732) (923,131)  (4,146,198) (114,364) (865,390)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS FERES 1,399,451 470,623 198,238 632 74
NET LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO REEGTER

SHAREHOLDERS (2,373,281) (452,508)  (3,947,960) (113,732) (865,316)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS ¥ E SERFZERES

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
“E2-1%f CT-QmE CT-=f _"B--% C"ET——%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHR FAR FAR FhRT FhR
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE 9,080,025 12,739,018 12,826,791 567,343 578,548
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE 141,824 136,704 275,091 82,076 136,137
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE (4,607,195)  (4,043,871) (3,063,712 (359,906) (310,517)
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) ASSETS ~ #iB (B BEFE (4,465,371)  (3,907,167)  (2,788,621) (277,830) (174,380)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEAERARDARE

LIABILITIES 4,614,654 8,831,851 10,038,170 289,513 404,168
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEME (4,006,993)  (7,292,008)  (8,349,934) (40,756) (40,756)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS FERER (2,945,506)  (4,531,259)  (4,900,904) 2 (399)
(2,337,845)  (2,991,416)  (3,212,668) 248,759 363,013

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT B R &E

Details of movements in the plant and equipment of the Company and ARG RAEEZHERBEHERFERNZ ZBFIE
of the Group during the year are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated — FHR4RA B SR KM 5E16 -
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS IR K B AR

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the year ARAFIEARERENERN 2 S EEREE)
and share options together with the reasons for such movements, are  RE S BIEH R4 E B SRR M 328 %39 ©

set out in Notes 28 and 39, respectively, to the consolidated financial

statements.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 40(b) to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page
63, respectively.

DISTRIBUTION RESERVES

At 31 December 2015, the Company had no retained profits available
for cash distribution or distribution in specie. Subject to the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Act”), the Company’s contributed surplus of
approximately HK$458,561,000 is distributable. The contributed surplus
and the Company’s share premium account following a reduction thereof in
compliance with the Act and the approval of Shareholders of the Company,
in the amount of approximately HK$7,973,656,000 at 31 December 2015,
may be set off against the accumulated losses of the Company. Thereafter,
any balance in the share premium account of the Company may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
byelaws (the “Bye-laws”) or the laws of Bermuda, the jurisdiction in which
the Company is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new

shares on a pro rata basis to its existing shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws provides that the Directors shall be indemnified out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them shall
or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their

respective offices or trusts.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance
which provides appropriate cover for the Directors and directors of the

subsidiaries of the Group

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or

sold any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s largest customer accounted to approximately 17.0%
of the Group’s total sales in 2015. Sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 45.6% of the Group’s total sales in
2015.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 25.1% of
the total purchases for in 2015 and purchases from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to 14.9% of the Group’s total purchases for the

year.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or any of the substantial
shareholders of the Company (which are disclosed to the Directors) had any

beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year of 2015 and up to the date of

this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo (Chairman)

Mr. Huang Boqi (Deputy Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Tse Michael Nam (resigned on 30 November 2015)

Mr. Chen Liang (appointed on 1 May 2015 and
resigned on 2 June 2015)

Ms. Liu Rong-Rong (appointed on 1 May 2015 and
resigned on 2 June 2015)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Zou Chengjian

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Leung Yin Fai

Mr. Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph GBS, JP
Mr. Zhou Chunsheng

In accordance with Bye-law 111(A) and 115 and the code provisions set out
in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) under in Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules, Mr. Zhang Sanhuo, Mr. Huang Bogi, Mr. Zou Chengjian,
Ms. Leung Yin Fai, Mr. Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph and Mr. Zhou
Chunsheng will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
Being eligible, all of the retiring directors will offer themselves for re-election

as Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the current Directors and of the senior management
of the Group (the “Management”) are set out on pages 4 to 8 of this Annual
Report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the

Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”),
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”), were as follows:

Long/Short position in the shares

Name of Directors Nature of interest

Y] BEEME

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo Nete'
25 = 15 45 4 M

Beneficial owner

EnBEAA

Beneficial owner

ERBEAA

Beneficial owner
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Huang Bogji Noe2
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Zou Chengijian Netes Beneficial owner
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Approximate
percentage of
issued share

capital as at

No. of shares held Position 31 December 2015
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8,676,445,436 Long 41.99%
e

4,107,500,000 Short 19.88%
wKE

160,000,000 Long 0.77%
TE

10,000,000 Long 0.05%
e
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the Company entitling her to subscribe for 10,000,000 shares at a subscription
price of HK$0.15 per share.
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Approximate
percentage of
issued share

capital as at
Name of Directors Nature of interest No. of shares held Position 31 December 2015
ER=-ZE-H1F+=A
=t+—-HZE®T
ESnE ERtE sl B 8E kR BRABNBEDE
Leung Yin Fai Nete 4 Beneficial owner 10,000,000 Long 0.05%
PR 1 i EnBAA HE
Leung Po Wing Bowen Joseph Metes Beneficial owner 10,000,000 Long 0.05%
RELMES EnEEA HE
Zhou Chunsheng Mete 6 Beneficial owner 10,000,000 Long 0.05%
A s HEBAEA A
Note: FsE:
These shares are held by (i) China OEPC Limited (“‘China OEPC”) which is 1. ZERM AT EER (FB)ERER QA
beneficially owned by Best Growth Enterprises Limited (‘Best Growth”) and Mr. ([ EER])#H A Mz a Al fBBest Growth
Zhang Sanhuo (“Mr. Zhang”) is the ultimate beneficial owner; (i) Ms. Hao Ting Enterprises Limited ([Best Growth ] )z A &
for the amount of HK$15,000,000 convertible bonds, which are convertible into REZEEE([REE])AREERBER A (i)
88,235,294 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the Company; and & 2z + 515,000,000/ 7t 2 Al A E 5 (AI R A
(iiiy Mr. Zhang, an Executive Director and Chairman of the Board of the Company, 88,235,2948 7K X AR AN R B AR EI{E0.01 B T 2 &
as share options of the Company which entitling him to subscribe for 16,000,000 B R(NVRITEERARRESTSEREREE
shares at a subscription price of HK$0.15 per share. AR A B AR HE (B TR E R rl RS R0.158 T2
R HEE R H16,000,00008 f% 17 ) FE NH F ©
Therefore, by virtue of the SFO, Mr. Zhang Sanhuo was deemed to be interested I BREEFRBEGRI R=ELEHRAR
in all the shares held by China OEPC and was deemed to be interested in all the PEEERA T ERG PR ER - AR A
shares held by his spouse as family interests. RGN RAREAAFRBE 2 EROPHEE
Mr. Huang Bogi, an Executive Director (Deputy Chairman & Chief Executive Officer), 2. #iTE S = AR EAE (BIXEMTHRAR) HEAA
held share options of the Company entiting him to subscribe for 160,000,000 AIERE BT EEFIRER015BITZREE
shares at a subscription price of HK$0.15 per share. 52 f#%160,000,0008% B 17 ©
Mr. Zou Chengjian, a non-Executive Director, held share options of the Company 3. JFEHTESFABEAFARQBERE BT ®
entitling him to subscribe for 10,000,000 shares at a subscription price of HK$0.15 1 F 7] 42 § 1%0.1578 7T 2 R B8 (E 52 #%10,000,000%
per share. A& 15 o
Ms. Leung Yin Fai, an independent non-Executive Director, held share options of 4. BUIEITESRHBELTHBEAARBRE BT

1% 1 FI| 7] 42 B 1%0.1578 7T 2 7R85 (B 58 §10,000,000
RR AR ©
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5. Mr Leung Po Wing Bowen Joseph, an Independent non-Executive Director, held
share options of the Company entitling him to subscribe for 10,000,000 shares at a
subscription price of HK$0.15 per share.

6.  Mr. Zhou Chunsheng, an Independent non-Executive Director, held share options
of the Company entitling him to subscribe for 10,000,000 shares at a subscription
price of HK$0.15 per share.

In addition to the above, as at 31 December 2015, certain Directors have
non-beneficial personal equity interests in certain subsidiaries held for
the benefit of the Company solely for the purpose of complying with the

minimum company membership requirements.

Except as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, neither the Chief
Executive Officer nor any of the Directors of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
(i) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein; or (i) which were required to be notified to

the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Except as disclosed above and in Note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in the Company granted to any of the
Directors or their respective spouses or children under 18 years of age, or
were any such rights exercised by any of them; or was the Company, or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to

acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
Grant of Share Option

With reference to announcement dated 14 July 2015, the Board has
resolved to grant share options (“the Options”) to certain individuals to
subscribe for a total of 825,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in
the share capital of the Company, under the share option scheme adopted
by the Company based on the Shareholders’ resolution passed on 28 May
2015 (the “Share Option Scheme”), which shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years.
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The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant Options to certain employees of the Group and any suppliers,
consultants, agents and advisers or any person who, in the sole discretion
of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Group in recognition

of their contribution to the Group.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
Options granted to each eligible participant or grantee (including exercised
and outstanding Options) in any 12-month period up to the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue at the date of grant. Any further

grant will be conditional upon shareholders’ approval in general meeting.

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, an Option may be
exercised in whole or in part at any time during the period to be determined
by the Board but in any event no later than 10 years from the date of grant.
There is no specified minimum period for which an Option must be held
before it can be exercised. An offer of the grant of an Option shall remain
open for acceptance for a period of 28 days from the date upon which is it
made and a non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by

the grantee upon acceptance of an Option.

The exercise price of the Options granted under the Share Option Scheme
may be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion but in any event
will not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the

nominal value of the share on the date of grant.

For details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the circular of the
Company dated 24 April 2015.

Among the Options granted, 20,000,000 Options were granted to the
Lender as disclosed in the said announcement and 276,000,000 Options
were granted to the Directors. Half of the Options granted to the Directors
are exercisable from the date of grant to the expiry of option period and the
other half of Options granted are exercisable from the first anniversary of the

Date of Grant to the expiry of option period.
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The particulars of share options granted to Directors of the Company and

the movements during the year were as follows:

Number of share options

BIARAESZBRERFRAZLEHIBOT

BREHE

Outstanding Outstanding

as at Granted Exercised Cancelled or Re- as at

Exercise 1 January during during lapsed during  designation 31 December

Name of Directors Date of grant price 2015 the year the year the year  of category 2015

R-Z-1%

R-B-1F +=A

-A-H FREH =t-8

EEspE R A TRE i RATHE FRRM FRITHE _EAY EFNEEER i RATE

(HKS)
(B

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo 14 July 2015 0.15 - 16,000,000 - - - 16,000,000
R=ERE “E-RELATHA

Mr. Huang Bogi 14 July 2015 0.15 - 160,000,000 - - - 160,000,000
BiRBEE “E-RELATHEA

Mr. Tse Michael Nam (Note) 14 July 2015 0.15 60,000,000 - - (60,000,000 -
AEFLE (M) “E-RELATHEA

Mr. Zou Chengjian 14 July 2015 0.15 - 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000
BEREE “E-RELATHEA

Ms. Leung Yin Fai 14 July 2015 0.15 - 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000
REBLL “E-RELATHEA

Mr. Leung Po Wing Bowen 14 July 2015 0.15 = 10,000,000 = B - 10,000,000

Joseph

PEREE “Z-AFtATWmA

Mr. Zhou Chunsheng 14 July 2015 0.15 - 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000
BAEEEE “ZT-REtA+WA

Total 276,000,000 - - (60,000,000) 216,000,000

st

Note: Mr. Tse Michael Nam resigned as an Executive Director of the Company, but he
remained as a director of the Company’s subsidiaries. Therefore, his granted
shares options were re-designated to the category of employee.

For the details of grant of Share Option, please refer to our announcement
dated 14 July 2015.

According to the scheme limit of the Share Option Scheme as approved at
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 May 2015 (being
1,666,015,079 Options) less the 825,000,000 Options granted by the
Company since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, the Company
may further grant 841,015,079 share options, representing approximately
4.07% of the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December
2015
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1,666,015,07917 B Ax #) - MFR AN 2 7] B s Ja e
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

Persons who have an interest or short position which is
discloseable under Divisions 2 and 3 of part XV of the SFO
and Substantial Shareholders

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2015, the following
persons (not being Directors or the Chief Executive Officer of the Company)
had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares which are required to be disclosed to the Company and
the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or who were directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of
the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group:

(i) Interests in the shares and underlying shares

Name of substantial shareholders Nature of interest

TERRER EEUE

Interest of controlled
corporation

RELEE#E R

Best Growth Enterprises Limited Mo

Best Growth Enterprises Limited (")

China OEPG Limited Mt
hREALE (B I AR A 7 i)

Beneficial owner
EmEBA

FERREREMATRARG KEE
R zEERXR

BEEARERSFRIEFROIEXVE
F2RIDBEBZ2 BRI AXBZ
ATREERRE

BESHMM RZZ—AF+=ZA=+—80" T
AT (WIEBBERAQNAITREE) PG 8
Rh HEEREREAEAREZSF R HAE KA
EXVEPE2 35 B SC A M AR A ) M B A2 T BR
R E REEKBEEEANARFTR
FAER TEARETAKE AR ZRRAEGE
R AR AEE10%IA £ 2w

i) RO RARER G = B

Approximate
percentage of

No. of shares issued share

and/or underlying capital as at

shares held Position 31 December 2015

HR-ZZE—1F

t=A=t-A2

FEROR ERITRAHN

SEBERGHE ¥R "ok

8,572,210,142 Long 41.49%
e

4,107,500,000 Short 19.88%
KB

8,572,210,142 Long 41.49%
e

4,107,500,000 Short 19.88%
KA

Note:

China OEPC beneficially owns 4,554,492,662 ordinary shares and
HK$1,381,286,971.68 Convertible Bonds (“CB”) which are convertible into
8,125,217,480 shares in which HK$698,275,000 CB which are convertible into
4,107,500,000 shares in short position. China OEPC is beneficially owned by Best
Growth. Best Growth is beneficially owned by Mr. Zhang Sanhuo, the Chairman
and Executive Director of the Company. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Zhang Sanhuo
and Best Growth are deemed to be interested in those shares and derivative
interest held by China OEPC.
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(i) Interests in shares of associated corporations of the company

Name of subsidiary

MEARERE

Name of entity

EREE

BMC Software (China) Ltd. BMC Software (HK) Ltd.

Class and no. of securities

HEERREE

1 ordinary share of
HK$1 (Long position)

(i) RARBEEEBRD 2ES

Percentage
shareholdings

REB DL

10%

1RETT 2 BB (17 R)

Except as disclosed above and so far as the Directors were aware, as at
31 December 2015, no other party had any interest or short position in the
shares, the underlying shares or debentures of the Company which would
be required to be disclosed to the Company under provisions of Division
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to

Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to herein.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION PURSUANT
TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

On 1 January 2015, the remuneration package of Mr. Zhang Sanhuo
(“Mr. Zhang”) had been changed. In view of Mr. Zhang’s performance and
contribution, on top of Mr. Zhang’s monthly remuneration, the Company

would provide a premise for living to Mr. Zhang.

Mr. Zhang’s remuneration is governed by the Bye-laws and he is currently
entitled to receive a monthly remuneration of HK$120,000 and a premise for
living which is determined by the Board based on the recommendation from
the Remuneration Committee of the Company with reference to, among
other matters, his duties and responsibilities, salary paid by comparable
companies, time commitment, employment conditions of other members
of the Group and a bonus for each financial year which is subject to the

discretion of the Board.

On 1 May 2015, Mr. Chen Liang (“Mr. Chen”) and Ms. Liu Rong-Rong (“Ms.
Liu”) had been appointed as the Executive Director with a remuneration
of HK$60,000 and HK$40,000 per month respectively. According to their
appointment term, the payment of the remuneration commenced after their

re-election at the general meeting held on 28 May 2015.
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On 2 June 2015, each of Mr. Chen and Ms. Liu resigned as Executive
Director in order to pursue their other business engagements and as a
result of the termination of the agreement. Each of Mr. Chen and Ms. Liu
has declared to give up the payment of remuneration and confirmed that
there is no claims whatsoever against the Company for fees, compensation
for loss of office, remuneration, severance payments, pension, expenses or
otherwise and there are no disagreement with the Board and there are no
matters relating to their resignation that need to be brought to the attention
of the Shareholders or the Stock Exchange.

On 30 November 2015, Mr. Tse Michael Nam (“Mr. Tse”) resigned as an
Executive Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. But he remains as a director of the Company’s subsidiaries.

The appointment of Mr. Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph aBs, Jp (“Mr.
Leung”) as an Independent non-Executive Director has been expired and
automatically renewed on 26 March 2015 with a term of service for one
year and subject to rotational retirements under the Bye-laws. Mr. Leung
currently entitled to receive a remuneration of HK$14,000 per month.

The appointments of Mr. Zhang as an Executive Director and the Chairman
of the Board have been expired and automatically renewed on 7 June 2015
and 14 June 2015 accordingly with a term of service for two years and
subject to rotational retirements under the Bye-laws. Mr. Zhang currently
entitled to receive a remuneration of HK$120,000 per month and a premise
of living.

The appointment of Mr. Zou Chengjian (“Mr. Zou”) as a non-Executive
Director has been expired and revised on 22 June 2015 with a term of
service for one year and subject to rotational retirements under the Bye-
laws. Mr. Zou currently entitled to receive a remuneration of HK$14,000 per

month.

The appointment of Mr. Zhou Chunsheng (“Mr. Zhou”) as an Independent
non-Executive Director has been expired and revised on 22 June 2015
with a term of service for one year and subject to rotational retirements
under the Bye-laws. Mr. Zhou currently entitled to receive a remuneration of
HK$14,000 per month.

During the year 2015, the Executive Directors, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Huang
Boqi received emoluments of approximately HK$5,784,000 and
HK$11,194,000 respectively. The non-Executive Director, Mr. Zou received
emoluments of approximately HK$769,000. The Independent non-Executive
Directors, Ms. Leung Yin Fai, Mr. Leung and Mr. Zhou received emoluments
of approximately HK$769,000, HK$769,000 and HK$769,000 respectively.
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During the year 2015, Mr. Tse received emoluments of approximately
HK$3,919,000.

Details of directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments are set out in Note

15 to the consolidated financial statements.

The basis for determining the Directors’ emoluments (including bonus

payments) remained unchanged during the year.

It was informed by Mr. Zhou that he had resigned as independent non-
Ltd (Stock Code
601377: Shanghai Stock Exchange), Heilongjiang Interchina Watertreatment
Co., Ltd. (Stock Code 600187: Shanghai Stock Exchange),
Holding Co., Ltd. (Stock Code 000979: Shenzhen Stock Exchange),
Star Lake Bioscience Co., Inc. Zhaoging Guangdong (Stock Code

executive director each of Industrial Securities Co.,

Zhonghong

600866: Shanghai Stock Exchange) and Inner Mongolia Junzheng Energy
and Chemical Industry Co Ltd (Stock Code 601216: Shanghai Stock
Exchange). It was also informed by Mr. Zhou that he has been appointed
as independent non-executive director each of (i) Zhejiang Transfar Co.,
Ltd. (Stock Code: 002010: Shenzhen Stock Exchange) with effect from 1
July 2015; (ii) GuangDong HuaSheng Electrical Appliances Co., Ltd. (Stock
Code 002670: Shenzhen Stock Exchange) with effect from 2 July 2015;
and (i) Kunwu Jiuding Investment Holdings Co., Ltd (Stock Code: 600053:
Shanghai Stock Exchange) with effect from 26 January 2016.

It was Informed by Mr. Leung that he will ceased to be a special consultant
to the board of directors of Sands China Limited (stock code 1928: the
Stock Exchange) with effect from 1 April 2016.

Save as disclosed above, during the year, and as at the date of this report
there were no other changes to the Directors’ information that are required

to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company had
complied with the code provisions and recommended best practices of the
Code except for certain deviations. Details of corporate governance are set
out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this Annual

Report.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2015 had been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, who
will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment as auditor at

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
on 12 June 1999 with clear written terms of reference. And the terms of
reference of Audit Committee had been revised on 14 December 2015 and

became effective from 1 January 2016.

For the year ended 31 December 2015 and as at the date of this annual
report, the Audit Committee comprised three members, all of whom
were Independent non-Executive Directors. The composition of the Audit
Committee as at the date of this annual report was Ms. Leung Yin Fai
(Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph
GBS, JP and Mr. Zhou Chunsheng. Ms. Leung Yin Fai, the chairman of the
Audit Committee is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, CPA Australia and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. None of the members is a partner or former partner of
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, the Company’s external auditor.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year to review the annual and
interim results and the accompanying auditor’s reports, the accounting
policies and practices adopted by the Company, and the financial and

internal control systems of the Company.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group’s audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015, including the
disclaimer opinion in the auditor’s report thereon, and had submitted its

views to the Board of Directors.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo

Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2016
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Board and the Management of the Company are highly committed

to maintaining good corporate governance practices and transparency in

fulfilling their corporate responsibility and accountability to the Company’s

Shareholders. The Board and the Management recognize that the

maintenance of good corporate governance practices is an essential factor

in achieving financial success and enhancing shareholder value.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODES

(@)

Corporate Governance Codes

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company has
complied with the Corporate Governance Codes (the “CG Codes”)
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules and where appropriate,
adopted the recommended best practices of the CG Codes. The
Board will continue to review and monitor the Company’s corporate

governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Codes.

The Company had adopted an internal monitoring policy to maintain
a higher level of the Company’s compliance with the CG Codes
throughout the year ended 31 December 2015 and also to report on
whether any non-compliance with the CG Codes was fully disclosed
and explained in this Corporate Governance Report. The execution
and enforcement of the Company’s corporate governance system is
monitored and reviewed by the Board annually. The Company believes
that the commitment of high-standard corporate governance will

provide long-term value and maximized returns to Shareholders.

Securities Transactions

The Model Code has been adopted as the code for Directors’
securities transaction for the Company. After having made specific
enquiry of all the Directors, each of the Directors confirmed that he had
complied with the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2015.

The Company has also established written guidelines no less exacting
than the Model Code for relevant employees in respect of their dealing
in the Company’s shares and established written guidelines on inside
dealings in relation to the Company and the securities transaction of
the Company with reference to SFO Chapter 571 Division 4.
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(c) Board of Directors

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the Board
is composed of six members comprising two Executive Directors
(including the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman), one non-Executive
Director and three Independent non-Executive Directors (INEDs”). The
biographical details of the current members of the Board are set out on
pages 4 to 7 of the Annual Report. The Company has also maintained
on its website and on the website of the Stock Exchange, an updated
list of the Directors and the Management which identifying their roles

and functions including whether they are INEDs.

Save for being a Director, each Director does not have any financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s) and in

particular, between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

The Board is tasked with the responsibility of directing and supervising
the Company’s businesses and affairs and promoting its success and
growth. The Board is collectively responsible for the management
and operations of the Company and is responsible for directing and
supervising the overall management of the Company with regards to
the implementation and maintenance of internal control procedures and
ensuring compliance with relevant statutory requirements, the Listing
Rules and other rules and regulations and performing the corporate

governance duties.

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for implementing
day-to-day operations, business strategies and management of the
Group’s businesses to the Executive Directors, senior management

and certain specific responsibilities to the Board committees.

The Board meets regularly. During the year, four regular Board
meetings were held. Notices for regular Board meetings were given to

all Directors at least 14 days prior to the meetings.
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Prior to each Board meeting (for regular meetings, at least 3 days
prior), the Chairman, with the support of the Company Secretary,
ensures that every Director has been properly briefed on issues and
provided with the agenda and accompanying Board papers containing
adequate information provided by the Management to enable them to
make informed decisions at the meeting. Every member of the Board
has an opportunity to propose matters in the agenda for discussion at

each Board meeting.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of committees are taken by
the Company Secretary and maintained at the Company’s premises.
Minutes of the Board and committee meetings record in sufficient
detail the matters considered by the Board or committee and decisions
reached, including any concerns raised by the Directors or dissenting
views expressed. Drafts and final versions of minutes are sent to all
Directors for their comments within a reasonable time after the Board
meetings are held. Every member of the Board is entitled to inspect
Board papers and related materials and has unrestricted access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that Board
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations, are followed.
Where queries are raised by any of the Directors, responses are
provided as promptly and fully as possible. The Directors may also
upon reasonable request, seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the expense of the Company. So far,
there has not been any case where a substantial shareholder or a
Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the

Board which the board has determined to be material.
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The attendance of each of the Directors at the annual general meeting, BREERFRBTZRRBFRE EF
Board meetings and meetings of the Audit Committee, Remuneration eEH BZLEgeR FMEEegR
Committee and Nomination Committee held during the year is set out REZBEEHIHBEENT
below:—
No. of meetings attended/held
HiE/ BITERRY

General Audit Remuneration Nomination
Directors Meetings Board Committee Committee Committee
= RRAE Exg BRERE FEES REZERS
Executive Directors
HiTES
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo 2/2 4/4 - 3/5 11
R=B%H&
Mr. Huang Bogi 2/2 4/4 - - -
BREALE
Mr. Tse Michael Nam (Note 1) 0/2 3/4 - 2/5 -
A (MEEET)
Mr. Chen Liang (Note 2) 0/2 0/4 - - -
BRoe s A (MI5t2)
Ms. Liu Rong-Rong (Note 2) 1/2 0/4 - - -
IR A &+ (M)
Non-Executive Director
FETES
Mr. Zou Chengjian 0/2 4/4 - - -
AR E
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BYKHTES
Ms. Leung Yin Fai 1/2 4/4 3/3 4/5 11
REBEL
Mr. Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph 1/2 4/4 3/3 4/5 11
REREE
Mr. Zhou Chunsheng 0/2 4/4 3/3 4/5 1/1
BEERE
Note: B L

-

HAEHFEEER - T-—RF+—HA=1THEHE

1. Mr. Tse Michael Nam resigned as an Executive Director and a member of the

Remuneration Committee of the Company on 30 November 2015. But he ARBZHTEZRFMNEESKE 2 BER
remains as a director of the Company’s subsidiaries. NeBITARARIMBARIZES -

2. Mr. Chen Liang and Ms. Liu Rong-Rong were appointed as Executive 2. BEfERIEALZLTR-_FT—RFAA—AH
Directors on 1 May 2015 and resigned as Executive Directors with effect from BREARBTES YR _T—AFA=H
2 June 2015 in order to pursue their other business engagements and as a EEMELHRFTERBBRIEMBHERNTE
result of the termination of the Agreement. Fo
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Two of the regular Board meetings were for the approval of the interim
and annual results of the Company and the others were to review or
discuss (i) the effectiveness of the financial and internal control systems
of the Company; (i) the policies; (iii) strategic business planning and

operation review; and (iv) the upcoming business transactions.

The Company had maintained an appropriate level of insurance cover
in respect of legal action against the Directors and officers of the
Company and its subsidiaries throughout the year ended 31 December
2015.

Each Director has disclosed to the Company in a timely manner of any
change, the number and nature of offices held in public companies
or organisations and other significant commitments. All such changes
during the year and up to the date of this report, have been disclosed
in the Report of the Directors section of this report.

Appointments, Re-election and Removal of Directors

Each of the Executive Directors, non-Executive Director and
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a specific term. Such term is
subject to his/her re-appointment by the Company at an annual general
meeting upon such Director’s retirement by rotation at least once every

three years and offering himself/herself for re-election.

The bye-laws of the Company provide that any Director appointed by
the Board, (i) to fill a casual vacancy in the Board, shall hold office only
until the next following general meeting of the Company and shall be
subject to re-election at such meeting and (i) as an addition to the
Board shall hold office until the next annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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(e) Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of chairman and Chief Executive Officer has been separated
since 14 June 2013 and the division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer has been clearly established
based on the requirement of Listing Rules.

During the year, the Chairman fulfilled his responsibilities, including
chairing the board meetings, ensuring that the Board operates
effectively and discharges its responsibilities, ensuring good corporate
governance practices and procedures by anchoring with the Listing
Rules (even though these practices and procedures have not been
formally documented in the Company’s policy), facilitating effective
contribution of Directors, ensuring effective communications with
shareholders and ensuring constructive relations between Executive
and non-Executive Directors. During the year, the Chairman has also
chaired meeting with the INEDs and the non-Executive Director, without

the presence of the other Executive Director.

Non-Executive Directors

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Company had
been in compliance with Rules 3.10(1), (2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules by having at all times three INEDs on its Board, one who has the
appropriate professional accounting qualifications and the number of

INEDs represented at least one-third of the Board.

Each of the INEDs and the non-Executive Director was appointed for
an initial term of not more than two years from the date of his/her
appointment. Upon the expiry of the initial term, the appointment may

be renewed for another term of not more than two years.

Each of the INEDs met the independence guidelines set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considered each of them to
be so. The Company had received from each of the INEDs an annual

confirmation as to his independence.
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The non-Executive Directors and the INEDs have been participating in
board meetings, taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests
arise, serving on the audit, nomination and remuneration committees,
scrutinizing the Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate
goals and objectives, monitoring performance reporting and making a
positive contribution to the development of the Group’s strategy and
policies through independent, constructive and informed comments
and giving the board and committees in which they serve, the benefit of
their skills, expertise and varied backgrounds and qualifications through
regular attendance and active participation. Each Director has also
given sufficient time and attention to the Company’s affairs during the

year.

Remuneration Committee

The Company’s Remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established in June 2005 with specific written terms
of reference detailing the Remuneration Committee’s role and authority.
The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are published

on the Company’s website as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for formulating and
making recommendation to the Board on the Group’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior management
and the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing policy on such remuneration and review of the policy
and the procedure annually. The Remuneration Committee has the
delegated responsibility to determine the specific remuneration
packages of the Executive Directors and senior management and to
make recommendations to the Board for the remuneration of the non-

Executive Directors.

In fulfilling its functions, the Remuneration Committee takes into
consideration factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
respective time commitment, and responsibilities of the Directors
and senior management and whether the remuneration packages are
competitively attractive to retain the Executive Directors and senior
management. The Remuneration Committee members may consult
the Chairman of the Board about their proposals relating to the
remuneration of the Executive Directors and have access to sufficient
resources including professional advice if considered necessary. No

Director can, however, approve his own remuneration.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 and as at the date of this
report, the Remuneration Committee comprised four members, three
of whom were INEDs, in which one of them was also the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee. The members of the Remuneration
Committee as at the date of this report are Ms. Leung Yin Fai (an INED
and the chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Zhang Sanhuo
(Executive Director), Mr. Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph and Mr. Zhou
Chunsheng (INEDs).

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once each year and one
of the meeting met on 14 December 2015 was to review and approve
the remuneration package of the other Directors and the senior
management (which had remained unchanged from the previous year)

and other related matters including the Board evaluation.

Nomination Committee

The Company’s nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
was established on 14 December 2015 with specific written terms of
reference detailing the Nomination Committee’s role and authority. The
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are published on the

Company’s website as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.

For the year ended 31 December 2015 and as at the date of this
report, the Nomination Committee comprised four members, three of
whom were INEDs. The members of the Nomination Committee as at
the date of this report are Mr. Zhang Sanhuo (Executive Director and
the chairman of the Nomination Committee), Ms. Leung Yin Fai, Mr.
Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph and Mr. Zhou Chunsheng (INEDs).

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are,
among other things, review the structure, size and composition
(including skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and make
recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes;
identify candidates with suitable qualifications as directors, select and
make recommendations to the Board; assess the independence of
INEDs; and make recommendations to the Board on matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession

planning for Directors.
In fulfilling its functions, the Nomination Committee has been provided

sufficient resources by the Company to seek for independent

professional advice to perform its responsibilities.
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The Nomination Committee has a policy concerning diversity of
Board members which aims to maintain the Board with a diversity of
Directors in terms of skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture,
independence, age and gender, with a view to enhancing the quality of

performance of the Board.

The Nomination Committee meets not less than once a year and it
met on 14 December 2015 to (i) formulate the terms of reference; (ii)
review the structure, size and diversity (including without limitation,
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board;
and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to implement the Company’s corporate strategy; and (i) review the
procedures for shareholders to elect a director has been published in

the Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s websites.

Save as disclosed, there were no other new appointment to the Board

during the year,

Auditors’ Remuneration
During the year, the Company reappointed Messrs. SHINEWING (HK)
CPA Limited as auditors of the Company. The auditors remuneration for

the year ended 31 December 2015 was as follows:

Nature of work
TEHE

Audit services

BRI

Non-audit services

FEZR

REZBERAEMEZTENESTILZR
K EERFEFSREZ R 8B A
BoEE B FRREERNZK
RURAEZEE s RBAEXR-

V3 | Nt A —
INE R ‘/B/t\_

REZESFFHIEIT—
T-AF+ A+ BRITEE - A T B

BBEE: (e EFell REREK (8
FEEFIRRMUR Fik MERBEER &

EES e MBENERE) W EM K
BREAEESRMESR UWERTAREZ

R ki) RREREZZRRF
A2 ) A ik e B A2 P A U B

BRERBEEN EFSFAREZTEMH
K& -

=B €
FR-ARAERBEXTN(EE) S
EBMARABRARAZEM -BE_T
—AFE+Z A=+ —BIEFEZZEMNHE
mr
Amount
-]
HK$
HIT

1,180,000

610,000
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() Audit Committee () BXEES

The Company’s Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee”) was
established in June 1999 with clear written terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Audit Committee are published on the

Company’s website as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include overseeing
the Company’s relations with the external auditors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of the external auditors, approving the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditors, reviewing and
monitoring the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards, monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial
statements, annual report and accounts, half-year report and
accounting policies, as well as overseeing the Company’s financial

controls, internal control systems and risk management systems.

For the year ended 31 December 2015 and as at the date of this
report, the Audit Committee was comprised of three members, all
of whom were INEDs. The composition of the Audit Committee as
at the date of this report was Mr. Leung Yin Fai (the Chairman of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph and Mr. Zhou
Chunsheng. Ms. Leung Yin Fai, the Chairman of the Audit Committee is
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,

CPA Australia and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

The Audit Committee has unrestricted access to the auditors of the
Company, the Directors, the Company’s qualified accountant, and
other members of Management. The Audit Committee has met with the
Company’s auditors twice during the year ended 31 December 2015

with regards to review of the Company’s financial report and accounts.

The Audit Committee met third times during the year ended 31
December 2015 to review the annual and interim results and the
accompanying auditor’s report, the accounting policies and practices
adopted by the Company, and to review the financial and internal

control systems of the Company.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group’s audited financial

statements for the year ended 31 December 2015.
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(k) Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Company and that the financial
statements are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. It is also the responsibility of the
Directors to ensure the timely publication of the financial statements
of the Company. During the year, the management has provided
sufficient explanation and information to the Board to enable it to make
an informed assessment of the financial and other information put
before it for approval including the monthly updates on the Company’s

performance, position and prospects.

A discussion and analysis of the Groups’ performance, an explanation
of the basis on which the issuer generates or preserves value over the
longer term and the strategy for delivering the Company’s objectives
have been prepared and included in the Chairman Statement and

Management Discussion and Analysis sections of this Annual Report.

The statement of the auditors of the Company, SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited, on their reporting responsibilities in respect of the financial

statements of the Company is set out on pages 57 and 58.

The Directors confirm that, except for the issues as explained under
the basis of presentation section in note 1 to the consolidate financial
statements, they are not aware of any other material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon

the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

Every Director knows that he should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh his knowledge and
skills to ensure that his contribution to the board remains informed
and relevant. The Company is responsible for arranging and funding
suitable training for the Directors. Accordingly, during the year, the
Company has made available trainings and development programmes

for the Directors for their participation.

(k)
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During the year, all the Directors were provided with monthly
commentary on the Group’s business, operations, and financial
matters as well as regular updates on applicable legal and regulatory
requirements. The Company had also provided the Directors with the
materials and information update including the Directors’ obligations
as required under the Securities and Futures Ordinance and the Listing
Rules. In addition, individual Directors have also participated in other
courses relating to the roles, functions and duties of a listed company
director or further enhancement of their professional development by
way of attending training courses or via online aids or reading relevant
materials. All the Directors had provided the Company Secretary with

their training records for the year under review.

Directors

=2

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo

R=ZERE

Mr. Huang Bogi

=HEBEEE

Non-Executive Director

FHTES

Mr. Zou Chengjian

A

Independent Non-Executive Directors
NHHBTES

Ms. Leung Yin Fai

REWEL L

Mr. Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph

REREE

Mr. Zhou Chunsheng

ERESRE

A:  attending internal briefing sessions/reading materials in relation to corporate
governance and regulatory updates.

B: attending seminars/courses/conference to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.
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(m)

TEERRE

Company Secretary

Mr. Shek Wing Wa, obtained a master degree in Corporate Governance
from the Open University of Hong Kong in 2009 and a bachelor’s
degree in Business Administration from the Lingnan University in
2001. Mr. Shek is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries since 2010. During the year, he has completed

over 15 hours of relevant professional training.

Internal Controls and Risk Management

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for ensuring a sound
and effective internal control system is maintained within the Company
and its subsidiaries so as to safeguard the Group’s assets and its
Shareholders’ investments. The Directors conduct annual reviews
of the effectiveness of the system of internal controls as well as
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the accounting and financial reporting functions, and their training

programmes and budget.

Pursuant to provision C.2.5 of the CG Codes, the Board reviewed the
need for an internal audit department and considered it appropriate
to adopt an internal group policy to review of the effectiveness of
the system of internal control of the Company and certain of its
subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 December 2015. Given the
Group’s simple operating structure, as opposed to a separate internal
audit department, the Board is directly responsible for internal control

of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.

The Board conducted a review on the internal control system of the
Group on an annual basis and has the responsibility to maintain an
effective internal control system in order to safeguard the Group’s
assets and shareholders’ interests. It covered all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions of the Company. And the policy will be reviewed
annually by the Board to ensure it fulfilled the statutory requirement.
The Board has also reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function. The Board
will keep review and monitor the effectiveness of the internal control
and risk management systems on a regular basis to ensure that the

systems in place are adequate.
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Based on the above, the Board is of the view that the Company has
established a proper internal control system which is effective and
adequate. And the Board also considers the internal control systems of
the Company effective and the resources, qualifications and experience
of the accounting and financial reporting functions, adequate for the

period in review.

Communications with Shareholders and Investors

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with
the Company’s shareholders. A shareholders’ communication policy
setting out the principles of the Company in relation to shareholders’
communications, with the objectives of ensuring a transparent and
timely communication with shareholders via various means, has been
established and published on the Company’s website. And it will be
reviewed annually after the annual general meeting. The annual general
meetings of the Company and other general meetings are valuable
forums for the Board to communicate directly with the shareholders
and to answer questions shareholders may raise. Another key element
of effective communication with shareholders and investors is the
prompt and timely dissemination of information in relation to the Group.
The Company has announced its annual and interim results in a timely

manner in 2015 as required by the Listing Rules.

Separate resolutions are proposed by the chairman at general meetings
for each substantial issue. The detailed procedures of conducting a poll
are explained to shareholders at the commencement of the AGM, to

ensure that shareholders are familiar with such procedures.

The Company’s last annual general meeting (“AGM”) was held on
Thursday, 28 May 2015 at 11:00 a.m. at Units 2001-2, 20th Floor,
Li Po Chun Chambers, 189 Des Voeux Central,

and supplemental notice of the last AGM were sent out on 24 April

Hong Kong. Notice

2015 and 6 May 2015 respectively, i.e. there were 18 clear business
days before the AGM. All the resolutions proposed at that meeting
were approved by the shareholders of the Company by poll. Details
of the poll results are available on the Company’s website. Mr.
Zhang Sanhuo, the Chairman of the Board chaired the last AGM
and also invited Ms. Leung Yin Fai, the chairman of both the audit
and remuneration committees to attend. All the Directors currently in
position, except Mr. Zou Chengjian and Mr. Zhou Chunsheng, attended
the last AGM. The auditors and the legal advisors of the Company
were also available during the AGM to answer questions from the
shareholders.

NORTH ASIA RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ it 5 EJFRIER B R A A

EREXPl - EEERA ARBCREE
B AL RANAMEEGE EEZE TR
B ARBZABERHIEAR  MEst ki
BEREBHREZER BERERNEERR
PAVEEER

HERRNRKREEZBR
EZgAENEARARRRTER KRQF

BRI BBEEL NEHEH  2h#
AARRGHBRFERORA ARRER
ERACERRETERARN 2 BR -G
AREBRESFNRRBERNGERERN A
RAZKRBFRGREMGBBRAGR/ESF
S B R B 5 A0 M 8] AR ER AT AR AR H A
BONEMRE - ERFERREERRNS —
B RUERTL R A N LR 30 3545 5 B AN SR L Y
FEE-ZZ—N1F ARADZZRETHREFEE
PUSEN G P LR E

RRERE L TFEEREEEA[ERD
BYRBR -RREFFABENRRBFEX
S A AR B AR RAR R A A2 &
2R

ARE FERFEBEFAE ((RRBFAE])
WZZE—AFHAZT+N\B(EHM) LF
TR ERBEERHBETI8ETEBENE
20%82001-2E 817 FERRBFRG 2
BERBARESEDIR_T—RFMNA
:+EE&:§—£¢£ﬂﬁa(%%$ﬁ
FREEHAHMBISEEERAR) BHH-RE
t%ﬁ2£ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ$ﬂa%$%&ﬁ

B RRERFBEORARR BTG - ESH
ﬁzﬁ%‘“%ii%t?h%ﬂﬁxﬁl

BERLZEERTNEEGETRAREL
iﬁﬁ@%c%ﬁ&&%%(%%@%i&%
BESERINHELE FERTAFAE -
RNA B EAD ROER BRI B R R AF
R AR ZAR R



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SRERRE

The next AGM will be held at Units 2001-2, 20th Floor, Li Po Chun
Chambers, 189 Des Voeux Central, Hong Kong on Thursday, 23 May
2016 at 11:00 a.m.

The market capitalisation of the Company as at 31 December 2015
was HK$723,217,719 (issued share capital: 20,663,363,407 shares
at closing market price: HK$0.035 per share). The public float was
approximately 77.23% as at 31 December 2015.

Constitutional Documents

There was no change to the Company’s Memorandum of Association
and Bye-laws during the financial year 2015. A copy of the latest
consolidated version of the Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws

is posted on the Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s websites.

Shareholders’ Rights — Convening of General Meetings

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to convene a
general meeting of the Company. Shareholders holding an aggregate
of not less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid up capital of the Company
may send a written request to the Board of the Company to request
for the convening of a general meeting. The written requisition, duly
signed by the shareholders concerned, must state the purposes of
the meeting and must be deposited at the registered office of the
Company. The Company would take appropriate actions and make
necessary arrangements, and the shareholders concerned would
be responsible for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in
accordance with the requirements under Section 74 of the Act once a

valid requisition is received.

Shareholders’ Rights — Making Proposals at General
Meetings

The following shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal (which
may properly be put to the meeting) for consideration at a general
meeting of the Company: (a) any number of members representing not
less than one-twentieth (5%) of the total voting rights of the Company
on the date of the requisition; or (b) not less than 100 members holding

shares in the Company.
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The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the shareholders
concerned, together with a statement of not more than 1,000
words with respect to the matter referred to in the proposal must be
deposited at the registered office of the Company. The Company would
take appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements, and
the shareholders concerned would be responsible for the expenses
incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with the requirements
under Sections 79 and 80 of the Act once valid documents are

received.

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
director for election as a director at a general meeting, the shareholder
should lodge at the principal place of business of the Company at
Units 2001-2, 20th Floor, Li Po Chun Chambers, 189 Des Voeux
Central, Hong Kong, the necessary documents as mentioned in the
“Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director of the Company” which has already been published in the

Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Shareholders’ Rights — Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company or at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the Company Secretary

whose contact details are as follows:

North Asia Resources Holdings Limited

Units 2001-2, 20th Floor, Li Po Chun Chambers,
189 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2889 6289

Fax: (852) 2897 9137
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Shine‘ZOan

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., Lee Garden One

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

TO THE MEMBERS OF NORTH ASIA RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of North
Asia Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred as the “Group”) set out on pages 59 to 188, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement. Because of
the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion paragraphs,
however, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to

provide a basis for an audit opinion.

BLTEREZRARIAZEEBRR
(REFREAMALZZ HERAA])

EEEL B EZELOE188E ME o B IR R
ERAR([ERADEREMBRAR (KERIE
SH z2HEEMBERE  UEAWBRREEN
TE-RF+ A=t -BRZEAMBIRRRE
BEZRALFEZHFABEaR GeBakiEd
THKNER FERZEBRINGAESRER
IR EBETHEMELREBHAER -

EEHRSURBERZER

ERFEZAARRBEEBGAMAGRNZE
BT S R R BB A RGP 2 B R E AR
SAPBERRACHEEVMBRRIELEEMAF
MR REEARRURAEGAMBHRRLE
Z BB - A AR A B TS R AR A 7 AR i A RRE
ok $5 AR T G B 2 BB KSR AR Rt

BB 2 EE
EE2EERBEERYUZRSUBHRRIMEL
BERCAURBEARERAFABORERZRBR
BE BUZIABESHEECBEN - BEELE
HRAREADTMEREMALTE ERAEEMNE
F-EECRETESHAMAGRMA 2 EBE
FERETRIZ RERANBERESETERRE
THRERATEZ BB ERSTBRRE
BTNFEEFMEARERRM - T8 AR TERE
SMELEZBRMANER #ESFEENEED
LREEZERRERERBERIBHAELE.

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 2015 F F 57




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
38 3 %% B R

Basis for disclaimer of opinion

As set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
had net current liabilities of approximately HK$4,465,371,000 as at 31
December 2015 and incurred a loss of approximately HK$3,772,732,000
for the year ended 31 December 2015. The consolidated financial
statements of the Group have been prepared on a going concern basis, the
validity of which is dependent on the ongoing availability of finance to the
Group (as set out in Note 1(iv)), including loan facilities granted by a non-
controlling shareholder of a subsidiary of the Group (the “Non-controlling
Shareholder”). We were unable to obtain confirmation or verify from the
Non-controlling Shareholder the availability of such future financing. If these
finances are not forthcoming, the Group would be unable to meet its finance
obligations as and when they fall due. In view of the extent of the limitation
of audit evidence relating to the ongoing availability of finance to the Group
which might cast a significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a

going concern, we disclaim our opinion in this respect.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying value of the Group’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any future liabilities
which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities. The effect of these

adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Disclaimer of opinion

Because of the significance of the matters described in the basis for
disclaimer of opinion paragraph, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. In all other material respects, in our opinion the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Chuen Fai

Practising Certificate Number: P05589

Hong Kong
21 March 2016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

2015 2014
—2-IfF —E—mE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt aE FERT FHET
Turnover 3 8 63,923 106,246
Cost of sales and services rendered HE MR HRG Z KA (46,753) (56,642)
Gross profit EF 17,170 49,604
Other operating income Hibig & s 8 5,128 27,743
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (4,574) (2,907)
Administrative and operating expenses THREEERA (223,576) (230,452)
Change in fair value of derivative ARBRERERITETIA
component of convertible loan notes 22 A FEES 27 (786,373) 317,592
Loss on redemption of convertible B MRBRERERRZEER
loan notes 27 (3,305) -
Gain on redemption of promissory notes B 0] 7 AR 2 W e 31 2,398 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of  FLERIEEFER 2 BB E B
mining rights 17 (2,715,022) (709,204)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of LRI E MR 2 HEEE
goodwill 18 (2,352) -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of ~ FA¥% BB MR EER
property, plant and equipment HEEE 16 (368,432) (74,776)
Finance costs BhE Bl A 9 (871,978) (477,771)
Loss before taxation FRBiRTE 1B 10 (4,450,916) (1,100,171)
Income tax credit Figfiike 11 678,184 177,040
Loss for the year FEBSB (8,772,732) (923,131)
Attributable to: AT AL R :
Owners of the Company AR A (2,373,281) (452,508)
Non-controlling interests eI (1,399,451) (470,623)
(3,772,732) (923,131)
Loss per share FREE
Basic and diluted (HK$) EAR#EE (BT) 13 (0.157) (0.122)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBmkHMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

2015 2014
—E—EF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET F#ET
Loss for the year FEBE (3,772,732) (923,131)
Other comprehensive (expense) income FEHME2E (BAX) E NRHE
for the year, net of tax
ltems that may be subsequently reclassified AGBAEFHEEZBREE
to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of BMEBINEBZEREZRE
foreign operations (325,341) 178,501
Other comprehensive (expense) income FEHME2E (FAX) K& NKRiE
for the year, net of tax (325,341) 178,501
Total comprehensive expenses for the year, FEXERAXRRE NKRHE
net of tax (4,008,073) (744,630)
Total comprehensive expenses attributable to: LA T AT E(E 2 mEFA &5
Owners of the Company RAEER A (2,512,320) (374,985)
Non-controlling interests IR (1,585,753) (369,645)
(4,098,073) (744,630)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
me BRI R

As at 31 December 20156 R—Z—AF+-A=+—H

2015 2014
—2-IfF —E—mE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt aE FERT FHET
Non-current assets EMEBEE
Property, plant and equipment LER =& 16 1,060,046 1,293,296
Mining rights PRuE R 17 7,977,311 11,399,038
Goodwill kS 18 - -
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, WY BB RaE#E 2
plant and equipment BEff&E 42,668 46,684
9,080,025 12,739,018
Current assets MBEE
Inventories "& 19 5,530 1,880
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E th fE R IE 20 101,824 82,777
Amount due from a related company FEY— FE B R B RO 21 9 9
Amount due from a director Bl —REERIEA 22 - 66
Derivative component of AMREREEZ
convertible loan notes PTETIERERS 27 - 11,340
Bank balances and cash IRITABR KRR S 23 34,461 40,632
141,824 136,704
Current liabilities mBAaRE
Trade and other payables B 5 N HAth B R 24 832,010 821,560
Amounts due to related companies FE 1 BEE A RIFRIB 21 321,448 454,058
Amount due to a non-controlling ER—HIFERER
interest holder BB AFE 25 2,745,260 1,793,016
Other borrowings EMEE 26 5,755 37,755
Liabilities component of convertible AMREREEZBERS
loan notes 27 121,587 -
Derivative component of convertible AMREREEZ
loan notes PTHET ALY 27 356,225 930,730
Promissory notes O R IE 31 217,963 -
Income tax liabilities FIEHar’ 6,947 6,752
4,607,195 4,043,871
Net current liabilities mEAEFE (4,465,371) (3,907,167)
Total assets less current liabilities BERLERTDEE 4,614,654 8,831,851
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e IR R

As at 31 December 20156 R—Z—AF+-A=+—H

2015 2014
—E-AF —ZT-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 FExT FET
Capital and reserves BEAR R FEE
Share capital &N 28 206,634 60,350
Convertible preference shares Al B (B S IR 29 - 19,887
Reserves [ER i (2,544,479) (3,071,653)
Equity attributable to owners of RAEEB AEE#EZ
the Company (2,337,845) (2,991,416)
Non-controlling interests FEIER S 2,945,506 4,531,259
Total equity s 607,661 1,539,843
Non-current liabilities ERBBEE
Amount due to a non-controlling B —&IFITFERER
interest holder BB ARIE 25 975,196 1,730,794
Provision for restoration, rehabilitation MR8 AS1E RIRIB R AN B
and environmental costs 30 67,497 67,933
Promissory notes AR 31 = 278,634
Liabilities component of AMREREECBERS
convertible loan notes 27 1,142,188 2,587,386
Other borrowing HMEE 26 31,284 -
Deferred tax liability EEFIEAE 32 1,790,828 2,627,261
4,006,993 7,292,008
4,614,654 8,831,851

The consolidated financial statements on pages 59 to 188 were approved

and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 21 March 2016 and

are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo
R=EZEEE
Director

EFE
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ERREE:

Mr. Huang Bogi
BERBEE
Director

BE



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEREER
For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RDAEEAEE
Convertible Exchange Share Statutory Non-
Share Share  preference  Contributed translation options surplus  Accumulated controlling
capital premium shares surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
bL ESRHE EERSR
BE  BRHEE BiR  4AAER B BRERE  OREBR  RHEE af  FERES At

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThT ThT FET TET T T T TER TER TER TER

(Note i) (Note i)
(Histi) (B i)
At 1 January 2014 RZZ-mE-A-A 28,970 4,408,676 21,071 419,111 8,567 29,545 850  (8,129,458)  (3212,668) 4,900,904 1,688,236
Loss for the year FEBR - - - - - - - (452,508)  (452,508) (470,608 (923,131)
Other comprehensive income FEEMZENS
for the year - - - - 77,523 - - - 77,523 100,978 178,501
Total comprehensive income FERENE (%)
(expenses) for the year 4% - - - - 7753 - - 452508 (374985 (369645 (744,630)
Issue of shares upon conversion of [ % A B IR
convertible preference shares EGL O 1,345 (161) (1,184) - - - - - - - -
Conversion of convertible SRTARERRE
loan notes 30,035 566,202 - - - - - - 596,237 - 596,237
At 31 December 2014 and RZE-ME
1 January 2015 +ZA=+-Bk
ZZ-R%-f-H 60,350 4,974,717 19,887 419,111 86,090 29,545 850  (8,581,966)  (2,991,416) 4,531,259 1,539,843
Loss for the year FEBR - - - - - - - (2373281)  (2,373281)  (1,399451) (3,772,732
Other comprehensive expenses FEEMZAEMY
for the year - - - - (139,039) - - - (139,039) (186,302) (325,341)
Total comprehensive expenses FERARXLE
for the year - - - - (139,039) - - AT3N8N)  (2512320) (1585753  (4098,073)
Issue of share options BERE - - - - - 41,007 - - 41,007 - 41,007
Issue of share upon: RO TEBMBETRR
- Placings ke 22,345 318,185 - - - - - - 340,530 - 340,530
- Expenses on issue shares R DLE - (3,575) - - - - - - (3,575) - (3,575)
- Interest capitalisation -FEERI 281 3,313 - - - - - - 3,504 - 3,504
~ Exercise of share options ~ e R 100 1,852 - - - (452) - - 1,500 - 1,500
- Conversion of convertible —HRTERELR
preference shares 21,852 (1,965) (19,887) - - - - - - - -
- Conversion of convertible —HETHRRERRR
loan notes 101,706 2,681,129 - - - - - - 2,782,835 - 2,782,835
At 31 December 2015 RZZ-1F
+=ZA=1+-B 206,634 7,973,656 - 419,111 (52,949) 70,100 850  (10,955,247)  (2,337,845) 2,945,506 607,661
Notes: B aE

) Contributed surplus represents the reduction of the Company’s issued share i)  BABRIEAQNR B BETRARGE R T8

capital upon cancellation of paid up share capital, and the deemed contribution Bz UREEFAEARBEFEREAR
from equity holder arisen from the waiver of promissory notes in previous years. AEEARERMRIETENSE-

i) Subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China have appropriated 10% of the profit i) FZE AR HKFEE X F#10%.2 & F B 5 E &

to the statutory surplus reserve which is required to be retained in the accounts of BRAEREE ARREARBRHNBARRE B
the subsidiaries for specific purposes. ERE-
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GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE =

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

—hFEF-A=1+—HILFE

2015 2014
—E-EE —
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FAET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES rREER
Loss before taxation FrBiAIES B (4,450,916) (1,100,171)
Adjustments for: BT IEE L A
Change in fair value of derivative component ﬂ?ﬁﬁi%?&%‘%ﬁ% PTHETH
of convertible loan notes A2 A FEES 786,373 (317,592)
Depreciation e 47,383 57,850
Finance costs BE KA 371,978 477,771
Impairment loss recognised in respect of MIREEER Z RERSE
mining rights 2,715,022 709,204
Impairment loss recognised in respect of ME BERSEERZ
property, plant and equipment BEEE 368,432 74,776
Impairment loss recognised in respect of B HEWGIEER
trade receivables WEEE 1,859 9,336
Impairment of goodwill BERE 2,352 -
Interest income FEWA (242) (158)
Gain on settlement of interest payable HEREAF B 2 W (477) -
Loss on redemption of B AR ERER BB
convertible loan notes 3,305 -
Gain on redemption of promissory notes B Ol H g2 W (2,398) -
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE BB RERE 2 W
plant and equipment (2,660) (508)
Share-based payment expenses f& 17 2 5 2 38,905 -
Written back of provision for litigation FREBEED - (16,073)
Recovery of other receivables previously U [B] 5 AT E 8 2 H Ath
written off U2 0E (35) (10,266)
Operating cash flows before movements Rt BESBHALE
in working capital ReRheE (121,119) (115,831)
Increase in inventories FEEM (8,650) (589)
(Increase) decrease in trade and E 5 K H th fE R IE
other receivables (38 n) w4 (20,774) 86,262
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 I H Ath JE - FOIBIE A0 65,656 44,692
Decrease in payables for ERREEEREERERD
mineral resources compensation fees - (142,168)
Refund of mineral resources ROBEEERBEE
compensation fees 5,967 -
Cash used in operations KEEBGRARS (73,920) (127,634)
Income tax paid EATFTEH 877) (524)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (8% %7 7 FI 5 & 7948 (74,297) (128,158)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

I‘l = }EEUWE%

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZ —ZE—RF+_-A=1+—HIFE
2015 2014
—E-EE — M F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETEH
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment WEEMZE  HE R&E (70,449) (188,890)
Net cash outflow from acquisition of WE—FRBARE& KL FE
a subsidiary (2,387) (650)
Advance to a director BRTF—RES - 3)
Interest received SR &I PEN 242 158
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME WMERXEREHRIE
plant and equipment 4,454 1,220
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZHFARLTE (68,140) (188,065)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES Eﬁﬁ;ﬁg
Advance from non-controlling interests KT IR = 1,145,885 926,984
Net proceeds from placing of shares E% B 17 P18 S IB F 88 336,955 -
Exercise of share options 1755 B A 1,500 -
Repayment to non-controlling interest holder BRTIHERERFAEA (789,841) (320,988)
Cash paid on redemptions of promissory notes ~ fEE& X ZHE T N2 RS (61,100) -
Cash paid on redemptions of BOARBREREEIN RS
convertible loan notes (70,200) -
Interest paid EARHE (321,656) (357,442)
(Repayment to) advance from (BROBRTHERA
related companies (106,150) 20,001
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES METBHFAEESFE 135,393 268,555
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERBESENRDF
CASH EQUIVALENTS (7,044) (47,668)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHAZHRERASEEY
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 40,632 88,941
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE IHERSB 2HE
CHANGES 873 (641)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZBSRBESEEY
AT END OF THE YEAR, FIRSRITHBRIR S
represented by bank balances and cash 34,461 40,632
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —AF+_A=+—HILFE
1.

GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability. The shares of the Company are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The addresses of the registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and principal place of business of
the Company are Units 2001-2, 20/F., Li Po Chun Chambers, 189 Des
Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the Company.
The directors of the Company consider HK$ is the appropriate
presentation currency for the users of the Group’s financial statements.
The functional currency of the Company is changed from Renminbi
(“RMB”) to HK$ in the current year since the management determine
that the Company is listed in Hong Kong and its fund raising and
treasury transactions are carried out in HK$. The functional currency of

the Company’s major subsidiaries are dominated in RMB.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
provision of finance and treasury service to the Group. During the year,
the Group were principally involved in systems integration services and
software solutions, geological survey, exploration and development of

coal deposits (mining operation) and sales of coking coal.

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the

Company have given consideration to the future liquidity of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL (CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$4,465,371,000 and the Group incurred a loss of
approximately HK$3,772,732,000 for the year ended 31 December
2015. The condition indicates the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern and therefore it may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. Nevertheless,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group will
have sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due for the next twelve months from 31 December 2015
as the directors had taken into consideration of the following facts and
circumstances:

i) As at 31 December 2015, included in the current liabilities of
the Group was derivative component of convertible loan notes
of approximately HK$356,225,000 which represented options
to entitle the holders to convert the convertible loan notes into
ordinary shares of the Company before the maturity dates of the
convertible loan notes and the early redemption option. Such
derivative component of convertible loan notes shall not result in
any cash outflow for the Group;

i) The related companies will not demand settlement of the amounts
due from the Group until it is in the financial position to do so;

i)  The subsequent net proceeds of approximately HK$374,800,000
arising from placing of 38,000,000,000 shares of the Company
completed on 18 March 2016; and

iv) As at 31 December 2015, the Group had loan facilities in
aggregate of RMB3,900,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,655,160,000 as at 31 December 2015) provided from a
non-controlling interest holder of a subsidiary of the Group (the
“Non-controlling Interest Holder”) of which, RMB3,116,924,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$3,720,456,000 as at 31
December 2015) is in use by the Group as at 31 December 2015.
The directors of the Company are not aware of any indication that
such facilities will be withdrawn and consider such facilities will
continue to be revolving in due time.

—REHR (&)
REUBHRRERHUEE (F)

R-ZE—RAFE+-A=+—8 A&£BHR
B) B & F 5 #)4,465,371,00058 7T & AN &= [ 7
HE-_ZT-—AF+-_A=+—BLFEE4L
E518493,772,732,000/8 7T ° L H 1 0B R T
EERATHEREZ AU ANEEETESR
PHELEBRERRE Bl ge AT
BEKBETFEREERBHEEE AR &
RNAESRAE ALEBHEERNEEES
BOTERBE-_Z—RF+-A=1+—Hist
KR+ AR BEET RAAES
BEERTINEE KM

) RZT—AF+ZA=+—H8 K&H
ZRBBERNREARRERERITE
T B4 #1356,225,0008 7T * AR T
BARAREE R EZE R BB A8 AT i
BRERZEHBARNR LB EE
ERIRPEEEZE  ZF I RBRER
EETETABSTSERAEHEGHR
AR SR

i) BERBEAEBRAEEFEREMNK
e HEAKBEZPBGRARTEESR
BRI

i)y "RZTZE—XNEZA+N\BRKESE
38,000,000,000/% A8 2 7] B 17 - A M &=
A P 15 50 T8 S H 5B £374,800,00058 7T ¢ K&

vy RZE—RAF+=-_A=+—HB &%
A4 £ AR%3,900,000,0007T (%
—EZ-HF+-A=+—BHRERY
4,655,160,000%8 L) 2 E @& - B A
SE-—HMBARI —BFEERER
BAEA(EERERITA AL R
R-_E-—AF+-_A=1+—8 %%&
FELE B A R%3,116,924,0007T (7
—EZ-RF+-A=+—BHRERY
3,720,456,0008 7)) I BB AN E B F A -
RAREFUIREBTMPRETZ
ERMEFEHE TRAZZEREHN
HERMEEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE
1.

GENERAL (CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

Accordingly, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that it
is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis. If adequate finance is not available, the Group
may be unable to meet its obligations as and when they fall due in
the foreseeable future. Should the Group be unable to continue to
operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to
write down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in

the consolidated financial statements.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, which include HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS(s)”), amendments and Interpretations (“Int(s)”),
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the

“HKICPA”).

Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012
HKFRSs Cycle

Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013
HKFRSs Cycle

Amendments to
HKAS 19

Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions

Except as described below, the application of the new and revised
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial performance and positions for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CONTINUED)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle include a
number of amendments to various HKFRSs, which are summarised

below.

The amendments to HKFRS 2 (i) change the definitions of ‘vesting
condition” and ‘market condition’; and (ii) add definitions for
‘performance condition’ and ‘service condition’ which were previously
included within the definition of ‘vesting condition’. The amendments to
HKFRS 2 are effective for share-based payment transactions for which
the grant date is on or after 1 July 2014.

The amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify that contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability should be measured at fair
value at each reporting date, irrespective of whether the contingent
consideration is a financial instrument within the scope of HKFRS 9
or HKAS 39 or a non-financial asset or liability. Changes in fair value
(other than measurement period adjustments) should be recognised in
profit and loss. The amendments to HKFRS 3 are effective for business

combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after 1 July 2014.

The amendments to HKFRS 8 (i) require an entity to disclose the
judgements made by management in applying the aggregation criteria
to operating segments, including a description of the operating
segments aggregated and the economic indicators assessed in
determining whether the operating segments have ‘similar economic
characteristics’; and (i) clarify that a reconciliation of the total of the
reportable segments’ assets to the entity’s assets should only be
provided if the segment assets are regularly provided to the chief

operating decision-maker.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE =
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CONTINUED)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle
(continued)

The amendments to the basis for conclusions of HKFRS 13 clarify
that the issue of HKFRS 13 and consequential amendments to HKAS
39 and HKFRS 9 did not remove the ability to measure short-term
receivables and payables with no stated interest rate at their invoice

amounts without discounting, if the effect of discounting is immaterial.

The amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 remove perceived
inconsistencies in the accounting for accumulated depreciation/
amortisation when an item of property, plant and equipment or an
intangible asset is revalued. The amended standards clarify that the
gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner consistent with the
revaluation of the carrying amount of the asset and that accumulated
depreciation/amortisation is the difference between the gross carrying
amount and the carrying amount after taking into account accumulated

impairment losses.

The amendments to HKAS 24 clarify that a management entity
providing key management personnel services to a reporting entity is a
related party of the reporting entity. Consequently, the reporting entity
should disclose as related party transactions the amounts incurred for
the service paid or payable to the management entity for the provision
of key management personnel services. However, disclosure of the

components of such compensation is not required.

The directors of the Company consider that the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle has had no material impact

in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HIFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CONTINUED)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle include a
number of amendments to various HKFRSs, which are summarised

below.

The amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify that the standard does not apply
to the accounting for the formation of all types of joint arrangement in

the financial statements of the joint arrangement itself.

The amendments to HKFRS 13 clarify that the scope of the portfolio
exception for measuring the fair value of a group of financial assets
and financial liabilities on a net basis includes all contracts that are
within the scope of, and accounted for in accordance with, HKAS 39
or HKFRS 9, even if those contracts do not meet the definitions of

financial assets or financial liabilities within HKAS 32.

The amendments to HKAS 40 clarify that HKAS 40 and HKFRS 3
are not mutually exclusive and application of both standards may be
required. Consequently, an entity acquiring investment property must

determine whether:

(@) the property meets the definition of investment property in terms of
HKAS 40; and

(b) the transaction meets the definition of a business combination
under HKFRS 3.

The amendments are applied prospectively. The directors of the
Company consider that the application of the amendments to
HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle has had no material impact in the Group’s

consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2. BRAMAIRKETEBMBRE

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CONTINUED)

Part 9 of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)

In addition, the annual report requirements of Part 9 “Accounts and
Audit” of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) come into
operation during the financial year. As a result, there are changes to
presentation and disclosures of certain information in the consolidated

financial statements.
New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments?

ZR(BEEMBRELEN R
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HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendment to HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 16 and
HKAS 38

Amendments to
HKAS 16 and
HKAS 41

Amendments to
HKAS 27

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2012-2014 Cycle!

Disclosure Initiative'

Clarification of acceptable Methods of

Depreciation and Amortisation’

Agriculture: Bearer Plants'

Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Investment Entities: Applying the

Consolidation Exception'

Amendments to
HKFRS 11

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
in Joint Operations'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

3 Effective date not yet been determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as described
below, the application of the other new and revised HKFRSs will have

no material impact on the results and financial position of the Group.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9 was
amended in 2010 and includes the requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition. In 2013,
HKFRS 9 was further amended to bring into effect a substantial
overhaul of hedge accounting that will allow entities to better
reflect their risk management activities in the financial statements.
A finalised version of HKFRS 9 was issued in 2014 to incorporate
all the requirements of HKFRS 9 that were issued in previous years
with limited amendments to the classification and measurement
by introducing a “fair value through other comprehensive income”
(“FVTOCI”) measurement category for certain financial assets. The
finalised version of HKFRS 9 also introduces an “expected credit loss”

model for impairment assessments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —hAF+_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 (2014) are described as follows:

74

HKFRS 9 requires all recognised financial assets that are within
the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement are subsequently measured at amortised cost or
fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a
business model whose objective is to collect the contractual
cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are
generally measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent
accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held within a
business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting
cash flows and selling financial assets, and that have contractual
terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, are measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income. All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at their fair values at the end of
subsequent reporting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities
may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes
in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for
trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income
generally recognised in profit or loss.

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated
as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS 9 requires that
the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is
presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition
of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value of financial
liabilities attributable to changes in the financial liabilities’ credit
risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under
HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the
financial liability designated as fair value through profit or loss was
presented in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —AF+_A=1+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

e In the aspect of impairment assessments, the impairment
requirements relating to the accounting for an entity’s expected
credit losses on its financial assets and commitments to extend
credit were added. Those requirements eliminate the threshold
that was in HKAS 39 for the recognition of credit losses. Under
the impairment approach in HKFRS 9 (2014) it is no longer
necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses
are recognised. Instead, expected credit losses and changes in
those expected credit losses should always be accounted for. The
amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition and,
consequently, more timely information is provided about expected

credit losses.

e HKFRS 9 introduces a new model which is more closely aligns
hedge accounting with risk management activities undertaken
by companies when hedging their financial and non-financial risk
exposures. As a principle-based approach, HKFRS 9 looks at
whether a risk component can be identified and measured and
does not distinguish between financial items and non-financial
items. The new model also enables an entity to use information
produced internally for risk management purposes as a basis
for hedge accounting. Under HKAS 39, it is necessary to exhibit
eligibility and compliance with the requirements in HKAS 39 using
metrics that are designed solely for accounting purposes. The new
model also includes eligibility criteria but these are based on an
economic assessment of the strength of the hedging relationship.
This can be determined using risk management data. This should
reduce the costs of implementation compared with those for
HKAS 39 hedge accounting because it reduces the amount of
analysis that is required to be undertaken only for accounting

purposes.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) will become effective for annual periods beginning on

or after 1 January 2018 with early application permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS 9
(2014) in the future may have significant impact on amounts reported in
respect of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities. However,
it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of that effect until

a detailed review has been completed.
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
Thus, HKFRS 15 introduces a model that applies to contracts
with customers, featuring a contract-based five-step analysis of
transactions to determine whether, how much and when revenue is

recognised. The five steps are as follows:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations

in the contract

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a

performance obligation
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(continued)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)

HKFRS 15 also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the financial
statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of

revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.

HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance
including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the

related Interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 15 will become effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018 with early application permitted. The directors of
the Company anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 in the future
may have a material impact on the amounts reported and disclosures
made in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. However, it is
not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS

15 until the Group performs a detailed review.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments clarify that companies should use professional
judgement in determining what information as well as where and
in what order information is presented in the financial statements.
Specifically, an entity should decide, taking into consideration all
relevant facts and circumstances, how it aggregates information in
the financial statements, which include the notes. An entity does
not require to provide a specific disclosure required by a HKFRS if
the information resulting from that disclosure is not material. This is
the case even if the HKFRS contain a list of specific requirements or

describe them as minimum requirements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—HF+_A=+—HILtFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(continued)

2.

FERFTR] RAIERT B R M B R E
ZR(BEEMBRELEN R
MEBQRRD (&)

E SRR B 15 R AE R 2 #a] R &8
AEBMBEREER (&)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative (continued) BRAGFTEREIR 2 BT HETE
( =8 )
Besides, the amendments provide some additional requirements for LN R FEFI M2 FEINRKIER FER

presenting additional line items, headings and subtotals when their
presentation is relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial
position and financial performance respectively. Entities, in which
they have investments in associates or joint ventures, are required to
present the share of other comprehensive income of associates and
joint ventures accounted for using the equity method, separated into
the share of items that (i) will not be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss; and (i) will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when

specific conditions are met.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify that:

() an entity should consider the effect on the understandability and
comparability of its financial statements when determining the

order of the notes; and

(i) significant accounting policies are not required to be disclosed in
one note, but instead can be included with related information in

other notes.

The amendments will become effective for financial statements
with annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Earlier
application is permitted. The directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of Amendments to HKAS 1 in the future may have a
material impact on the disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ =&
2.

—hFtZA=1T—HLFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 Clarification of
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

The amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit entities from using a revenue-
based depreciation method for items of property, plant and equipment.
The amendments to HKAS 38 introduce a rebuttable presumption that
revenue is not an appropriate basis for amortisation of an intangible
asset. This presumption can only be rebutted in the following two

limited circumstances:

a) when the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue;

or

b) when it can be demonstrated that revenue and consumption of the

economic benefits of the intangible asset are highly correlated.

The amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2016. Currently, the Group uses the straight-
line method for depreciation and amortisation for its property, plant
and equipment, and intangible assets respectively. The directors of the
Company believe that the straight-line method is the most appropriate
method to reflect the consumption of economic benefits inherent in the
respective assets and accordingly, the directors of the Company do
not anticipate that the application of these amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38 will have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE =
2.

—hFEFT_A=1T—HLFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(continued)
Annual Improvement to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle include a
number of amendments to various HKFRSs, which are summarised

below.

The amendments to HKFRS 5 clarify that changing from one of the
disposal methods (i.e. disposal through sale or disposal through
distribution to owners) to the other should not be considered to be
a new plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan.
There is therefore no interruption of the application of the requirements
in HKFRS 5. Besides, the amendments also clarify that changing the

disposal method does not change the date of classification.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 clarify that a servicing contract that
includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement in a financial
asset. An entity must assess the nature of the fee and arrangement
against the guidance for continuing involvement in HKFRS 7 in order
to assess whether the additional disclosures for any continuing
involvement in a transferred asset that is derecognised in its entirety
are required. Besides, the amendments to HKFRS 7 also clarify
that disclosures in relation to offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities are not required in the condensed interim financial report,
unless the disclosures provide a significant update to the information

reported in the most recent annual report.

The amendments to HKAS 19 clarify that the market depth of high
quality corporate bonds is assessed based on the currency in which
the obligation is denominated, rather than the country where the
obligation is located. When there is no deep market for high quality
corporate bonds in that currency, government bond rates must be

used.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
NEW HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(continued)
Annual Improvement to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle (continued)

The amendments to HKAS 34 clarify the requirements relating to
information required by HKAS 34 that is presented elsewhere within
the interim financial report but outside the interim financial statements.
The amendments require that such information be incorporated by way
of a cross-reference from the interim financial statements to the other
part of the interim financial report that is available to users on the same

terms and at the same time as the interim financial statements.

The directors do not anticipate that the application of the amendments
included in the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle
will have a material effect on the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock

Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as

explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration

given in exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —AF+_A=+—HILFE
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in the principal
(or most advantageous) market between market participants at the
measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit price)
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the
scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2

or value in use in HKAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,

which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly

or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ =&

3.

—hFtZA=1T—HLFE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company

and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:
e has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement

with the investee; and
e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of

the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in

an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size

and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or

other parties;
* rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,

including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—AF+_A=+—HILFE
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the
fair value of any retained interest and (i) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations

Businesses combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs incurred to effect a business

combination are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the

liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed in the business combination are recognised

and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes;

e assets or liabilities related to the acquiree’s employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
transactions of the acquiree or the replacement of the acquiree’s
share-based payment transactions with the share-based payment
transactions of the Group are measured in accordance with

HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that

standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree, and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised

immediately in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e WIS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—AF+_A=+—HILFE
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

Non-controlling interests, unless as required by another standards,
are measured at acquisition-date fair value except for non-controlling
interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are measured either at fair value or at the present ownership
instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the

acquiree’s identifiable net assets on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at cost less

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of
the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units)

that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when there is indication
that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less
than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and
then to the other assets of the unit on a pro rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for
goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss

recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.
On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable

amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of

profit or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments in subsidiaries

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated impairment loss. The
results of the subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the

basis of dividends received and receivable.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold in the

normal course of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Service income is recognised in the period when the services are
provided, using a straight-line basis over the term of the contract for
the contracted period or using a fixed rate charged on the service

provided to its customers.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are
delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the following

conditions are satisfied:

the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and

rewards of ownership of the goods;

e the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to
the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control

over the goods sold;

e the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

e it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the

transaction will flow to the Group; and

e the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction

can be measured reliably.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of
income can be measured reliably. Interest income from a financial asset
is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial

recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE =%

3.

—hFEF-A=1+—HILFE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the
fair value of share options granted at the date of grant is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period and recognised as an
expense in full at the grant date when the share options granted vest
immediately, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options

reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact
of the revision of the original estimates during the vesting period, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects
the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share options

reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in share options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share

options reserve will continue to be held in share options reserve.

Share options granted to business associate

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services are measured
at the fair values of the goods or services received unless that fair
value cannot be reliably measured, in which case the goods or services
received are measured by reference to the fair value of the share
options granted. The fair values of the goods or services received
are recognised as expenses, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve), when the Group obtains the goods or when the
counterparties render services, unless the goods or services qualify for

recognition as assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZ =%

3.

—hFtZA=1T—HLFE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings (classified as finance
leases) held for use in supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment (other than properties under
construction) less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted

for on a prospective basis.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment in
the course of construction for production or for its own use purposes.
Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Such construction in progress is classified to
the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the

assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in

the profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE =%

3.

—hFEF-A=1+—HILFE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms

of historical cost in a foreign currency are not translated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in

profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
the exchange translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interest

as appropriate).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange

differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Mining rights

Mining rights are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (see the accounting policy in respect
of impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets below).
Amortisation for mining rights is recognised on the units of production
method based on the total proven and probable reserves of the mine
or contractual period from the date of commencement of commercial
production which approximates the date from which they are available

for use.

Cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of financial

position comprise cash at banks and on hand.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits, as defined

above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

3.

EREEBGR (#)

PRuE

SRAHE SR AR RE M H R R AR E S R
(F2MTXEMERRERAEREESR
2 BHER) SR - R B D R R T4
W B IR E R ADAE R M S R
A 68 A B ARE ZIRA T 3 B AR
2B NF R -

BeRAEEEY
BARBRARNZ BRITEBRASBER
TRFERS -

BEEARERERME RELASFEY
BELXAEZREREREFR (HEKE
BIRITEX)

£RITA
EEEERN LRI AL NIEITNS
BRGAMBRNEARRLBEERSRE

f&e

CHEELEMABEERRATENE W
BaEoemEERSRAR (RAFER
ANEZZERMEENERMABBERIN BEE
BZRGRANRERERRHTASREEN
SREE(RERBERME) ZAFE KK
TR KBEATEFABRRZEREE
HEMBBEREIE ZXHKRAANERER

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 2015 F F 3




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE =%

3.

—hFEF-A=1+—HILFE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into the following specified
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)
and loans and receivables. The classification depends on the nature
and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by

regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter

period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt

instruments.

Financial assets as FVTPL
Financial assets at FVTPL has two sub-categories, including financial
assets held for trading and those designated as at FVTPL on initial

recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term; or

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent

actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e |t is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging

instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets as FVTPL (continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be

designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

e such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise

arise; or

e the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or
financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its performance
is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment strategy, and
information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;

or

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire combined contract

(asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes in
fair value arising from remeasurement recognised directly in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial
assets and is included in the other gains and losses line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 6.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade
and other receivables, amount due from a related company, amount
due from a director and bank balances and cash) are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on

financial assets below).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e WIS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—AF+_A=+—HILFE
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets

Financial assets other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators
of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial

assets have been affected.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could

include:
e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

e breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or

principal payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or

financial re-organisation; or

e disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because

of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade and other
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually
are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an
increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
credit period from 30 to 180 days, observable changes in national or

local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash

flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment
loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade and
other receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the
use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade and
other receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
losses was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amounts
due to related companies, amount due to a non-controlling interest
holder, promissory notes and other borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE =%

3.

—hFEF-A=1+—HILFE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expenses over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form as integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Convertible loan notes

Convertible loan notes issued by the Group that contain both liability
and conversion option components are classified separately into
respective items on initial recognition. Conversion option that will
be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is a conversion option derivative. At the date of issue, both
the liability and conversion option components are recognised at fair

value.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible loan
notes is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The conversion option derivative together with other embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value

recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan notes
are allocated to the liability and derivative components in proportion
to their relative fair values. Transaction costs relating to the derivative
components are charged to profit or loss immediately. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in the carrying
amount of the liability portion and amortised over the period of the

convertible loan notes using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZ =%

3.

—hFtZA=1T—HLFE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Convertible preference shares

Convertible preference shares are classified as equity if it is non-
redeemable and any dividends are discretionary. Dividends on
convertible preference shares classified as equity are recognised as

distributions within equity.

Embedded derivatives

Derivative embedded in non-derivative host contracts are treated as
separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative, their
risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host
contracts and the host contracts are not measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the
asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognises an

associated liability.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group’s obligation are discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of inventories are calculated using the weighted average method
for its mining products and first-in-first out method for its systems
integration services and software solutions products. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling prices for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e WIS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE =%

3.

—hFEFT-A=1T—HLFE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives other than goodwill (see the accounting
policy in respect of goodwill above)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent

allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows

have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately

in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised as income immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to

them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the

related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses
or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become

receivable.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable

and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” as reported in the
consolidated profit or loss because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those

deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE =%

3.

—hFEF-A=1+—HILFE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the

foreseeable future.

Deferred tax liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period in which the liability is settled based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

end of the reporting period.
Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the

lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis
is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits

from the leased asset are consumed.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the PRC government retirement benefit scheme pursuant
to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong
are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service

entitling them to the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZ =%

3.

—hFtZA=1T—HLFE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Short-term employee henefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect
of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period the
related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits

expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be

paid in exchange for the related service.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are

substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they are incurred.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised
as a provision, is the best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking

into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

Provision for restoration, rehabilitation and environmental
costs

Provisions for the Group’s restoration, rehabilitation and environmental
expenses are based on estimates of required expenditure to restore the
sites of Group’s mines in accordance with PRC rules and regulations.
The Group estimates its liabilities for final reclamation and mine closure
based upon detailed calculations of the amount and timing of the
future cash expenditure to perform the required work, escalated for
inflation, then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability such that the amount of provision reflects the present value of

the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be

relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision

affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimation (see below), that the directors have made in the process
of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in consolidated financial

statements.

Going concern basis
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the basis as set out

in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting
policies (continued)

Control over subsidiaries

The Group owns 49% equity interest in L FaE B HEBEETREE
2B MR A R (“Shanxi Coal”). The Group’s ownership of 49% equity
interest in Shanxi Coal gives the Group the same percentage of the
voting rights in Shanxi Coal. The Group’s 49% equity interest in Shanxi
Coal was acquired on 7 June 2013 and there has been no change
in the Group’s ownership in Shanxi Coal since then. The remaining
51% of the registered capital of Shanxi Coal is owned by two equity
interest holders, who holds 41% and 10% respectively (the “Other
Shareholders”). The directors of the Company made an assessment
as at the date of completion of acquisition as to whether or not the
Group has control over Shanxi Coal in accordance with the definition of
control and the related guidance set out in HKFRS 10.

The directors of the Company concluded that it has had control over
Shanxi Coal since the completion of acquisition on 7 June 2013 on
the basis that under the amendments made to the memorandum and
articles of association of Shanxi Coal on 21 December 2009, the Other
Shareholders are only able to appoint four directors while the Group
are able to appoint five directors out of nine on the board of directors
of Shanxi Coal through its wholly owned subsidiaries and a resolution
to be passed by the board of directors of Shanxi Coal requires a simple
majority. Upon Shanxi Coal were effectively acquired by the Group
on 7 June 2013, the Group is able to control the decision making
of the board of directors of Shanxi Coal through its wholly owned

subsidiaries.

In addition, all the shareholders of Shanxi Coal agreed that they
will approve the plans and proposals, including operating and
investment plan, financial budgeting, profit appropriation, extraction
of discretionary reserve and the issuance of bonds, proposed by
the board of directors of Shanxi Coal. Accordingly, Shanxi Coal is

accounted for as subsidiary of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE
4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking into account their
estimated residual values. The determination of the useful lives and
residual values involve management’s estimation. The Group assesses
annually the residual values and the useful lives of the property,
plant and equipment and if the expectation differs from the original
estimates, such a difference may impact the depreciation in the year

and the estimate will be changed in the future period.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group tests at the reporting date whether property, plant
and equipment have suffered any impairment in accordance with
accounting policies stated in Note 3. Determining whether property,
plant and equipment are impaired requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment. Such
estimation was based on certain assumptions, which are subject to
uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results. These
calculations require the use of estimates such as the future revenue

and discount rates.

As at 31 December 2015, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment are approximately HK$1,060,046,000 net of
accumulated depreciation and impairment of HK$596,669,000 (2014:
HK$1,293,296,000, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment of
HK$195,857,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZ =%
4.

—hFtZA=1T—HLFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of mining rights

Under the full cost method of accounting for mining rights, such
costs are capitalised by reference to appropriate cost pools, and
are assessed for impairment when circumstances suggest that the
carrying amount may exceed its recoverable value. This assessment
involves judgement as to (i) the likely future commerciality of the
asset and when such commerciality should be determined; and (i)
future revenues and costs pertaining to the asset in question, and the
discount rate to be applied to such revenues and costs for the purpose
of deriving a recoverable value. While conducting an impairment
review of its assets, the Group makes certain judgements in making
assumptions about the future product prices, reserves and future
development and production costs. Changes in these estimates may
result in significant changes to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss. As at 31 December 2015, the carrying amount of mining right is
HK$7,977,311,000, net of accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses of HK$3,601,142,000. (2014: HK$11,399,038,000 net of

accumulated amortisation and impairment losses of HK$944,165,000).

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the
value-in-use of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) to which goodwill
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2015, the carrying
amount of goodwill is nil, net of accumulated impairment loss of
HK$3,676,679,000. (2014: nil, net of accumulated impairment loss of
HK$3,674,327,000). Details of the recoverable amount calculation are

disclosed in Note 18.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE
4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade receivables
When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group takes
into consideration the estimation of future cash flows. The amount of
the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the assets’
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition). Where the actual future
cash receipts are less than expected, a material impairment loss
may arise. As at 31 December 2015, the carrying amount of trade
receivable is HK$27,429,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$23,591,000) (2014: carrying amount of HK$23,980,000, net of
allowance for doubtful debts of HK$22,744,000).

Mine reserves

Engineering estimates of the Group’s mine reserves are inherently
imprecise and represent only approximate amounts because of the
subjective judgements involved in developing such information. There
are authoritative guidelines regarding the engineering criteria that
have to be met before estimated mine reserves can be designated
as “proven” and “probable”. Proven and probable mine reserve
estimates are updated on regular intervals taking into account recent
production and technical information about each mine. In order to
calculate reserves, estimates and assumptions are required about
a range of geological, technical and economic factors, including
quantities, grades, production techniques, recovery rates, production
costs, transport costs, commodity demand and commodity prices.
In addition, as prices and cost levels change from year to year, the
estimate of proven and probable mine reserves also changes. This
change is considered a change in estimate for accounting purposes
and is reflected on a prospective basis in related amortisation rates and

impairment of mining rights.

Despite the inherent imprecision in these engineering estimates,
these estimates are used in determining depreciation expenses and
impairment losses. The capitalised cost of mining rights is depreciated
over the estimated unit of production. The estimated unit of production
are reviewed annually in accordance with the production plans of the

Group and the proven and probable reserves of the mines.

NORTH ASIA RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ it 5 E/FRIER G R A 7

AREeTHAEHRETFTRES
FERR (F)

T TREEZETERER (F)
HE S EWFIERZ ZRERE
WL REBR TEER AEEGEE
et RRRERE- BEBEREEREDE
HREMEERERMEX (B ERERES
H2ERME) R A RRASRERE
(TBEEREEZ RREEEE) 2 Z/aT
B MARERRS WA DRTER - BIFT 48
FERBEEBER RZE—AF+=-A=+—
H &5 &YW RIE 2 BRE (B /27,429,000
70 (0B R BR # 523,591,0008 L) (=%
—PU4E : BRTEI{E23,980,000/8 7T » 1Bk R BR &
{#22,744,000% 7T ) °

BE#Z

MR AEEBEEE TRETREE SR
EEHE R TREHASL TRERE EA
BOSE - NEHBREEAET A [ER)
R 8e) ol BRAEBIREGZE A
B3l - REAR ARG R 2 (e BT HEH -
Wi REBETHES RBITER 5t E
B BT RITREESEEERRE
HEBR ZERELEES QI £ER
i EEE  AEERA EHKA FHRBER
RS ER o iL5h - A ER R AT B4
B WEB R ARG e
B ITREBE BB ARG R
SRR B S A AR 8 R R SRR AR A -

ERZETREFAZFATIBE BERRE
ENMEFRXRRERE - REEZERK
AREFFEEEMFTE - Bt EEEURE
AEEEEFNLBERRARATEHFES
FIRA o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B EZ —E—RF+-A=1+—HIFE
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4, BREFTHEREFTIEESEZ

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimation of current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters are different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current and deferred income tax provisions in the
period in which such determinations are made. As at 31 December
2015, the carrying amount of income tax liabilities is approximately
HK$6,947,000 (2014: HK$6,752,000) and deferred tax liabilities of
approximately HK$1,790,828,000 (2014: HK$2,627,261,000).

Fair value of derivative component of convertible loan notes

The directors of the Company use their judgement in selecting an
appropriate valuation technique for financial instruments not quoted
in an active market. Valuation techniques commonly used by market
practitioners are applied. For derivative components of the convertible
loan notes, assumptions are made based on quoted market rates
adjusted for specific features of the instrument. As at 31 December
2015, the carrying amount of derivative components of convertible loan
notes recognised as current assets is HK$ nil (2014: HK$11,340,000)
and the carrying amount of derivative components of convertible
loan notes recognised as current liabilities is HK$356,225,000 (2014:
HK$930,730,000).

FERR (F)

R TREEZETERE (F)
B HA 2 IR 2 P15 B A 5T
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BRFESETHIEEEL NEE 2R 5 &G
B MHEEEZERBBEREERLE
%@Kﬁy%ﬁ@%%@%%%ﬁ%%#i
Mz RBETERERHEE R
$+:H7+—E'%%MEEZ$EE%
56,947,000 7T, ( —=F — P4 : 6,752,000/
JT) RFERIE B E 4 /&1,790,828,0007% 7T
(== —pu4% :2,627,261,000/8 7T ) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4, BREFTHEREFTIEESEZ

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision for restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs
The provision for restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs
has been determined by the management of the Group based on their
best estimates. The management of the Group estimated this liability
for final reclamation and mine closure based upon detailed forecast of
the amounts and timing of future cash flows for a third party to perform
work, escalated for inflation, then discounted at a discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability, such that the provision reflects the
present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. However, the estimate of the associated expenditures
may be subject to change due to new government environmental
policy in the future. The provision is reviewed regularly to ensure that
it properly reflects the present value of the obligation arising from the
mining activities. As at 31 December 2015, the carrying amount of
provision for restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs was
HK$67,497,000 (2014: HK$67,933,000).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The

Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts (which
included convertible loan notes disclosed in Note 27, other borrowing
disclosed in Note 26, amounts due to related companies disclosed
in Note 21, amount due to a non-controlling interest holder disclosed
in Note 25, promissory notes disclosed in Note 31, net of cash and
cash equivalents) and equity attributable to owners of the Company
(comprising issued share capital, convertible preference shares and
reserves). The directors of the Company review the capital structure
monthly. As a part of this review, the directors of the Company consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on the recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through new share issues and share buy-

backs as well as issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

NORTH ASIA RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ it 5 E/FRIER G R A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE
6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

eHMIA
(@ EMIEZDE

2015 2014
—ZE—EHF T —pF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Financial assets EWMEE
Loans and receivables (including cash B3 M EWFIE (BFEEHE &
and cash equivalents) REHEEY) 130,242 118,857
FVTPL derivative BAFEFABREZITETA - 11,340
Financial liabilities E =R
Amortised cost B SH P AN 6,348,728 7,672,071
FVTPL derivative BAFEFABREZITETA 356,225 930,730

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, amount due from a related company, amount
due from a director, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, convertible loan notes, other borrowings, promissory
notes, amounts due to related companies and amount due
to a non-controlling interest holder. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

b) HEEREEEERBEE

AEEZIZEMTIARERES REM
FEMRIE - AR —FE BiE R B RRIR - B
—REEFR ROTEHRLEES BHR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE
6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6.
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

£RITH (&)
b) HEEBREEEERBEE

(continued)

Market risk

Currency risk

Certain financial assets are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the respective group companies.

The following table shows the Group’s exposure at the end of
the reporting period to currency risk arising from transactions or
recognised assets denominated in a currency (HK$ and US$) other

(%)

™5 A b

HEES
ETeMAENEEARRANLEY
BASh 2z B EHE -

TRETARBERREHRAAEL AE
BABDESE (ARBI)UIIZES
(BREEREL)MEZ RS AEEREE

than the functional currency (RMB) of the entity to which they FTELZ EBEAR-
relate.
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
R-ZE—HF RZZE—F
+=Z—BA=+-8A +ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Assets BE
- HK$ —BTT 5,468 15,018
- USs$ —%7T 3,620 5,216
9,088 20,234
Liabilities afE
- HK$ BT 116,355 2,462,910
- US$ —E7T 339,550 624,824
455,905 3,087,734

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 December 2015, assets and liabilities denominated
in US$ arise mainly from entities with functional currencies
denominated in HK$ (2014: RMB). For the sensitivity analysis
related to the currency risk of US$, as HK$ is pegged to USS,
management considered the foreign currency risk exposed to
these US$ assets and liabilities is insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE
6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6.

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

¢RI A (&)
(b) MEEREEBFERBXK

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

As at 31 December 2015, the Group is mainly exposed to the
currency of HK$ (2014: HK$ and US$).

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase
and decrease in the functional currencies of the relevant group
entities against the relevant foreign currencies. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year end
for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number
below indicates a decrease in loss after tax where the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities strengthen by 5% against
the relevant currency. For a 5% weakening of group entity’s
functional currency against HK$, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the loss after tax, and the balances below

would be negative.

HEEBBEZTE

Impact on loss for the year

(#&)

miZE bk (%)

BHmE (&

WREE D (&)
RZE—AF+-A=+—8 K£E
FTERUETEBRER (ZT—MNF:
BT RET) °

TRHAVAEELAAEEER 28
S AEINETHE K2 E5%.2 8k
E-BRESMEBBERBINEEL
BEIAE - AEREEE%HRENFLH

B2 BE B LB G THES % IR 11
BEBERL -HEHEEEERE 2GRS
WHBTTEESY  ASBRBREBERBX
RESBRHERTE MU TERER
B

2015 2014
—E-AF —F-mEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET
4,158 91,796

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate amounts due to related companies (see Note 21), other
borrowings (see Note 26), convertible loan notes (see Note 27)

and promissory notes (see Note 31).

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate amounts due to non-controlling interest holder (see

Note 25) and bank balances.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management monitors interest rate exposure and
will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the

need arise.

FIEm b
REBHEEARESEMNBERRRA
(RH21) EfuE & (RKfF26) - 7
BRERER (R E27) A K RE
(RFES3) Z X FEMERR -

AEBETEE AT SN IFERER
A AFIE (RHE25) RRT1THERZIR
SRBMEER -

7 5 [ 3R 05 T 48 A ) ) R SO AR @ X
i BEREEEENEAR YEREFE
iR 2 8 4 ) 8 K N K LB -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—E—HF+_A=+—HILtFE
6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6.

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

e IA (&)
() HBEREEEBRREXR

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate amount due to non-
controlling interest holder and bank balances, and the analysis
is prepared assuming amount due to non-controlling interest
holder and bank balances at the end of each reporting period
was outstanding for the whole year. The basis point increase
or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents management’s

assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

50 basis points have been used for variable-rate amount due to

non-controlling interest holder and bank balances.

For variable-rate amount due to non-controlling interest holder
and bank balances, if the interest rates had been 50 basis points
(2014: 50 basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s loss after tax and accumulated losses
would increase/decrease by approximately HK$13,822,000 (2014:
HK$13,062,000).

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that debtors will default on their
obligations to repay the amounts owing to the Group, resulting in
a loss to the Group. The maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event that the counterparties fail to perform their obligations at
the end of the financial year in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in

the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B EZ —E—RF+-A=1+—HIFE
6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6.

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

¢RI A (&)
(b) MEEREEBFERBXK

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has no significant credit risks as it has policies in
place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to
customers with appropriate credit history. The Group has adopted
a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties, where
appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss
from defaults. The Group only transacts with entities with good

repayment history.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk
by customer, with exposure spreading over a number of

counterparties and customers.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical locations
is mainly in the PRC with exposure spreading over a number of
customers, which accounted for all trade receivables for both
years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by

international credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and

mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had net current liabilities
of HK$4,465,371,000. The directors of the Company have given
careful consideration on the measures currently undertaken in
respect of the Group’s liquidity position. As detailed in Note 1
to the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company believe that the Company will be able to operate as a

going concern.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. €EF T H (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies b) BERBEEEEREE
(continued) (&)

RBEEERE (&)

TRIEHTEERRFII R EBIEITES
BEES TAONBER  ZRBEAR
EESTARERNKANZEREE
ZRURRERERY - RFPRENE

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the
agreed repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based on

the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the

earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table RESHERE-
includes both interest and principal cash flows.
Liquidity risk tables HEE T E R
More than More than
1 year but 2 years but less Total Carrying
Within 1 year or less than than  undiscounted amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years cash flows 31 December
Rt+=A
—ERg —FH0E MERL KRR =t-A2
EZX BRAER BREFR BRERELE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FAR FET FaR
2015 ZT-AHF
Non-derivative financial liabilities 3fT4£¢RMEE
Trade and other payables B REEMTE 788,047 - - 788,047 788,047
Amounts due to related companies & f B & A A1 FUE 321,448 - - 321,448 321,448
Amounts due to a non-controlling R — &I LR ER
interest holder BEARE 2,892,596 1,036,150 - 3,928,746 3,720,456
Other borrowings HipfEE 8,723 32,872 - 41,595 37,039
Promissory notes AL ER 227,379 - - 227,379 217,963
Convertible loan notes HREEHEE 133,862 - 1,420,388 1,554,250 1,263,775
4,372,055 1,069,022 1,420,388 6,861,465 6,348,728
2014 —E-ImEF
Non-derivative financial liabilities 3fT4-¢RMEE
Trade and other payables BoREMENTE 790,428 - - 790,428 790,428
Amounts due to related companies & f B & A A1 FUE 455,522 - - 455,522 454,058
Amounts due to a non-controlling R — &I EE R ER
interest holder BEARE 2,051,260 1,611,014 201,264 3,863,538 3,523,810
Other borrowings g 38,539 - - 38,539 37,755
Promissory notes EREE 28,080 251,287 - 279,367 278,634
Convertible loan notes HRREHRE 28,080 462,434 3,013,886 3,504,400 2,587,386
3,391,909 2,324,735 3,215,150 8,931,794 7,672,071
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZ =%

6.

—hFtZA=1T—HLFE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts
of current financial assets and current financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost approximate their fair values due to their immediate or
short-term maturities.

The directors of the Company also consider that the fair values
of the long-term portion of financial assets and financial liabilities
approximates to their carrying amounts.

The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities is
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices or rates from
observable current market transactions.

Derivative component of convertible loan notes

The fair value of the derivative component of convertible loan notes is
determined by the inputs to Black-Scholes model with trinomial tree
method including spot price, risk free rate, expected option period and
expected volatility. Please refer to Note 27 for the details of the inputs.

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are
measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into
Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

e |Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or
liabilities.

e level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs
other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

e Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation
techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

There were no transfers among level 1, 2 and 3 in the current and prior
years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—E—HF+_A=+—HILtFE
6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6.

Fair value (continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position (continued)

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the only financial instrument
measured at fair value was the derivative component of convertible

loan notes which belongs to level 3 financial instruments.

TWMIA (&)

NEE(E)
RESTBRRERER 2 DAFE
sTE (&)

RIEBE-—RAFER-_ZE—NFEF+A=+—
E’%—§“$EHEZ%@IE%ﬂ%%
BERZERZTETIASD BRE-ELE
TH-

Fair value Valuation techniques and
Financial instrument Fair value as at hierarchy significant key or unobservable inputs
$RIA RTSIRBZATE NVERE REANRTERRATTHEGAHE
31/12/2015 31/12/2014
—2-1f% —E2-mF
tZA=+-B tZA=T-H
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T
Derivative component of
convertible loan notes
ARERZEZITETATA
- Financial assets - 11,340 Level 3 Valuation technique: Black-Scholes model with trinomial tree method
-SREE £-FE B R - TRr-E BT RETERE R=BEARREEE
Key observable inputs:
BRUBREANE:
Risk-free rate N/A (2014: 0.40%)
ERBANE TR (ZT-W%:040%)
Effective interest rate N/A (2014: 11.00%)
ERFE TER(ZT—WEF:11.00%)
Key unobservable inputs:
BRIAIBEZBANE:
\olatility N/A (2014: 47.00%) (Note i)
RIE THEA(Z5-MF:47.00%) (KF)
- Financial liabilities (356,225) (930,730)  Level3 Valuation technique: Black-Scholes model with trinomial tree method
-SRaR F-E B R - TRn- BN RETERE R=EAB B

Key observable inputs:

BRIBREAZE:

Risk-free rate
EERHNE

0.46%-0.75% (2014: 0.40%-1.15%)
0.46%-0.75% ( = F— M4 :0.40%-1.15% )

Effective interest rate 12.59%-13.04% (2014: 10.00%-11.00%)

BB

12.59%-13.04% ( ZZ—T£ :10.00%-11.00% )

Key unobservable inputs:

BRITBREARE:
Volatility 70.42%-97.06% (2014: 47.00%-59.00%)
(Note ii)
il 70.42%-97.06% ( ZF — M4 : 47.00%-59.00% )
CED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value (continued)
Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated

statement of financial position (continued)
Notes:

i) An increase or a decrease in the volatility used in isolation will have no effect
on the fair value measurement of the derivative component of convertible loan
notes classified as financial assets.

ii) An increase in the volatility used in isolation would result in an increase in the
fair value measurement of the derivative component of convertible loan notes
classified as financial liabilities, and vice versa. A 10 % increase in the volatility
with all other variables constant would increase the fair value of derivative
component of convertible loan notes classified as financial liabilities at 31
December 2015 by HK$50,000 (2014: HK$2,521,000) and a 10% decrease
in the volatility with all other variables constant would decrease the fair value
of derivative component of convertible loan notes classified as financial
liabilities at 31 December 2015 by HK$2,000 (2014: HK$2,299,000).

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the years ended
31 December 2015 and 2014.

Please refer to Note 27 for the reconciliation of Level 3 fair value

measurements.

Valuation process

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes. The appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for the fair value measurements are determined by the directors

of the Company and the independent qualified valuer.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1
inputs are not available, the Group engages independent qualified
valuer to perform the valuation. The directors of the Company
work closely with the independent qualified valuer to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The directors
of the Company will review the cause of fluctuations in fair value of the

assets and liabilities semi-annually.

TRMIA (&)

DNF{E (&)
RESMBIRRRER 2D FE
T2 (&)

Bt :

) EFEBREENSRS  TEESERSE
MEEZIRBRERERTETRBAZAF
B BERTE-

i) EAERAZKEEN EERSFAEHERE
ZAIBBRERBETET A S 2 AFE
BN R Z IR I IR A0% MAAE
HMEHERETE SR _S—RAF+=A
“t+—RAEASHEBZARREREIE
PTET A D 2 A F{EH 150,000 T (= F
— P 4F = 2,521,000/ 70) + 40K 8 a4 10%
MAAEEMESERTE SR —RF
+ZA=+—BoERSRABIAMRERE
REBTET RIS 2 AFER 22,0008 T
(ZZ—PU4 2,299,000/ 7T ) °

REBEZE-_T—AFER-_T—WNOF+=A
“t+—HRIFE F-EHEEAREL-

BHE=ZEATEAEZHE F2HHE
27 °

HERRE
AEEHHAERBERMEBRMBAT
8- ATEFRER 2 BY HERER
BABIE M AL T ERBL A A E
B

REFFEERRBEZAFER AEEEA
AESZ TS BREEE - WEZREE—
BaABE AEBEEZBEIAERGE
BETRE AAREFLBYAERMGE
Rh B2 & 1F - e R AL (8 A 2 8 8 i E BT
EBANBE AR EERELFREELE
RaBEAFEREAH-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE
7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segments, based on information reported to the
board of directors (being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”))
for the purpose of resources allocation and performance assessment
are as follows:

Systems integration - Provision of information technology
services products, systems integration,
and software technology service, software
solutions development, internet service, software
solution engineering and maintenance

services

Mining operation Geological survey, exploration and
development of coal deposits (mining
operation), and selling of coking coal

Coal operation —  Provision of coal trading and logistics

services

The management of the Group monitors the operating results of
its business units separately for the purposes of making decisions
on resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on the operating profit or loss which
in certain respects, as explained in the table below, is measured
differently from the operating profit or loss in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. The Company’s financing (including finance
costs and finance revenue) and income taxes are managed on a group

basis and are not allocated to the operating segments.
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating

resources between segments, the CODM also reviews the segment
assets and segment liabilities.

NORTH ASIA RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ it 5 E/FRIER G R A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE
7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segments revenues and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenues and results by

reportable and operating segments.

Systems integration

7. 2HEH (&)
B EBAREE
AT RIVET S RREED BHN 2 A %EE
LINES T

services and Mining
software solutions operation Coal operation Total
RAEERRER
BHBRAER REER BERER @t
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
ZE-EF -E-WNF ZB-EF —T-NF ZEBE-Rf —“T-NF ZEB-If —T[OF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FET TET FET TET FET TET THT
For the year ended 31 December #HZ+-A=+—H
EEE
TURNOVER R
Sales to external customers mNBEPIEE 2 HE 58,333 56,091 5,590 44,644 - 5,511 63,923 106,246
RESULTS E3
Segment loss D EEE (5,638) (3,703) (3,209,553)  (920,652) (2,071) (218) (3,217,262)  (924,573)
Unallocated income RAOBBA 491 317,825
Unallocated expenses AAETH (862,167) (15,652)
Finance costs BERAK (371,978)  (477,771)
Loss before taxation REATEE (4,450,916) (1,100,171)

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
Note 3. Segment loss represents the loss from each segment without
allocation of central administrative expenses, directors’ and chief
executive’s emoluments, change in fair value of derivative component
of convertible loan notes, loss on redemption of convertible loan notes,
gain on redemption of promissory notes, certain other income and
finance costs. This is the measure reported to CODM for the purposes

of resource allocation and performance assessment.

AEHERED Mzt BREREEH RN
MiFsz &Rt AR - o Eb BB S D ME
EZER MEARDEPRITEAX EFER
THREZME ATHRERERZEEITETAR
DZRAVEEY BEOUTBRKRERERZE
B BRAERE W & TEOKRARR
BRA R ERSERRAFER TR
BEAREREZFETA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE =%

—hFEFT_A=1T—HLFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) DEER (E)
Segments assets and liabilities THEERAE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by INTRIZEEMRELESBAONM 2 AERE
reportable and operating segments. ERBE-
Segment assets DEEE
2015 2014
—Z2-AfF —E-mF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FiBT
Systems integration services and REEBRTG RE G RR TR
software solutions 44,970 28,294
Mining operation RIEE 9,142,300 12,787,897
Coal operation 1S9 75 3,944
Total segment assets DESAERE 9,187,345 12,820,135
Unallocated KAER 34,504 55,587
Consolidated assets HRAEE 9,221,849 12,875,722
Segment liabilities DEHEE
2015 2014
—E-fHE — M
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Systems integration services and RBEKRB REHEBRRAR
software solutions 48,482 40,107
Mining operation TS 4,834,080 4,561,148
Coal operation R TS 54,401 239,037
Total segment liabilities NEEERRE 4,936,963 4,840,292
Unallocated RO 3,677,225 6,495,587
Consolidated liabilities FeatE 8,614,188 11,335,879
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. oEER (&)
Segments assets and liabilities (continued) THEERAE (&)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating RERSBREERDBESEERMS :

resources between segments:

EBENSIRESEN 2B ES
BRETYE BERRE BTRENK

— all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than certain -

property, plant and equipment, certain prepayments, deposits

and other receivables, amount due from a director, derivative
component of convertible loan notes, bank balances and cash,

and assets jointly used by reportable segments.

all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than certain
other payables, certain amounts due to related companies, other
borrowings, derivative component of convertible loan notes,
liabilities component of convertible loan notes, promissory notes,
income tax liabilities, deferred tax liability and liabilities jointly liable

by reportable segments.

B ReREMBEYRRIE BR-E2EX
HIE - AR E SRR Z TAE T AR
RITHEB LIRS AR B ET2HDAH
REAZEE-

PEREANEKEEEA 2RO ETE
EETHEMBENZIE BETENEEAR
IR HAEE AT HRERERRBE 2074
TERS AHMBRERERZE8EDS
AARE MEHAE REREAGRMN
RBEA2MDBHARALZZAE-

Hitb o &

Other segment information

Systems integration

services and
software solutions Mining operation Coal operation Unallocated Consolidated
ARERBRER
RURARR FRER RRER FAR Fxs)
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Z2-1f “T-NF Z%-Rf “T-0F ZB-1f “S-0F -“%R-1Ff "F-MF -F-1F “T-MF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TR TiEn THL TR FEL TR FEL TERL FHL
For the year ended HZ+t-B=t-AH
31 December LEE
Amounts included in the FEABEER
measure of segment losses PHEERTR
or segment assets: AT R :
Depreciation ik 259 224 46,821 57,308 - 155 303 163 47,383 57,850
Addition of non-current REFNDEE
assets 401 45 242,215 389,278 - 13 396 612 243,012 389,948
Impairment loss recognised HBHEUNFERR
in respect of trade HERSE
receivables - - - 9,336 1,859 - - - 1,859 9,336
Gain on disposal of property, ~ HENE HER
plant and equipment B 6 (125) (10) (2,535) (498) - - - - (2,660) (508)
Impairment loss recognised REHERAZAEER
in respect of goodwill 2,352 - - - - - - - 2,352 -
Impairment loss recognised RRBIERED
in respect of mining rights HERSE - - 2715022 700,204 - - - - 2715022 709,204
Impairment loss recognised ANxE BERRE
in respect of property, BRZABEESR
plant and equipment - - 368,432 74776 - - - - 368,432 74776
Recovery of other receivables  YIE % ATE #i#H 2
previously written off etz - - (35 (10,266) - - - - (35)  (10,266)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE
7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Other segment information (continued)

Systems integration

pa

HEFR (&)
fb o EEX (&)

7. @
=2

==

services and
software solutions Mining operation Coal operation Unallocated Consolidated
RERARHR
RUBARR RRER RRER OB g8
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
ZB-Rf “T-NF ZB-1f “E-N%F ZB-1f -E-M%F -“E-1F “T-MF “B-1F “IIF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR T TR Fin TER FEL TER TEL TER TER
For the year ended BEt-AZt-BLEE
31 December
Amounts regularly provided THREZLEREA
to CODM but not included REERHEDH
in the measure of segment BERTETRZFE:
losses:
Interest income LETON (188) (30) (44) (122) @ 5) ®) 1) (242) (158)
Interest expenses flEemx = - 144,323 147,152 4,097 4,358 223,558 326,261 371,978 477,771
Income tax (credit) expenses TG H (H%)FX 572 235 (678,756)  (177,275) - - - - (678,184)  (177,040)
Geographical information i & & ¥

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and the PRC.

The Group’s revenue from external customers is presented based

on the location of the operation. Information about the Group’s non-

REBEBUREERHPE-

AEEREIBEL ZWAREEHEE
- BRAAKEI RSB EE CERARALE

current assets is presented based on the geographical locations of the BEMEMEZ5]-
assets.
Hong Kong Elsewhere in the PRC Consolidated
% FEH M E RE
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
ZE2-1f —T-MF ZB-1Ff _Z-NF ZB-IF _—T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THT TER THL TER THL
Segment revenue AEHA
Revenue from external customers  REIMNIRFE 2 A - - 63,923 106,246 63,923 106,246
Non-current assets FRYPEE 308 496 9,079,717 12,788,522 9,080,025 12,739,018
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e VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. oEER (&)
Revenue from major products and services FEEREBRE2Z2WA
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major NTAEAEEREZZER KRB ZWMADT:

products and services:

2015 2014
—E-IF —ZT-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Sale of automatic teller machines HEBDESK 19,645 30,074
Sale of coal $HE B K - 5,511
Sale of mining products HEREEM 5,590 44,644
Rendering of computer R T R AR
technology services 38,688 26,017
63,923 106,246
Information about major customers EBFEREFZEH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing over HAEEBEEFEEEE1I0%AEZEREY
10% of the total sales of the Group is as follows: WAL
2015 2014
—E-IF —Z-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Customer A ZEEA 8,557 20,189
Customer B2 ®PB? N/A T iE 2 18,718
1 Revenue from systems integration services and software solutions products. ! ERERREREGFRARTRER WA -
2 The corresponding revenue, from mining operation, did not contribute over 2 PRERER 2 ABRWR AL L R B 8 AN SR [ 4B UL
10% of the total revenue of the Group. AZ10% °
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

8. TURNOVER AND OTHER OPERATING INCOME 8. EEERHMIKE W
Turnover represents invoiced value of goods sold and services EEERHEHEEMMIRHRS (NG T
rendered, net of discounts allowed and sales taxes where applicable. FTMREER (MER) ) 2 BRBE - FAR
Revenues recognised during the year are as follows: RZUWAIT

2015 2014
—®2-a% —T—-MmEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Turnover =5 3=
Sale of goods HEEM 25,235 80,229
Rendering of services RS 38,688 26,017
63,923 106,246
Other operating income H 45 s
Gain on disposal of property, LEME WER&E WS
plant and equipment 2,660 508
Interest income FBUA 242 158
Net foreign exchange gains SN U %55 58 1,272 197
Written back of provision for litigation AR (M)
(note 1) - 16,073
Recovery of other receivables W (81 4 AT B 3 8 2 H At FE U R IE
previously written off 35 10,266
Sundry income MIEWA 3 2
Gain on settlement of interest payable AR B 2 Was (MfsE28d)
(Note 28d) 477 -
Government grant (note 2) BEEBE (Ha2) 439 539
5,128 27,743
Notes: Bt

-

RIFERARAAR B - FIRBLEER

1. Amount represented written back of provision for a legal case taken up by the

Company upon acquisition of the Lexing Holdings Limited (“Lexing”) in 2013. BRAR ([EHE])REF 2 REBREIEE-
The case was fully settled for the year ended 31 December 2014. REHEREE_T—NF+_A=+—AH1
FERNZEMAE -
2. Pursuant to the notices issued by the relevant government authorities, 2. BEBBABMAEAZLE 2BA AARETH
certain PRC subsidiaries of the Company were entitled to enjoy subsidies for B EARZERHEEMEMBERSE 2mE
provision of specialised information technology services. There is no further R AKERREEMAREG 2 G-

condition that the Group is required to fulfill.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BERAK
2015 2014
—E—-RfF —ZET-MF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx FHET
Interest expenses on borrowings wholly — ZEARSF RNEHREEZEEZFBM Y :
repayable within five years:

— effective interest expenses on —ARREREBR2ERFERE
convertible loan notes 192,970 292,990

— promissory notes —EHER 29,798 31,298

— other borrowings —HMmEE 2,346 1,920

— amount due to a related company — R — B AR FIE 791 53

— amount due to a non-controlling — N B IEERER A ARE

interest holder 314,848 299,309
Total borrowing costs BEBKABE 540,753 625,570
Less: amounts capitalised W RERIEBRERAZSHE
in construction in progress (172,563) (151,621)
Imputed interest for provision for MR8 B RIRIBR A B R 2 FERH A8
restoration, rehabilitation and (FfF#¥30)
environmental costs (Note 30) 3,788 3,822
371,978 477,771
10.LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 10. RBLATE 1B
2015 2014
—E—HF —E—-mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FAT
Loss before taxation has been arrived FR B A& 18 2 kR

at after charging:

Auditor’s remuneration 1% ELAD B & 1,371 1,872
Amounts of inventories recognised EERAHRIZFESE

as expense 17,406 35,157
Depreciation neE 47,383 57,850
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments & 5 & 1T A8 E B & (Ff5E15)

(Note 15) 23,973 3,233
Exchange gain, net P& 5, Uk 25 % 58 (1,272) (197)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of % 5 fE W R IE R 2 BB E 1B

trade receivables 1,859 9,336
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE  BERE&E W

plant and equipment (2,660) (508)
Payments under operating leases THREFZE&EHERNK

in respect of land and buildings 12,641 11,072
Staff costs (excluding directors’ and BIRA (TEREESERITHEHNS)

chief executive’s emoluments) (Note 14)  (Ffi&E14) 102,185 104,865
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE
11.INCOME TAX CREDIT

M. EHER

2015 2014
—E-AF —T-mE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHExT FHBT
Current tax: NEAREIE -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT”) FEERER (TEEMSEH]) 572 261
Deferred tax (Note 32) EERTE (K zE32)
Current year PINCS (678,756) (177,301)
Income tax credit FrisHiE e (678,184) (177,040)

(i)  Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda and the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Group is not subject to any income

tax in Bermuda and the BVI.

(i) No provisions for Hong Kong Profits Tax have been made for
subsidiaries established in Hong Kong as these subsidiaries did
not have any assessable profits subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax
during both years.

(iiiy Profits of the subsidiaries established in the PRC are subject to
PRC EIT.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and

Implementation Regulation of EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC

subsidiaries is 25% for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONTINUED) "N FrEHER (&)
The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss before FAMGEHREREGEERR ZRIATEE
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: HEROT
2015 2014
—E-AF —ZE—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHEIT
Loss before taxation MR B AT ES 1B (4,450,916) (1,100,171)
Tax credit at rates applicable to loss BEBREEEBBERABEFHE Y
in the jurisdictions concerned BIEK R (1,019,764) (253,949)
Tax effect of income not subject to tax BEARTMAZ R G2 (877) (52,538)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR MBRZ 2 REHE
for tax purpose 341,247 126,932
Tax effect of tax losses and deductible RERHEBERAMBEREZE
temporary differences not recognised Bsgg 710 2,515
Income tax credit for the year FAMGTHEL (678,184) (177,040)
12. DIVIDENDS 12. R E
No dividend was paid or proposed during both years ended 31 HE-_ZT-—AFR-_ZFT—WNF+_A=+—
December 2015 and 2014, nor has any dividend been proposed since HIEMEFELEE RKIERRE  B®E
the end of the reporting period. BAR AR IR R R R BRI AR B o
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

13.LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to

13. BRE 1B

REEARNBER ABGESRERLEEE

the owners of the Company for the year is based on the following data: BRI T ERE & -
2015 2014
—E-AF —ZT-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
Loss BB
Loss for the year attributable to the KARHEE ANERFEEE
owners of the Company (2,373,281) (452,508)
2015 2014
—E-AF —E-mF
Number of shares g 4=|
Weighted average number of BAGEEREREEZ
ordinary shares for the purpose of L3 AR hNHE YT &L

basic loss per share 15,090,139,513 3,711,018,433

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the computation of diluted HE-_Z—AF+_-_A=+t—BLEE &
RITEATRRERERRATERELAREE
HEREBRY  HEEGREE SRR &
BERABRITHRRERER R ITERETR-
HRARREREZITEESRRD FHH
B W EEREEEBRIT ERRERE
AT

loss per share does not assume the conversion of the convertible loan
notes and convertible preference shares since their exercise would
result in a decrease in loss per share. The computation of diluted
loss per share does not assume the exercise of the Company’s share
options as the excercise price of the share options is higher than the
average market price for shares.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the computation of diluted HE-_Z-—NF+_A=+—HIFE &
RITEATREERRE R EREERES
BEREBERRD St E S RESEH RN I &
BRI R E KRB L AT SR E A -

loss per share does not assume the conversion of the convertible loan
notes and convertible preference shares since their exercise would

result in a decrease in loss per share.

FRERNREEERER -

The basic and diluted loss per share are the same.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B EZ —E—RF+-A=1+—HIFE
14. STAFF COSTS (EXCLUDING DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF B EIFRK (FTEREERITH
EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS) HEME)
2015 2014
—E-AfF —ET-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
Wages and salaries IERF® 63,237 84,532
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R /K18 F| 5 2 7 16,630 20,333
Share based payment A& 5 15 5% 22,318 -
102,185 104,865
The subsidiaries in Hong Kong operate the MPF Scheme which are EEMBLAAIRERERE HEEKE
available to qualified employees. The assets of the scheme are held 20 °E‘|‘§' ﬁ@ﬁiﬁﬁ%&ﬂZ’ﬁEﬁEﬁ oz
separately from those of the subsidiaries in independently administered BUERESRAB - WEBARGARERAS

=3
B
funds. Monthly contributions made by the subsidiaries are calculated Mz 2B T B DL HRSIZEERERT A
based on certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs or fixed ZEERBEHR (RIFERME)

sums as stipulated under the relevant requirements, as appropriate.

Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities in the PRC, *EF‘:F‘ HEBERZRA AEBEFBENE
the subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC participate in respective A2 NERBBT R REFIET S ([ART
government retirement benefit scheme (the “Scheme”) whereby the %‘JJ) BRI BB R RIRA BB

subsidiaries are required to contribute to the Scheme to fund the BEAREBZRNENREEAS BT
retirement benefits of the eligible employees. Monthly contributions gl 25 A H RS BAR T AT ET 8 R 5 R 2
made to the Scheme are calculated based on certain percentages ZETEDLAE -HEEBEREAMENR
of the applicable payroll costs as stipulated under the requirements EEXNE2HEARS -AEBEHFBEZ

in the PRC. The relevant authorities of the PRC are responsible for W—EEARETAEBTERE ZHK-

the entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the Scheme is to pay the
ongoing required contributions under the Scheme.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions represent gross RABAFEMHRIEASRERNBTEEHEE
=

contributions by the Group to the Scheme operated by the relevant Mz BB RREBE R 2B ST
authorities of the PRC and the MPF Scheme operated in Hong Kong. E e k-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND SENIOR 5. EE THARRKREREEAE
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS &
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a EBERTHAZM S
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the seven (2014: nine) BN ENEE (ZE—NF: hE)&E
directors and the chief executive were as follows: ERTHRBH 2D BT
For the year ended 31 December 2015 BE-Z—AF+=-A=+—HLEFE

Salaries, Retirement

allowances benefit
and other scheme  Share-based
Fees benefits  contributions payment Total
e BER RAER
ok HitER STEMR RBHR st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TER TER TER

Executive directors YTES

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo (‘Mr. Zhang") R=ERE([REED - 4,804 18 962 5,784
Mr. Huang Bogi By - 1,560 18 9,616 11,194
Mr. Tse Michael Nam (“Mr. Tse”) HEErs ([#EE])

(Resigned on 30 November 2015) (R=ZZ—RE+—RA=THE&MT) - 300 14 3,605 3,919
Mr. Chen Liang (note) BRoe e () - - - - -
Ms. Liu Rong-Rong (note) AR Akz L (M) - - - - -
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Zou Cheng Jian BEBEAE 168 - - 601 769
Independent non-executive directors BYFHTES
Mr. Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph GBS, JP R E &% 4GRS, JP 168 - - 601 769
Mr. Zhou Chunsheng BEELE 168 - - 601 769
Ms. Leung Yin Fai REERL 168 - - 601 769

672 6,664 50 16,587 23,973

Note: On 1 May 2015, Mr. Chen Liang (‘Mr. Chen”) and Ms. Liu Rong- ffeE: R—ZT—RERA—A BRetsE (KR
Rong (“Ms Liu") had been appointed as the Executive Director with a EEDRARRLZL ([81xL])EZ
remuneration of HK$60,000 and HK$40,000 per month respectively. EANITESE - A% 5 51/60,000% T
On 2 June 2015, each of Mr. Chen and Ms. Liu resigned as Executive 40,0008 L - R _ZE—RHF A=
Director in order to pursue their other business and as a result of the B BREERBIZTEEIRTES AR
termination of the agreement. Mr. Chen and Ms. Liu had declared to SR EMER R IERE - REER
give up the payment of remuneration. Bl +t B BARETM R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2014

5. BEE TRAIRSREEAER

M (&)
@ EERTHRAIMS (&)

BE-T-ME+-AS+—BILEE

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
e 2HR RIKEEF
fika HftgR SRR it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx THET TR THT
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo (‘Mr. Zhang") REERE([REE]D - 1,560 17 1,577
Mr. Huang Bogi EiRBEAE

(Appointed on 6 October 2014) (RZZ—-METARBEZAE) - 369 5 374
Mr. Tse Michael Nam (“Mr. Tse”) HEErE ([#54E]) - 300 15 315
Mr. Zhang Xu (Resigned on 6 October 2014) 3R 8% &

(RZZ—ME+ANHET) - 303 - 308
Non-executive director FUTES
Mr. Zou Cheng Jian BEEEE 168 - - 168
Independent non-executive directors BUKHTES
Mr. Lim Yew Kong, John Lim Yew Kong, John%t &

(resigned on 1 April 2014) (RZZ—UENA—HET) 38 - - 38
Mr. Leung Po Wing, Bowen Joseph GBS, JP R E X% %GBS, JP 164 - - 164
Mr. Zhou Chunsheng BEERE 168 - - 168
Ms. Leung Yin Fai DEBEEL

(Appointed on 1 April 2014) (RZZ—-MENA—HEZAE) 126 - - 126

664 2,632 37 3,233

No directors of the Company waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2014.

BHE_Z-—ME+_-_A=+—-BIF
B ARRBBESHEXLRNEMEL
AT B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND SENIOR 5. EE THARRKREREEAE
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) M (&)
(b) Senior management’s emoluments b) SREBEAEHNE

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
three (2014: two) were directors (including the chief executive)
of the Company whose emoluments are set out above. The
emoluments of the remaining two (2014: three) highest paid

individuals were as follows:

AERLASERFMALBEARAR=Z
H(ZE-OF - MB)EF(BETR
BE)  BEZHEEN X HBME
(ZE—IF: ZR) K HFMALZH
N

2015 2014

—E-1F —T—-mEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHBT FET

Salaries, allowances and other benefits ¥ 284 & H b 42 7| 2,654 1,639
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R Kk 4% | 5t 21 £ 7k 18 31
Share-based payment R& 19 1~ 5% 5,780 -
8,452 1,670

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

BHEZHME N FTIIHE :

2015 2014
—E-AHF —ZE-F
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEAH™ EBE A%
HKS$ nil to HK$1,000,000 =% 7T 21,000,000/ 7T - 3
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7T £ 4,000,000 7T 1 -
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 7T 25,000,000 7T 1 -
(C) No emoluments have been paid by the Group to any directors, C) Bz RFR-E—HNE+=A

the chief executive or the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of the office during the two years ended 31 December
2015 and 2014.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. % MERRE
Furniture,
fixtures
Mining  Construction Leasehold and office Motor  Plants and

structure i progress Buildings improvements  equipment vehicles  machineries Total
B
BENE EERER

REREN HRIR =2 % BAERK "E  BER®E ast

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL TEL TAL

COosT 278
At 1 January 2014 RZE-mE-A-H 192,909 682,842 88,673 3,203 16,693 15,938 67,899 1,068,057
Additions AE - 384,804 - - 813 228 5,089 390,934
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHBAR - - - - - 550 - 550
Disposals fe - - - - - (725) - (725)
Exchange realignment EHAZE 5,495 19,510 2,531 92 326 443 1,940 30,337
At 31 December 2014 WZE-ME
+ZA=1+-8 198,404 1,087,156 91,104 3,295 17,832 16,434 74,928 1,489,153
Additions hE - 243,004 - - 10 847 3,167 247,028
Acquisition of subsidiary 1) PNl - - - - 6 - - 6
Disposals e - - - - - (3,250) (2,021) (65,271)
Exchange realignment E}a% (11,873) 50,854) (5,468) - (749) (760) (4,497) (74,201)
At 31 December 2015 RZZ-1%
+-A=1+-8 186,631 1,279,306 85,636 3,295 17,099 13,271 71,677 1,666,715
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND ~ Rt B R E
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2014 RZE-mE-A-H 14,996 21,172 5,742 3,203 8,395 4,587 3,553 61,648
Provided for the year EREE 26,559 - 10,171 - 1,793 2538 16,789 57,850
Impairment recognised for the year FRERRE - 74,776 - - - - - 74,776
Eliminated on disposals HERYH - - - - - (13) - (13)
Exchange realignment EiRE 428 604 164 92 90 119 99 1,596
At 31 December 2014 WZZ-mE
+ZA=1+-8 41,983 96,552 16,077 3,295 10,278 7,231 20,441 195,857
Provided for the year FREE 18,534 - 9,539 - 1,867 2,126 15,317 47,383
Impairment recognised for the year FRERAE - 368,432 - - - - - 368,432
Eliminated on disposals LR - - - - - (1,692) (1,805) (3,497)
Exchange realignment EHA% 2,486) (5,787) (965) - (299) (744) (1,225) (11,506)
At 31 December 2015 RZZ-1%
+-A=1+-H 58,031 459,197 24,651 3,295 11,846 6,921 32,728 596,669
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2015 RZZ-1%
+-A=1+-H 128,500 820,109 60,985 - 5,263 6,350 38,849 1,060,046
At 31 December 2014 WZT-ME
+ZA=1+-H 156,421 990,604 75,027 - 7,564 9,203 54,487 1,293,296
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 16. ¥ -BERZE (E)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a AEWE - BERZEEE AEZEEUT
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum: FRTHETE:
Mining structure 10% HIERBEY 10%
Leasehold improvements 33'/3% or over the lease terms, THEMERE 331/5% 3k 78 &
whichever is shorter (AEEERE)
Furniture, fixtures and office  20% to 33'/s% R -BEEEER 20%Z=33"/3%
equipment WAERME
Motor vehicles 33'/5% AE 33'/3%
Plants and machineries 10% or over the lease term, whichever Wi Ko & 1 10%3k 78 BB
is shorter (B ERE)
Buildings 10% or over the lease terms, whichever g5 10% 8k 78 #3
is shorter (ABREERE)
During the two years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group REE-_T—AFR_FT—NF+=A
had continuously suffered loss from the mining operation. The directors —t+—HIMEFEE ANEE 2 REEXLRS
of the Company conducted a review of the Group’s property, plant BEXBR-ARAEFOEHRELAEEZY
and equipment and determined that a number of those assets were ¥ BERZE TETLZEHEAEDRE-
impaired.
Particulars regarding impairment loss recognised are disclosed in Note BRI EE B R IE R I 334 & -
33.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B EZ —E—RF+-A=1+—HIFE
17. MINING RIGHTS 17. TRE#E
HK$’000
FHET

cosT R
At 1 January 2014 RZTE—mNF—A—H 12,000,601
Exchange realignment fEH AR 342,602
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 RZE—NF+_A=+—BRk=ZZT—HF—HA—H 12,343,203
Refund of mineral resources compensation fees  ERIEEEZFRFEEE (22,581)
Exchange realignment b 5 P B (742,169)
At 31 December 2015 RZE—RAF+=-A=+—H 11,578,453
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT BN RE
At 1 January 2014 RZTE—mNF—AF—H 228,439
Impairment loss recognised for the year FAERBEERE 709,204
Exchange realignment PEH AR 6,522
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 R-E—NF+-_A=+—HE-_ZT—HF—HF—H 944,165
Impairment loss recognised for the year FAERFMEERE 2,715,022
Exchange realignment M H A (58,045)
At 31 December 2015 RZZE-—HAF+-A=+—H 3,601,142
CARRYING VALUES RREE
At 31 December 2015 RZE—RAF+=-A=+—H 7,977,311
At 31 December 2014 RZE—NF+=ZA=+—H 11,399,038
The five mining licenses in relation to the coal mines will expire from IMEBRBE RBEAAEINR T —RF
25 March 2016 to 26 December 2017 and subject to renewal. In the ZAZt+hABEZZE—t+tF+ZACZ ‘f’/\ S|
view of the directors of the Company, the Group will be able to renew B EIER - WAl AR - A A RIEERAB
the mining licenses in relation to the coal mines with the relevant E BB URIR R AN E M4 ?ﬁﬂlﬁ”&%?ﬁ/‘%
government authority continuously at insignificant cost. AR 2 R uﬁF—J*“f e
Particulars regarding impairment loss recognised are disclosed in Note B MR B E5 1B R 1B R T 1334 75 -
33.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

18. GOODWILL 18. &
HK$’000
FHET
cosT B
At 1 January 2014, 31 December 2014, R-E—mFE—/B—HB -—E—WE&E+=-B=+—H
1 January 2015 rE—ZE—RFE—AF—H 3,674,327
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34) Uk BB BT B A Al T E A& (M FE34) 2,352
At 31 December 2015 RZZE—HF+=_A=+—H 3,676,679
IMPAIRMENT A
At 1 January 2014, 31 December 2014, RZE—NWF—A—H —ZT—N0NF
1 January 2015 and 31 December 2015 +—A=+—H8-ZE—hFE—-HF—8K
(Note 34) —E-AF+ZA=+—08 (H=E34) 3,674,327
Impairment loss recognised during the year FABRZREEE
(Note 33) (Ff#¥33) 2,352
At 31 December 2015 RZE—RF+=ZA=+—H 3,676,679
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2015 RZE—RF+=ZA=+—H -
At 31 December 2014 RZE—NF+=—A=+—H -
Goodwill arising from acquisition of cash generating units in segments: ARES P ReEEENMEEZHE:
HK$’000
FAET
Mining operation IR T 3,661,555
Systems integration services and RREKRS KRR R
software solutions 15,124
At 31 December 2015 RZE—RF+ZA=+—H 3,676,679
During the year ended 31 December 2015, goodwill of HK$2,352,000 REBEE-T-—RAF+_A=+—HLFE"
(2014:Nil) allocated to systems integration services and software DERZEZRGERBREREGRAFT R 2
solutions segment was impaired. The rest of the goodwill were fully 2,352,000 T (ZE—WF: E)HEDHE
impaired as at 1 January 2013. B #RTHEBER_E—=F—H—H2¥
YRR
Please refer to Note 33 for particulars regarding impairment testing of EEEEZRERNRAFS  F2HWEs3 .
goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

19. INVENTORIES 19. &E
2015 2014
—E-AF —F-mEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
System integration services and BIEBE ZSMENRBE X
software solutions products B ERR T REE G RN ET
held for resale, at cost 5,530 1,880
20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20 EZ R HEMEWRKIE
2015 2014
—E-®E —ZT—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FHET
Trade receivables B 5 EWFIE 51,020 46,724
Less: Allowance for impairment of BB ZEBGRERERE
trade receivables (23,591) (22,744)
27,429 23,980
Prepayments, deposits and EBNFIE e &k E A ERFIE
other receivables 74,395 58,797
Total trade and other receivables B 5 RH A EWFIAEE 101,824 82,777
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. AEBVERZEEGBEEAERR -
The Group normally grants to its customers credit periods ranging REE—BLETREFIOKREISORTEZE
from 30 days to 180 days which are subject to periodic review by BEH WHERETEHKR-
management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 20. EZRHEMEKRIE (&)
(@) The ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net of impairment (a) RM|ER MKREERBREBEEK
losses recognised, based on the invoice dates which BEZAE (N AEREFAKABE)
approximated the respective revenue recognition dates at the end BrESRBFBERESTAT

of the reporting period was as follows:

2015 2014

—E-AF —Z-F

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FET F#ET

Within 90 days 90K X 7,704 4,528

91 days to 180 days 91 KRE180K 7,460 5,518

181 days to 365 days 181K £365K 6,669 6,564

Over 365 days 365K A E 5,596 7,370

27,429 23,980

(o) The movements in provision for impairment losses of trade b) ESERFEBEREEBEEREG 2SN

receivables were as follows: i

2015 2014

—E-AF —ZE—mF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

At 1 January n—AH—H 22,744 13,211

Impairment loss recognised FRNHERZREEE

during the year 1,859 9,336

Exchange realignment MEH AR (1,012) 197

At 31 December R+-—A=+—8H 23,591 22,744
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HEZ =%

BA RS SRR B AL

—hFtZA=1T—HLFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(©

At the end of the reporting period, the analysis of trade receivables

that were past due but not impaired are as follows:

Neither

past

due nor

Total impaired

REH

BE ITREE

HK$'000 HK$'000

AT FTET

31 December 2015 —RF¥+-A=+-H 27,429 15,164
31 December 2014 —mE+=-A=+—H 23,980 10,046

Hih EULFRIR (&)
€ RBEHMR CBBERREZESHE
WHRIBA M :
Past due but not impaired
ERMERAE
less than 91 to 181 to 1to
90 days 180 days 365 days 2 years
9z 181

PRIOK 180K 365K 1828
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET THET TET
3,335 3,334 5,596 -
3,737 6,392 2,827 978

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a wide range of customers for whom there was no recent
history of default. The Group does not hold any collateral over the

balances.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

At 31 December 2015, included in the impairment loss are
individual impaired trade receivables with an aggregate balance of
approximately HK$23,591,000 (2014: HK$22,744,000) which have
been in severe financial difficulties and the directors concluded the

collection possibilities are remote.

As at 31 December 2015, trade receivables amounting to
approximately HK$1,328,000 (2014: HK$1,328,000) were
dominated in HK$, which is a foreign currency other than the

functional currency of the relevant group entities.

As at 31 December 2015, other receivables amounting to
approximately HK$1,102,000 (2014: HK$3,659,000) were
dominated in HK$, which is a foreign currency other than the

functional currency of the relevant group entities.

REMTARBEZE S REFIBES E
MY ER S EPER - AEE
YEL LS ERFT B EMER MR-

ERMERREZEZEEFIRAS &
HAEEERIRHEHRZBIEFA
e REBBELR ANERERIES
RECBBERDPE R T2 HE -5
ERERRBEARZTERIELRER
e

R-Z—AF+-A=+—H RE
BEEEERERES S ERGKIE &

A 749 523,591,0008 70 (= ZF — Y
22,744,000 70) - BEEBEABA
BREME WNEFRRRERIE#HE
B4R -

RZFT—AF+_A=+—RH BEH5K
e Alﬁf\'ﬁ 328,000/ 7T (=T — 4 :
1,328,000 7T.) LA 7 7T (7 IE 1A BE 5 [
FEDGEEE ZINE) G E-

R—ZZE—RAF+=A :+—E| " H fth fE
U TR TE #91,102,000/8 7T ( —Z — P04 :
3,659, ooo;%n)tx;%m(ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ & E
FEDGEEE ZINE ) E-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

21,

22,

23.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED COMPANIES

The amount due from a related company is unsecured, non-interest

bearing and repayable on demand.

Included in amount due to related companies as at 31 December 2014
was an amount of HK$20,000,000 (2015: Nil) which was unsecured,
carries interest at 8.0% (2015: Nil) per annum and repayable on
demand. The remaining balance is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand. The related companies are wholly owned by a

director of the Company.

As at 31 December 2015, amounts due to related companies
amounting to approximately HK$58,817,000 (2014: HK$166,869,000)
were dominated in HK$ which is a foreign currency other than the

functional currency of the relevant group entities.

AMOUNT DUE FROM A DIRECTOR

The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand. The maximum amount outstanding for amount due from a
director during the year is HK$66,000 (2014: HK$66,000).

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

At the end of the reporting period, about 50% (2014: 62%) of bank

balances and cash was denominated in RMB.

The Group’s bank balances and cash denominated in foreign
currencies other than functional currencies of the relevant group

entities are set out as follows:

ey
BT

United States Dollar (“US$”)
HK$

21.

22.

23.

P (1Y) BEE R R RE

RUHEARRAARER  Ti A RAR
SRR

R-Z-—mE+—A=+—0 BNEEAF
FIE £20,000,000/ 70 (ZF— A F &)
BEEF EFFEROB (ZT—HF  #)
STERERERER HREAEIEWN T8
RERBREE ZSHEARBARA—
ZER2EWE-

RZE—RAF+-A=+—R0 EBH@EE
A R R IA 458,817,000/ L (Z T — PO 4F
166,869,000/ 7T, ) A T (I JFHERE S B &
IR B 2N ) FHE -

Bl —EEERR

ZERBREEM TR RARERIEE -
FARK-BEFFAZESARROSER
66,000/ 7T ( —Z — U4 : 66,000/ 7T ) °

RITERREASE
RIEBE - RITEBRESFH50% (—F
— P04 :62% ) LA A R A {E -

AEBALIFERERBENEEE 25
SHEZRITESRERSHIIMT

2015 2014
—E-AF —ZT-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHER FRET
3,620 5,216
3,038 9,965

Bank balances carry interest at market rates ranging from 0.01% to
0.36% (2014: 0.01% to 0.36%) per annum.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE
24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2 EZ R HEMENRIER

2015 2014
—E-IF —E—mEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAET
Trade payables B P ENFIE
— third parties =] 6,145 6,515
- a non-controlling interest holder ——HIEERERFEAA 325 325
6,470 6,840
Receipts in advance TEWRIA 43,963 13,743
Accrued staff costs EEHE TRA 54,518 52,690
Other taxes payable E b1 3,689 18,912
Accrued interests FEFTFLE - 3,051
Considerations for acquisition of WEEH B AR ZRE
subsidiaries 381,784 400,990
Payables for construction works and BETEREAKISERMNKIE
purchase of machineries 291,958 280,126
Accrued expenses and other payables FEET B R R E 0 FE R FRIB 49,628 45,208
832,010 821,560

The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on the invoiced dates

RBEEHR KREZAHFEZEZEN

at the end of the reporting period was as follows: HIBERBRDATT
2015 2014
—E-AF —E—mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Within 90 days 90K A 2,264 400
91 days to 180 days 91 RE180K 43 2,585
181 days to 365 days 181X £365K 1,143 3,183
Over 365 days 365K £ 3,020 672
6,470 6,840

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days. The

Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that alll

payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

As at 31 December 2015, trade and other payable amounting
to approximately HK$20,499,000 (2014: HK$17,089,000) were

dominated in HK$, which is a foreign currency other than the functional

currency of the relevant group entities.

BEERZ THREHRABOX - AEER

U BRRERRE BRE2MENFTEY

RERRHIR NS -

RZE—RAF+-A=+—H B KH
& {+ FUIE #£920,499,000/8 7T (=T — 1
17,089,000 70 ) LA T (WIFAEHAEEE
MEEE M 2 INEE ) FHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—HF+_A=+—HILFE

25. AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 25. B —BFEREREFEARE

26.

HOLDER

As at 31 December 2015, the current amount due to a non-
controlling interest holder amounting to HK$2,745,260,000
(2014:HK$1,793,016,000) is unsecured, bears interest at variable rates
ranging from 6.12% to 12.05% (2014: 6.72% to 11.76%) per annum
and is repayable within twelve months from the end of the reporting
period. The amount is entrusted loans provided by a non-controlling

interest holder of a subsidiary through banks.
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As at 31 December 2015, the non-current amount due to a non- RZE—RAF+ZRA=+—HB EBRH—%3¥k
controlling interest holder amounting to HK$975,196,000 (2014: AR A A 2 FEBN HAFR18975,196,0007%
HK$1,730,794,000) is unsecured, bears interest at variable rates 7t (ZZ—4 :1,730,794,0005 70 ) AR

ranging from 6.75% to 12.05% (2014: 6.60% to 11.76%) per annum.
The amount is entrusted loans provided by a non-controlling interest
holder of a subsidiary through banks. The maturities of the balance are
ranging from 13 March 2017 to 17 November 2017 and accordingly,

the balance is classified under non-current liabilities.

OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2014, a balance of HK$32,000,000 included in
other borrowing was unsecured, which carried interest at 6% per
annum from an independent third party wholly repayable within one

year. During the year ended 31 December 2015, the maturity date of

26. ¥
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the borrowing was renewed to 12 July 2017 and was classified as a IHFE ZEBEZIBHBEENR-_T—+
non-current liability as at 31 December 2015. The effective interest F+HA+-—B R_ZE—RAF+_A=+—
rate of the renewed other borrowing is 9% per annum. The remaining HOBRAFARDEE DEMEMEEZE

balance of approximately HK$5,755,000 (2014: HK$5,755,000) for
both years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 represents unsecured
borrowing which is non-interest bearing and repayable on demand
from a former subsidiary of the Company. These other borrowings were
dominated in HK$ which is a foreign currency other than the functional

currency of the relevant group entities.
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27.CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES

—AF+-A=t+-BILFE
271. TR EREE

2010 Convertible Loan Notes A

On 14 September 2010, the Company issued convertible loan notes
which had a maturity date on 14 September 2013 with an aggregate
principal amount of US$30,000,000 (the “2010 Convertible Loan Notes
A”). The convertible loan notes can be converted up to an aggregate
of 136,764,706 ordinary shares at HK$0.01 each. The notes were
denominated in US$ and entitled the holder to convert them into
ordinary shares of the Company at any time from (and including) the
date which is three months after the issue date up to ten business
days prior to the maturity date. The effective interest rate of the liability

component is 26.51% per annum.

At the issue date, the 2010 Convertible Loan Notes A were bifurcated
into a liability component and an equity component. The equity
component is presented in equity under the heading of “Convertible

bonds reserve” on initial recognition.

Subsequent to the issue date, the Company and the subscriber of the
2010 Convertible Loan Notes A entered into a supplemental agreement
on 29 October 2010 (“Supplemental Agreement A”) to amend the
adjustment mechanism on the conversion price of 2010 Convertible
Loan Notes A. In accordance with the Supplemental Agreement A, the
conversion price of 2010 Convertible Loan Notes A will be adjusted
to the average closing price of one share during the month in which
the financial year-end day of the Company falls in any calendar year,
plus a premium of 156% if such price is lower than the conversion
price in force. According to the Supplemental Agreement A and the
announcement dated 3 January 2011, the conversion price was
adjusted to HK$1.30 per share. The Supplemental Agreement A was
approved by the shareholders at the special general meeting held on
18 April 2011 and approved by the Stock Exchange on the same day.
Due to the amendment of terms, the number of shares convertible by
2010 Convertible Loan Notes A is no longer fixed, the 2010 Convertible
Loan Notes A after amendment contained a derivative component in

addition to the liability component.
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27.CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 27. TR EREE (&)

2010 Convertible Loan Notes A (continued)

According to the Supplemental Agreement A, the conversion price of
2010 Convertible Loan Notes A was adjusted to HK$0.27 per share
on 3 January 2012. The details of the adjustment were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 3 January 2012. In the event that the
2010 Convertible Loan Notes A are fully converted, a total number of

861,111,111 new ordinary shares will be issued.

One of the undertakings under the relevant subscription agreements
(the “Subscription Agreements”) in respect of the issue of the 2010
Convertible Loan Notes A requires Mr. King Jun Chih Joseph (‘Mr.
King”) and Mr. Chan Kwan Hung (‘Mr. Chan”) to remain as executive
directors of the Company, so long as the subscribers hold any
outstanding amount of the 2010 Convertible Loan Notes A prior to 31
December 2014.

Both Mr. King and Mr. Chan resigned from the directorship of the
Company on 27 January 2011 (the “Resignation”) and caused a breach
of covenants of 2010 Convertible Loan Notes A. Thus, it was alleged
by the subscribers that the Resignation had constituted a breach of the
Subscription Agreements and an event of default under the terms and
conditions (the “Conditions”) of the 2010 Convertible Loan Notes A,
which would entitle the subscribers to give notice to the Company that
each of the 2010 Convertible Loan Notes A is due and payable at its
principal amount. In addition, it was further alleged by the subscribers
that the resignation of Mr. King had also constituted a change of
control event as defined in the Conditions, which would entitle the
subscribers to require the Company to redeem all or some of 2010

Convertible Loan Notes A on demand.

As stated in the Company’s announcement dated 15 December 2011,
the Company had received redemption letters from the subscriber of
2010 Convertible Loan Notes A (“Bond Holder A”) on 30 November
2011, requesting for the redemption of 2010 Convertible Loan Notes A

in accordance with the Conditions.
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27.CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 21. TR ERERE (&)

2010 Convertible Loan Notes A (continued)

The Company and Bond Holder A had entered into a supplemental
agreement (“the Supplemental Agreement B”) in relation to the
alteration of certain terms and conditions of 2010 Convertible Loan
Notes A on 6 January 2012. The maturity date of 2010 Convertible
Loan Notes A was changed to 13 December 2012. Various terms
regarding increased charge on convertible preference shares and
ordinary shares, amendment on redemption upon change of control
and additional terms on redemption as a result of a major assets
acquisition and/or disposal and guaranteed return were altered in
accordance with the Supplementary Agreement B. Details of the
aforesaid alterations are set out in the Company’s circular dated 8
February 2012. Pursuant to the resolution passed in a special general
meeting on 23 February 2012, the alterations were approved by the

shareholders.

As explained in the Company’s announcement dated 8 October
2012 and circular dated 25 March 2013, the Group entered into
several contracts to acquire the entire equity interests in Lexing (the
“Acquisition”) and to dispose of entire equity interests in North Asia
Resources Group Limited (“NARG”) and Good Loyal Group Limited
(“GLG") (NARG and GLG and their subsidiaries collectively referred to
as the “Disposal Group”) and the sum of the outstanding loans from
the Disposal Group to the Group (the “Sale Loans”) (the “Disposal”) on
7 June 2013.

Moreover, on 6 September 2012, the Company and the Bond Holder A
entered into the subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement
A”) in which the Company agreed to allot and issue ordinary shares (the
“Subscription Ordinary Shares”) and convertible preference shares (the
“Subscription CPS”) at HK$0.17 per Subscription Ordinary Share and
Subscription CPS to the Bond Holder A (the “Subscription”).

AE_ZE—SFTBRRERREE
(#&)
RAREEABBEAAR-TE——F—AX
Hilz#ram=z ([HamsEBl) AESEH
EHAE T —TFIRARERERZET
R Rt - AT —THEIBRBRERZIE
ZESMBEENA-—T——F+=-A+=8-
BRARTERE R R EBR T HIEN s %E
W EHEZE R ERER RN ZIEFT A
RREBRXEEWER,SUHERREERT
BRI 2 SBIMER B IR B T IR BiE ok -
btz BRA A AR B RA-T—=
FZRANBZBH - KBER_T—_F_H
ZTH=ZRARTZRRENRE FRB 2 RE
ERESE TGN 38 E A

RARRBBMAZTE—Z—F+ANBZAR
HmRBSHA-T—=F=ZA-1+EHAZE
BUFTI - AEBEIT S HE NN RELAES
BRAER ([WESEDUERLELTE
REBERAA ([T EREE]) RGood
Loyal Group Limited ([GLG]) (JbZn&RE
B GLGRZEFRAAZHMEBRRSE HES
B 2fRAEEREEEER T —=F
NEtRBRAEEZREEGHE ([#
BExl) (THEFHE]) -

A RZB——FNAKRA  ARAEES
FAAART L RBHH (ABREHRE]) -
Bt ARRA B ERETERR ([REB
Tk ) k@i ([RErEREs
B TESHAAA ERRBB L BRLAE
AERELRIEECATET ([REFE]) -

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 » 2015 F F




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —AF+_A=+—HILFE

27.CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 27. TR EREE (&)

2010 Convertible Loan Notes A (continued)

The consideration of the Subscription that is payable by Bond Holder A
to the Company shall be satisfied by setting off against the aggregate
of (a) US$15,000,000 principal amount of the 2010 Convertible Loan
Notes A (the “Set-Off Convertible Loan Notes”) and (b) the difference
between (i) an amount that would vyield the internal return rate of
18% calculated on the Set-Off Convertible Loan Notes from the issue
date of the 2010 Convertible Loan Notes A up to and including the
date of completion of the Subscription (such amount shall take into
account of any interest (other than default interest) previously paid
with respect to the Set-Off Convertible Loan Notes, and (i) interest on
the Set-Off Convertible Loan Notes accrued from the date of the last
interest payment (i.e. 14 March 2012) up to and including the date of

completion of the Subscription at the rate of 8% per annum.

Further, on 6 September 2012, the Company, Bond Holder A and City
Bloom Limited (“City Bloom”), an independent third party to the Group
and the vendor of Lexing, entered into a supplemental agreement (the
“Supplemental Agreement C”) to amend terms and conditions of the
non-capitalised portion of the 2010 Convertible Loan Notes A with
outstanding principal amount of US$15,000,000 immediately after
the Subscription (the “Remaining US$15M Convertible Loan Notes”)
(the “Alterations”). The principle terms of the Remaining US$15M
Convertible Loan Notes as altered was detailed in the Company’s

announcement dated 8 October 2012.

The completion of the Acquisition, Disposal, Subscription and
Alteration (collectively referred to as the “Transactions”) should take
place simultaneously. Since the Transactions were not yet completed
on 12 December 2012, the Company had entered into an extension
agreement on 14 December 2012 (the “Extension Agreement”) for the
extension of the completion date of the Transactions. The Bond Holder
A has also given an undertaking to and covenanted with the Company
that it would not request for any redemption of the whole or any part
of the 2010 Convertible Loan Notes A on or before 13 March 2013
and it would not otherwise exercise or enforce any rights under the
2010 Convertible Loan Notes A to request the Company to redeem the
whole or part of the 2010 Convertible Loan Notes A on or before 13
March 2013.
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27.CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED)

2010 Convertible Loan Notes A (continued)

As detailed in the Company’s announcement dated 18 March 2013,
the Company had entered into another extension agreement in relation
to the further extension of the completion date of the Transactions
from 13 March 2013 to 30 June 2013. Bond Holder A had also given
an undertaking to and covenanted with the Company that it would
not request for any redemption of the whole or any part of the 2010
Convertible Loan Notes A on or before 30 June 2013 and it would not
otherwise exercise or enforce any rights under the 2010 Convertible
Loan Notes A to request the Company to redeem the whole or part of
the 2010 Convertible Loan Notes A on or before 30 June 2013.

The Transactions were approved by shareholders of the Company in
the extraordinary general meeting held on 12 April 2013 and completed
on 7 June 2013. As a result, upon the completion of the Subscription
on 7 June 2013, as detailed in the Company’s announcement dated 7
June 2013, the Company issued 351,122,243 Subscription Ordinary
Shares and 547,638,384 Subscription CPS to Bond Holder A to settle
the Set-Off Convertible Loan Notes. According to the settlement
deed, an additional loan from a related company of approximately
HK$4,102,000 had been used to settle the outstanding interests.

A loss on redemption of the Set-Off Convertible Loan Notes of
approximately HK$91,812,000 was recognised during the year ended
31 December 2013.

Upon the completion of the Alteration on 7 June 2013, the Remaining
US$15M Convertible Loan Notes will be due on 6 June 2016. The
Remaining US$15M Convertible Loan Notes can be converted up to
an aggregate of 430,555,555 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each. The
effective interest rate of the liability component is 14.68% per annum.
A gain on amendment of terms of the Remaining US$15M Convertible
Loan Notes of approximately HK$14,538,000 was recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit and loss during the year ended 31
December 2013.
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27.CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 27. TR EREE (&)

2010 Convertible Loan Notes A (continued)

On 4 May 2015, the holders of the 2010 Convertible Loan Notes
A converted principal amount of US$15,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$117,000,000) of the 2010 Convertible Loan Notes A into
683,823,529 ordinary shares of the Company. None of the 2010
Convertible Loan Notes A was converted into ordinary shares of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2014.

As at 31 December 2015, all of the 2010 Convertible Loan Notes A
has been fully converted and there is no outstanding 2010 Convertible
Loan Notes A as at 31 December 2015. (2014: US$15,000,000
(equivalent to HK$117,000,000)).

2013 Convertible Loan Notes A

On 7 June 2013, the Company issued convertible loan notes to the
shareholders of City Bloom with an aggregate principal amount of
approximately HK$3,548,272,000 (the “2013 Convertible Loan Notes
A”) with coupon rate equal to the rate of dividend per share from time
to time declared and paid by the Company to the shareholders as if
the 2013 Convertible Loan Notes A have been converted in full into
shares at the same time when the relevant dividend is payable to the
shareholder, in respect of the Acquisition. The 2013 Convertible Loan
Notes A had a maturity date of 6 June 2018 and can be converted up
to an aggregate of 20,872,186,547 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at
HK$0.17 per share. The notes were denominated in HK$ and entitled
the holders to convert them into ordinary shares of the Company at
any time during the period commencing from immediately after the
date of issue of the 2013 Convertible Loan Notes A up to the maturity
date. The effective interest rate of the liability component is 9.78% per

annum.

The Company may redeem whole or part of the 2013 Convertible Loan
Notes A at 100% of the outstanding principal amount together with
declared but unpaid dividend of the 2013 Convertible Loan Notes A
(the “Redemption Amount”) at any time after six months of the date of
issue of the 2013 Convertible Loan Notes A and before the maturity

date with prior notice to the shareholders of City Bloom.
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27.CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 21. TR ERERE (&)

2013 Convertible Loan Notes A (continued)

The shareholders of City Bloom may at any time after one year of the
date of issue of the 2013 Convertible Loan Notes A and before the
maturity date with prior notice to request the Company to redeem
whole or part of the 2013 Convertible Loan Notes A at Redemption
Amount. On 2 September 2013 and 3 September 2013, the holders
of the 2013 Convertible Loan Notes A converted HK$13,600,000 and
HK$10,200,000 of 2013 Convertible Loan Notes A into 80,000,000
and 60,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company respectively. On
27 January 2014, 28 March 2014, 4 April 2014, 23 June 2014, 19
August 2014, 29 September 2014, 11 November 2014 the holders
of the 2013 Convertible Loan Notes A converted principal amounts
of HK$8,500,000, HK$4,828,000, HK$34,000,000, HK$5,100,000,
HK$27,200,000, HK$93,546,000 and HK$337,412,000 of the 2013
Convertible Loan Notes A into 50,000,000, 28,400,000, 200,000,000,
30,000,000, 160,000,000, 550,268,000 and 1,984,775,000 ordinary
shares of the Company respectively.

On 5 January 2015, 27 March 2015, 14 April 2015, 28 April 2015,
8 May 2015, 28 May 2015 and 14 September 2015, the holders
of the 2013 Convertible Loan Notes A converted principal amounts
approximately HK$8,000,000, HK$252,431,000, HK$363,315,000,
HK$213,345,000, HK$386,204,000, HK$52,417,000 and
HK$317,787,000 into 47,058,822, 1,484,887,143, 2,137,145,257,
1,254,969,463, 2,271,787,254, 308,335,000 and 1,869,337,346
ordinary shares of the Company respectively.

As at 31 December 2015, the remaining principal of the
2013 Convertible Loan Notes A is HK$1,420,388,000 (2014:
HK$3,013,886,426).
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EEBEHBH BEXAQAREOEERDS
BRBPAB - —=—FABBERZE-
NR_TE—=FAAB-BR=-_ZE—=%hA
TH AR —FABRRERZECE
A A 13,600,0007% 7T £ 10,200,000/ 7T 2.
A ZZE—=FAMRREREED IR KA
80,000,000% % 60,000,000/% Z& 2~ 7] & i
BeR—_E—NF—A=-++tH —T—NF
A+ B - ZE—NFMAmNA - =%
—WEXNA-+=A-Z2—NmENBTA
H- ZZ-—HmFAAZ+THARZZ—N
F+—A+—HB AB_T—=—FABEE
HEEF B A A+ /8,500,000 7T »
4,828,000/ JT ~ 34,000,000/ 7T * 5,100,000
7 7T~ 27,200,000/ T + 93,546,000/% 7T
5337,412,0008 T 2AE T —=F7
R & R EE 9 Bl K # 550,000,000
28,400,000/ + 200,000,000 ~ 30,000,000
B% ~160,000,0000% + 550,268,000 &
1,984,775,000f& A< 1 7] & i A%

R—_E—HE—-—ARERA - —ZE—H&F=
AZ++tH - ZZE—HAFWMA+TA-
—T-hFEMWAZ+NR ZE—A0FH
ANB ZZE—RAFRAA-FTNHEZ=ZZ
—HFAA+HAB ABE-_ZT—=—Fa#
REFREEFE A 48,000,000 T -
252,431,000/ 7T~ 363,315,000/ T
213,345,000/ 7T ~ 386,204,000/ T
52,417,000/ 7t &% 317,787,000/ 7t 2 AN &
5 B 3 ¥ 547,058,822% + 1,484,887,143
f&-2,137,145,2578% +1,254,969,463
f&~2,271,787,2540% - 308,335,000% X
1,869,337,346M8 AR A A F i o

WZE—HF+_A=+—H A=
Z-ZFURREREB RSB ES
#1,420,388,000/ ;0 (=& — [0 & :
3,013,886,426/8 7T ) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —AF+_A=+—HILFE

27.CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 27. TR EREE (&)

2013 Convertible Loan Notes B

On 24 June 2013, the Company issued convertible loan notes which
had a maturity date on 23 June 2016 with an aggregate principal
amount of US$23,000,000 (equivalent to HK$179,400,000) (the “2013
Convertible Loan Notes B”) and with coupon rate of 8% per annum,
settled semi-annually. The 2013 Convertible Loan Notes B can be
converted up to an aggregate of 578,709,677 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each at HK$0.31 per share (subject to adjustment). The notes
were denominated in US$ and entitled the holders to convert them into
ordinary shares of the Company at any time from (and including) the
date of the issue date and up to five business days prior to the maturity
date. The effective interest rate of the liability component is 20.61% per

annum.

On 15 May 2015 and 20 May 2015, the holders of the 2013
Convertible Loan Notes B converted principal amounts of
US$3,000,000 (equivalent to HK$23,400,000) and US$500,000
(equivalent to HK$3,900,000) of the 2013 Convertible Loan Notes
B into 75,483,871 and 12,580,645 ordinary shares of the Company
respectively. None of the 2013 Convertible Loan Notes B was
converted into ordinary shares of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2014.

On 9 November 2015, the Company has early redeemed principal
amounts of US$3,000,000 (equivalent to HK$23,400,000) of the 2013
Convertible Loan Notes B at a cash consideration of HK$23,400,000.
A loss on redemption of approximately HK$981,000 is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2015.

As at 31 December 2015, the remaining principal of the 2013
Convertible Loan Notes B is US$16,500,000 (equivalent
to HK$128,700,000) (2014: US$23,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$179,400,000)).

NORTH ASIA RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ it 5 EJFRIER B R A A

BE—_ZE—=FTRARERERE
RZTE—Z=ZF R XA=-+HB  "QAETAE
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE
27.CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED)

2013 Convertible Loan Notes C

On 3 July 2013, the Company issued convertible loan notes which had
a maturity date on 2 July 2016 with an aggregate principal amount
of US$7,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$54,600,000) (the
“2013 Convertible Loan Notes C”) and with coupon rate of 8% per
annum, settled semi-annually. The 2013 Convertible Loan Notes C can
be converted up to an aggregate of 176,129,032 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each at HK$0.31 per share (subject to adjustment). The notes
were denominated in US$ and entitled the holders to convert them into
ordinary shares of the Company at any time from (and including) the
date of the issue date and up to five business days prior to the maturity
date. The effective interest rate of the liability component is 22.61% per

annum.

The Company may redeem whole or part of the 2013 Convertible
Loan Notes B and 2013 Convertible Loan Notes C at 100% of the
outstanding principal amount together with unpaid interest at any
time after twelve months of the date of issue of the 2013 Convertible
Loan Notes B and the 2013 Convertible Loan Notes C and before the

maturity date with prior notice to notes holders.

On 28 May 2015, the holders of the 2013 Convertible Loan Notes
C converted principal amounts of US$1,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$7,800,000) of 2013 Convertible Loan Notes C into 25,161,290
ordinary shares of the Company.

On 9 November 2015, the Company has early redeemed principal
amounts of US$6,000,000 (equivalent to HK$46,800,000) of the 2013
Convertible Loan Notes C at a cash consideration of HK$46,800,000.
A loss on redemption of approximately HK$2,324,000 is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2015.

As at 31 December 2015, there is no outstanding 2013 Convertible
Loan Notes C (2014: US$7,000,000 (equivalent to HK$54,600,000)).

271. TR R EREE (&)

CE-_Z—=FTHRREXREE
RZZE—=FtANB KRQRETEALE
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

= =
27.CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 27. TR EREE (&)
The movements of the liability and derivative components of the ARBREFRERABERTETIAS S 285
convertible loan notes are set out below: AT
2010 2013 2013 2013
Convertible Convertible Convertible Convertible
Loan Notes A Loan Notes A Loan Notes B Loan Notes C Total
AB-Z-Z% A-T-=% BE-T-=f CE-Z-=%
AR AR EIE:3:Y EE::
BENEE EREE ERER ERE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FTHT FTHT TR THT
Liabilities component SEHS
At 1 January 2014 RZZ-mF-A—H 170,980 2,333,778 139,173 42,770 2,686,701
Effective interest expenses (Note 9)  EFR A 2B % (Mi#9) 25,017 230,091 28,684 9,198 292,990
Interest paid during the year FREMAFE (9,360) - (14,352) (4,368) (28,080)
GConversion of convertible loan notes % AR AR ERZE - (364,225) - - (364,225)
At 31 December 2014 and RZZE-WF+ZA=+—HK
1 January 2015 —T-R%—HA-H 186,637 2,199,644 153,505 47,600 2,587,386
Effective interest expenses (Note 9)  EBEF S5 (Bi79) 8,738 149,683 26,412 8,137 192,970
Interest paid during the year FREMAFE - - (12,083) (4,306) (16,389)
Redemptions of convertible loan notes & 2 7] 4 & Z 1% - - (22,377) (44,388) (66,765)
Conversions of convertible loan notes % el AR EREE (195,375) (1,207,139) (23,870) (7,043) (1,433,427)
At 31 December 2015 RZE-RAF+ZA=1+—H - 1,142,188 121,587 - 1,263,775
Presented by: BATHA RS
As at 31 December 2015 R-Z-EF+-A=t+-H
Current liabilities MEAR - - 121,587 - 121,587
Non-current liabilities EEINERE - 1,142,188 - - 1,142,188
- 1,142,188 121,587 - 1,263,775
As at 31 December 2014 R-B-WE+ZA=1+-H
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 186,637 2,199,644 153,505 47,600 2,587,386
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

E~ =
27.CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 27. TR ERERE (&)
2010 2013 2013 2013
Convertible Convertible Convertible Convertible
Loan Notes A Loan Notes A Loan Notes B Loan Notes C Total
AE-2-Z% AE-Z-=f BE-Z-=F CE-%-=%
AR AR AR ARR
EXEE ENEE ENEE ¥R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTET FTET FTET FTET
Derivative component TEIARS
At 1 January 2014 RZE-NF—-A—H (16,678) 1,462,670 17,631 5,371 1,468,994
Conversion of convertible loan notes ~ RAFA#IREHE - (232,012) - - (232,012)
Change in fair value AFEEY 5,338 (307,866) (11,554) (3,510) (317,592)
At 31 December 2014 and RZE-EE+ZA=+—AK
1 January 2015 —ZT-R§—HA—-H (11,340) 922,792 6,077 1,861 919,390
Conversion of convertible loan notes IR AR ERZE (52,034) (1,284,637) (10,275) (2,462) (1,349,408)
Redemption of convertible loan notes A A AR E R Z & - - (42) 88) (130)
Change in fair value AEEEE 63,374 718,068 4,242 689 786,373
At 31 December 2015 RZE-RE+-A=F-H - 356,223 2 - 356,225
Presented by: BRUATHAZS:
As at 31 December 2015 RZB-HF+ZA=+-H
Current assets MBEE - - - - -
Current liabilities nBEE - 356,223 2 - 356,225
- 356,223 2 - 356,225
As at 31 December 2014 R-E-ME+=-A=1+-A
Current assets MBEE (11,340) - - - (11,340)
Current liabilities MEEE - 922,792 6,077 1,861 930,730
(11,340) 922,792 6,077 1,861 919,390
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

27.CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 21. TR ERERE (&)

The fair value of the derivative component of the 2010 Convertible
Loan Notes A was estimated at the date of amendment of terms, the
date of conversion and the end of each reporting period respectively
using the Black-Scholes model with trinomial tree method. The
change in fair value of the derivative component is recognised in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The derivative component of the 2010 Convertible Loan Notes A
represented the conversion option of the holder and the redemption
option of the Company, revalued on 31 December 2014 and 4 May
2015 based on the valuation performed by Greater China, using the
Black-Scholes model with trinomial tree method. The significant inputs

to the models were as follows:

REE(BT)
£ [ g ) 3K

Spot price (HK$)

Risk free rate

Expected option period (year) TEHAEAAE BARR (5F)
Expected volatility TE K 1R

ABR—Z-ZEARRERERZITETA
Moz AFERNGEFET B LBAHRK
BMEBRD BB — H AT HEE
EELE =B REEEG -TETA
MAZ A FEEPIRGABERER -

A -—TFAMRERERZITETA
BOEREE A2 A IRERARE 2 HEEHE -
ERZZE—WF+-_A=+—RBER=Z2—F
FHAMBKREERNBME T —H RS
BEBENR=EABREEEETZMEE
B ZFHEE 7 ERBABNOT

4 May 31 December

2015 2014
—E-AF —E—MmF
EAMA +=A=+-—H
0.28 0.21
0.2782% 0.4043%
1.09 1.44
51.78% 46.52%
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE
27.CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED)

The derivative component of 2013 Convertible Loan Notes A which

27. TR EREE (&)

AR —=FMRERFZBZITETAR
DEBEAZRABEREARARIZERE B
RZT—NOF—-—A=++tH ZT—NF=
A=+ N\B -ZE—MFMWAMAE - —F—N
FXRNAZ+=ZB - ZZE-—mWFENA+NA-
—E-NEAAZTABE ZE—NEF+—
At+—RA -ZE—WmE+ZA=+—H =
T—AF—ARB - ZET—RAE=ZA=-++t
A Z—AFNOA+MHA - —T—hFMA
—t+N\B -ZE—AFRANB -ZE—HF
FAZFNB ZE—AFALA+TEAR=
T-AF+ZA=+T—BEBEEFNBME
m-HBIHEEERD R =EAIKEE
FETZRERE SR ERFAE

represented the conversion option of the holder and the redemption
option of the Company, was valued 27 January 2014, 28 March 2014,
4 April 2014, 23 June 2014, 19 August 2014, 29 September 2014,
11 November 2014, 31 December 2014, 5 January 2015, 27 March
2015, 14 April 2015, 28 April 2015, 8 May 2015, 28 May 2015, 14
September 2015 and 31 December 2015 based on the valuations
performed by Greater China, using Black-Scholes model with Trinomial
Lattice Tree model. The significant inputs to the models were as

follows:

o

31 December 11 November 29 September 19 August

2014 2014 2014 2014

—E-mEF —E-NE —E-mE —Z-mEF

+t=ZA=+-BH +-A+-H ARAB=thH NBthH

Spot price (HK$) REEB (BT 0.148 0.152 0.155 0.138
Risk free rate =B R IR 1.1464% 1.0039% 1.2090% 0.9922%
Expected option period (year) — JEEAERHEHAMR () 3.44 3.57 3.69 3.8
Expected volatility T8 ERR 8 59.28% 61.45% 61.14% 63.11%
23 June 4 April 28 March 27 January

2014 2014 2014 2014

—EZ-mE —E-NE —E-mF —E-mF

AAZ+=H mAME =A=+NB —A=t++tAH

Spot price (HK$) REE(Er) 0.117 0.144 0.144 0.156
Risk free rate ERRF & 1.1807% 1.3520% 1.2942% 1.2260%
Expected option period (year) ~ FAEAERMEHAR () 3.96 4.18 4.20 4.36
Expected volatility T8 ERR 8 61.35% 60.73% 61.34% 59.91%
31 December 14 September 28 May 8 May

2015 2015 2015 2015

—E-AF “E-EHF “E-EF —E-RF

+=B=+—-H hWA+Hm™E HAZ=+NH HEANA

Spot price (HK$) REE () 0.035 0.100 0.335 0.36
Risk free rate B X 0.7520% 0.6403% 0.7362% 0.8494%
Expected option period (year) ~ FEEAERMEHAMR () 2.44 2.73 3.03 3.08
Expected volatility TEHR 18 70.42% 62.17% 53.36% 54.24%
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE
27.CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED)

28 April

2015

—E-RF

A=+NH

Spot price (HK$) RER’ (B 0.270
Risk free rate 2 B ) R 0.6827%
Expected option period (year) ~ JEEAEAHEHAMR () 3.1
Expected volatility T8 ERR 8 51.49%

27. MREREE (&)

14 April 27 March 5 January
2015 2015 2015
—E-RE —E-RE —E-F1F
MA+m™ME =A=+tH —AEH
0.224 0.169 0.146
0.6970% 0.7869% 1.1039%
3.15 3.20 3.42
47.68% 49.08% 58.50%

The derivative component of 2013 Convertible Loan Notes B which
represented the conversion option of the holder and the redemption
option of the Company, was valued on issue date 24 June 2013, 31
December 2014, 15 May 2015, 20 May 2015, 9 November 2015 and

31 December 2015 based on the valuations performed by Greater

BE T =FrREXREBZITETA
BAOERBRBEAZRBRERKAR 2 EOHE
ER-_E—=FNA-+MWAZHTHS-
ZE—NE+ZA=+—H ZFT—HFH
A+HB -ZE—RAFHA=Z+H ZF—H

China, using Black-Scholes model with trinomial tree model. The Ft+—ARBR=ZZ—HAF+-A=+—H
significant inputs to the models were as follows: RBEEF RAM KD — B RETARgEEEER
R=BABREEEZETZHELRE ZF
BRZERBABRNT :
31 December 31 December 9 November
2014 2015 2015
—E-QE —E-%F —E-RF
+=ZA=+—-B +ZA=t-—H +—AhB
Spot price (HK$) REE () 0.148 0.035 0.07
Risk free rate ERRF = 0.4236% 0.4597% 0.3732%
Expected option period (year) TEEEARE AR () 1.48 0.48 0.62
Expected volatility T8 H R 8 57.51% 97.06% 93.01%
20 May 15 May
2015 2015
—E-HE —E-HE
HEA=+H EA+EA
Spot price (HK$) REE(BT) 0.32 0.37
Risk free rate R R A & 0.2540% 0.2463%
Expected option period (year) TEHABARE AARR (4F) 1.10 1.11
Expected volatility 78 H % b 65.41% 64.86%
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

27.CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 271. IR ERERE (&)
The derivative component of 2013 Convertible Loan Notes C which CE-_ZT— = #REREBZITETA
represented the conversion option of the holder and the redemption HoEHBAZLIRERANRR 2 BRI
option of the Company, was valued on 31 December 2014, 28 May ER-_ZE—N&E+_-_A=+—HB - —ZT—H
2015 and 9 November 2015 based on the valuations performed by FRAZHTNARZZE—RAF+—ANBK
Greater China, using the Black-Scholes model with trinomial tree BEEFAMER - HRTETEER R
model. The significant inputs to the models were as follows: CHEAMREEZETZHEMRE - ZEE
Brzs REABHOT:
31 December 9 November 28 May
2014 2015 2015
—E-mF —E-RE —E-0f
+=-A=+—-8H +—AhA EA=+NA
Spot price (HK$) REEET) 0.148 0.07 0.335
Risk free rate ERERF = 0.4347% 0.3829% 0.2952%
Expected option period (year) TEERERREEAMR (5F) 1.50 0.65 1.10
Expected volatility T8 E R 8 57.31% 91.77% 65.73%
28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. R A
Number of shares Share Capital
RAEE B
2015 2014 2015 2014
“E-5F —Z-mE “E-IF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHEL

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each ~ SREE0.01B T2 ZER

Authorised: EE:

At 1 January and 31 December R—A—RARk+-A=+—H 76,905,061,616  76,905,061,616 769,051 769,051

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 2015 F F 3 157




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e WIS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—AF+_A=+—HILFE

28. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 28. IR (#8)
Number of shares Amount
RAEE X
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-IF —Z-mF —E-IF —Z-mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTART FET
At beginning of the financial year 7 Bf B £ F 1 B 6,034,978,023  2,896,989,712 60,350 28,970
Issue of shares upon: PTEEETRG
Conversion of convertible RpnERELR (Mta)
preference shares (note a) 2,185,231,785 134,545,454 21,852 1,345
Conversion of convertible ABRABRRERE
loan notes (note b) (Mi7EDb) 10,170,569,620  3,003,442,857 101,706 30,085
Issued on placing (note c) e & r 21T (MEc) 2,234,505,000 - 22,345 -
Interest capitalisation (note d) FEEARY (MEd) 28,078,979 - 281 -
Exercise of share option (note 6) B IEETEE (Fiite) 10,000,000 - 100 -
At the end of the financial year REBEFELERE 20,663,363,407  6,034,978,023 206,634 60,350

Notes:

a. On 28 March 2014, 118,400,000 of convertible preference shares were
converted into consideration shares where 134,545,454 of ordinary shares
were issued and allotted as consideration shares upon conversion of the
convertible preference shares.

On 30 March 2015, 15 April 2015, 21 April 2015 and 8 May 2015,
1,988,720,587 of preference shares were converted into consideration
shares. 2,185,231,785 of ordinary shares were issued and allotted as
consideration shares upon conversion of the convertible preference shares.

b.  On 27 January 2014, 28 March 2014, 4 April 2014, 23 June 2014, 19
August 2014, 29 September 2014, 11 November 2014 the holders
of the 2013 Convertible Loan Notes A converted principal amounts
of HK$8,500,000, HK$4,828,000, HK$34,000,000, HK$5,100,000,
HK$27,200,000, HK$93,546,000 and HK$337,412,000 of the 2013
Convertible Loan Notes A into 50,000,000, 28,400,000, 200,000,000,
30,000,000, 160,000,000, 550,268,805 and 1,984,775,052 ordinary shares
of the Company respectively.

NORTH ASIA RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ bt 5 EJFRIER B R A A

RZZT—ME=H=+/\H" 118,400,0000%
AERELERE HRARERD - R E AN E
B S0 IR R B 81T M BiC $5134,545,454% 8
RIERBRERG -

RZE—RAF=A=+H ZZFT—HFWNA
+THA - ZF-RFEOA-F-BARZ=F—F
FRHAN\E - 1,988,720,587 B LD HIRA
KRB - R AR TTEIREBERE BETR
fid2%2,185,231,785/% L @A E AR BAL (5 ©

R-E-—MNME—A-_++tRA - —ZT—NFE=
AZ+N B ZZ—WFEANA - = —/
EFXRA-+=0-—Z2—WENA+NA
—E-NEARZ+AA 2T —WmE+—
Bt+—HB AR 4Bl ERZHE
2 ¥ A A 18,500,000/ T - 4,828,000/ T *
34,000,0003% 7T * 5,100,000 7T * 27,200,000
7 7T+ 98,546,000 7T % 337,412,000% 7T
AT =—FUBRREXRZEASHE
2 Bl 3 ¥ A550,000,0000% + 28,400,000
200,000,0008%  30,000,000f% * 160,000,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HIFE
28. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 28. A (&)

Notes: (continued) MisE: (8&)

(continued)

On 4 May 2015, the holders of the 2010 Convertible Loan Notes A converted
principal amounts of HK$116,250,000 of 2010 Convertible Loan Notes A into
683,823,529 ordinary shares of the Company.

On 5 January 2015, 27 March 2015, 15 April 2015, 28 April 2015, 8 May
2015, 28 May 2015 and 14 September 2015, the holders of the 2013
Convertible Loan Notes A converted principal amounts of approximately
HK$8,000,000, HK$252,431,000, HK$363,315,000, HK$213,345,000,
HK$386,204,000, HK$52,417,000, HK$317,787,000 of the 2013
Convertible Loan Notes A into 47,058,822, 1,484,887,143, 2,137,145,257,
1,2564,969,463, 2,271,787,254, 308,335,000 and 1,869,337,346 ordinary
shares of the Company respectively.

On 15 May 2015 and 20 May 2015, the holders of the 2013 Convertible Loan
Notes B converted principal amounts of HK$23,400,000 and HK$3,900,000
of 2013 Convertible Loan B into 75,483,871 and 12,580,645 ordinary shares
of Company respectively.

On 28 May 2015, the holders of the 2013 Convertible Loan Notes C
converted principal amount of HK$7,800,000 of 2013 Convertible Loan Notes
C into 25,161,290 ordinary shares of the Company.

On 17 April 2015 and 16 July 2015, the placement of 472,205,000 and
1,762,300,000 ordinary shares of the Company at HK$0.18 and HK$0.145
per share respectively (the “Placing Shares”) were allotted and issued under
the General Mandate.

On 18 July 2015, the Company entered into an agreement with a lender
that it would issue 28,078,979 ordinary shares of the Company to offset
the unpaid accrued interest amounting to HK$4,071,000 for a borrowing
of approximately HK$32,000,000 classified as other borrowing. Upon issue
of the shares on 22 Jul 2015, fair value of the share issued amounted to
approximately HK$3,594,000 and a gain of HK$477,000 was recognised from
the transaction.

On July 2015, share options were exercised to subscribe for 10,000,000
shares of the Company at a consideration of HK$1,500,000. The total amount
of the consideration and the relevant share option reserve of HK$1,952,000
were transferred to share capital and share premium in accordance with
accounting policy set out in Note 3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

29. CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES

Convertible preference shares at HK$0.01 each, issued and fully paid:

29. A EBAE KR

FREEC.OVET Z A EHRELR 2%

R#R -
Number of
shares Amount
BREHE ]
HK$'000
FHET
Convertible preference shares (note a) AT EBRE LR (Mizxa)
At 1 January 2014 RZE—ME—H—H 1,659,482,203 15,595
Conversion during the year FARI; (118,400,000) (1,184)
At 31 December 2014 and RZE—NF+ZA=+—HR
1 January 2015 —E—hF—A—H 1,441,082,203 14,411
Conversion during the year F AN (1,441,082,203) (14,411)
At 31 December 2015 RZE—RF+-A=+—H - -
Convertible preference shares (Class A) ATE&E %K (AF) (Kistb)
(note b)
At 1 January 2014 and 1 January 2015 RZTE—NmE—-—A—ABXK
—E-RF—A—H 547,638,384 5,476
Conversion during the year FRHB} (547,638,384) (5,476)
At 31 December 2015 R-_E—FF+—-—F=+—H _ _
Total convertible preference shares AERELERAH
At 31 December 2015 R-FE-—RF+_-_A=+—H - -
At 31 December 2014 RZT—WNE+=-_A=+—H 1,988,720,587 19,887

NORTH ASIA RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED e 1t 55 & RZ R B R A A




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mae

B TSR AR B EE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HIFE
29. CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES (CONTINUED)

Note:

(a)

On 16 December 2009, the Company issued 2,547,300,000 convertible
preference shares of par value of HK$0.01 at issue price of HK$0.5 per share
in respect of the acquisition of NARG.

The initial conversion price of HK$0.5 per ordinary share is for each
convertible preference share. The conversion rate of each convertible
preference share is determined by dividing the issue price of each convertible
preference share by the conversion price. The major terms of the above-
mentioned preference shares are set out below:

() The convertible preference share holders has the right, exercisable at
any time perpetual as from the date of issue, to convert the preference
shares into fully paid ordinary shares, provided that (1) any conversion
of the convertible preference shares does not trigger a mandatory offer
obligation under rule 26 of the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and
Mergers on the part of the convertible preference shares holders and
their concert parties who exercise the conversion rights; (2) the number
of conversion shares to be allotted and issued upon the exercise of
the conversion rights attaching to the convertible preference shares
represents not more than 29.99% of the then issued ordinary share
capital of the Company on a fully diluted basis; (3) the number of
the conversion shares to be allotted and issued to any holder of the
convertible preference shares will not result in the aggregate holding by
such holder of convertible preference shares to exceed 19.99% of the
then issued share capital of the Company on a fully diluted basis; and (4)
the public float of the shares shall not be less than 25%.

(i)  The convertible preference shares are transferable other than to
connected persons, as defined under the Listing Rules, of the Company
and do not carry the right to vote. The convertible preference shares
holders shall not be entitled to any dividend.

(i)~ The convertible preference shares shall rank pari passu with any and all
current and future preferred equity securities of the Company.

(iv)  The convertible preference shares are non-redeemable.

Based on their terms and conditions, the convertible preference shares have
been classified as equity instrument in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

On 11 February 2010, the conversion price of the convertible preference
shares was adjusted from HK$0.5 per share to HK$0.44 per share as a
result of the issuance of shares placed on the same date which resulted a
conversion ratio of 88 convertible preference shares for 100 ordinary shares
of the Company. The details of the adjustment are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated on 20 May 2010.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE
29. CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES (CONTINUED)

Note: (continued)

(o)

On 7 June 2013, the Company issued 547,638,384 convertible preference
shares (at the “CPS Class A”) with par value of HK$0.01 in respect of a
subscription completed as at the same date.

The valuation of the CPS Class A was carried out by Greater China, an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected to the Group. The
variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of the CPS Class
A are based on the directors’ best estimate.

The fair value of the CPS Class A as at 7 June 2013 (completion date of
Subscription) amounted to approximately HK$135,800,000, approximately
HK$0.25 per share. The amount in excess of the par value of the CPS Class
A is credited to the share premium in the equity of the Company.

Each of the CPS Class A can be converted into one ordinary share. The major
terms of the CPS Class A are set out below:

()  The CPS Class A share holders has the right, exercisable at any time
perpetual as from the date of issue, to convert the CPS Class A into
fully paid ordinary shares, provided that (1) the conversion of CPS Class
A will not cause the holders and parties acting in concert with it, will
directly or indirectly, control or be interested in 20% or more of the entire
issued ordinary shares of the Company; and (2) the public float of the
shares shall not be less than 25%.

(i)  The CPS Class A are transferable other than to connected persons, as
defined under the Listing Rules, of the Company and do not carry the
right to vote.

(i) The CPS Class A have priority to any rights of the holders of any other
class of shares of the Company to receive dividends. And dividend
declared shall not be less than that declared in respect of any other
class of shares of the Company on a per share basis.

(iv)  The CPS Class A shall rank prior to the ordinary shares of the Company
in respect of dividends and distributions of surplus assets upon the

occurrence of liquidation.

(v)  The CPS Class A are non-redeemable by neither the Company nor any
holder of the CPS Class A.

Based on their terms and conditions, the CPS Class A have been classified
as equity instrument in the consolidated statement of financial position.

As at 31 December 2015, all of the convertible preference shares have been
fully converted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE
30. PROVISION FOR RESTORATION, REHABILITATION AND

31.

ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS

3. kB -BERREHARE

HK$’000

FHEIT

At 1 January 2014 RZE—NE—HA—H 62,330

Imputed interest expense (Note 9) HERBFALZ (M) 3,822

Exchange realignment & X A 1,781

At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 RZE—NMFE+_A=+—HEZ=ZZT—HAF—HA—H 67,933

Imputed interest expense (Note 9) HERMBFAEZ (M) 3,788

Exchange realignment T A& (4,224)

At 31 December 2015 RZFE—RAF+=-A=+—H 67,497
The restoration and rehabilitation works will be performed in the years MEREEZIHEIR_ZE__FE2_FN

from 2022 to 2040. The provision is carried at amortised cost at

effective interest rate ranges from 4.1% to 6.96% per annum.

PROMISSORY NOTES

The movements of the promissory notes for the two years ended 31
December 2015 and 2014 are set out below:

TEET - BENRERFNENF4EE
6.96/F 5t 8 2 HEIHAK AT AR -

ERRRE

EHEEREE-_T-—RHAFE _T—NF
+Z A=+ —BALMEFE 8 HI W
T

Promissory Promissory Promissory
Notes A Notes B Notes C Total
ABRRER BERALEE CERAER @5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL
At 1 January 2014 RZE-NF—-A—H
Issue of promissory notes FREBTRLER
during the year 38,676 179,150 57,590 275,416
Interest paid during the year FRERFE - (21,528) (6,552) (28,080)
Effective interest expenses (Note 9) ERAERE (M) 2,876 21,775 6,647 31,298
At 31 December 2014 and RZZ-NE+=-A=+-HRK
1 January 2015 —Z-1Ff—-A—H 41,552 179,397 57,685 278,634
Redemption during the year FREE (44,042) (19,456) - (63,498)
Interest paid during the year FREMFE - (20,419) (6,552) (26,971)
Effective interest expenses (Note 9) BRABRAT (M) 2,490 20,650 6,658 29,798
At 31 December 2015 RZZE-8F+=-A=1+—H - 160,172 57,791 217,963
Presented by: BRATHRZ5]:
As at 31 December 2015 R-ZE-5F+-HA=+—H
Current liabilties MBAE - 160,172 57,791 217,963
Non-current liabilities FREakE - - - -
- 160,172 57,791 217,963
As at 31 December 2014 R-ZE-ME+-ZA=+—H
Non-current liabilities FRBBE 41,552 179,397 57,685 278,634
41,552 179,397 57,685 278,634
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—AF+_A=+—HILFE

31. PROMISSORY NOTES (CONTINUED) N EZAERE (&)

Promissory Notes A

On 7 June 2013, the Company issued unsecured promissory notes
with principal value of HK$400,000,000 in respect to the acquisition
of a subsidiary (the “Promissory Notes A”). Promissory Notes A
will mature on 6 June 2016 and bear interest at 5% per annum.
All interests will be accrued and paid on the date of maturity. The
Company may redeem whole or part of the Promissory Notes A at
any time after the date of issue of the Promissory Notes A and before
the maturity date with prior notice to the shareholders of City Bloom.
No interest shall be accrued and payable in respect of the Promissory
Notes A that are early redeemed by the Company. The Promissory
Notes A were measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rates at 10.14%. The directors of the Company determined that no
value has been assigned for the redemption options of the Company as
it is considered to be insignificant in value. As at 31 December 2014,

the principal amount of the Promissory Notes A was HK$41,600,000.

On 24 July 2015 and 10 August 2015, the Company redeemed the
Promissory Notes A with principal amount of HK$20,000,000 and
HK$21,600,000 at a cash consideration of HK$20,000,000 and
HK$21,600,000 respectively. A gain on redemption of approximately
HK$2,442,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2015. As at 31 December

2015, all the Promissory Notes A had been fully redeemed.

Promissory Notes B

On 28 June 2013, the Company issued unsecured promissory notes
with principal value of US$23,000,000 (equivalent to HK$179,400,000)
by placing (the “Promissory Notes B”). The Promissory Notes B will
mature on 23 June 2016, bear interest at 12% per annum payable
every six months. The Company may redeem whole or part of the
Promissory Notes B from twelve months after the date of issue of the
Promissory Notes B and before the maturity date with prior notice
to the placees. The Promissory Notes B are measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rates at 12.18%. The directors
of the Company determined that no value has been assigned for
the redemption options of the Company as it is considered to be

insignificant in value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HIFE
31. PROMISSORY NOTES (CONTINUED)

Promissory Notes B (continued)

On 3 July 2015, the Company have early redeemed principal
amounts of US$2,500,000 (equivalent to HK$19,500,000) of the
Promissory Notes B at a cash consideration of HK$19,500,000. A
loss on redemption of approximately HK$44,000 was recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2015.

As at 31 December 2015, the remaining principal amount of the
Promissory Notes B is US$20,500,000 (equivalent to HK$159,900,000)
(2014: US$23,000,000 (equivalent to HK$179,400,000)).

Promissory Notes C

On 3 July 2013, the Company issued unsecured promissory notes
with principal value of US$7,000,000 (equivalent to HK$54,600,000)
by placing (the “Promissory Notes C”). The Promissory Notes C will
mature on 3 July 2016 and bear interest at 12% per annum payable
every six months. The Company may redeem whole or part of the
Promissory Notes C from twelve months after the date of issue of the
Promissory Notes C and before the maturity date with prior notice
to the placees. The Promissory Notes C are measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rates at 12.23%. The directors
of the Company determined that no value has been assigned for
the redemption options of the Company as it is considered to be

insignificant in value.

N EZLEE (&)

BEALERE (&)
RZZE—HAF+LA=H ARFRIERRERE
19,500,000 7T 12 7 & [B] A8 4 28 42,500,000
F 7t (% 719,500,000/8 7T ) < BIE & 3 =
B YEREHEE-Z—AF+=-A=1+—H
IEFE 2 iRA B R R E R EE 444,000
opIv

WZE—RAF+_A=+—8B BEEKX
R 2% T A4 % A20,500,000% 7T (48
£ 159,900,000 L) (=& — M4 :
23,000,000% 7T (#8% #179,400,000/%
TT) ) e

CEARERE
RZE—=ZF+tA=ZH ARQRaUEEH
X 1T AL B AB7,000,0003% T (HER
54,600,000/ 7T ) 2 M 3 K Z & ([CH
AHER]) CHAREBENR T —XF
+AZB2E WESTNEARE B12ERT
B ARRR A RCHEARZBETRE T ZE
ARZEZNEAAEREREAMGRAEA
MO 2 E R E D CHEAN EiE - CIEANZE
FEAERFER12.23EREHKATE - AR
REFRAARNBETIK BURETHRAR
Al EREEETEEE

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 2015 F F 3




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

32. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY RNELEHRELR

The following is the movements of deferred tax liability during the
current and prior years:

AEENBEFEZEERBAEZH N
T

Mining rights

BRUE

HK$’000

FHET

At 1 January 2014 RZE—MNFE—HA—H 2,726,722
Credited to profit or loss FFAEZE (177,301)
Exchange realignment PE i A% 77,840
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 RZE—NFE+_A=+—HEZ=ZZT—AF—H—H 2,627,261
Credited to profit or loss FFAER (678,756)
Exchange difference & 5 Z 58 (157,677)
At 31 December 2015 RZT—AF+=ZA=+—H 1,790,828

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused tax losses
of approximately HK$23,381,000 (2014: HK$22,397,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The tax losses of approximately HK$21,178,000 (2014:
HK$21,178,000) may be carried forward indefinitely. The remaining of
approximately HK$2,203,000 (2014: HK$1,219,000) will be carried
forward for 5 years from the year in which the respective loss arose.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had deductible temporary
differences of approximately HK$15,094,000 (2014: HK$13,235,000).
No deferred tax assets have been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can
be utilised.

Under the New Enterprises Income Tax Law of the PRC, withholding
tax is imposed on dividends in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards (the “Post-2008 Earnings”).
As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, deferred taxation has not been
provided for in the consolidation financial statements in respect of
temporary difference attributable to the “Post-2008 Earnings” as the
Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. As at 31 December 2015, the Group
has Post-2008 earnings of approximately HK$2,933,000 (2014:
HK$2,901,000).

NORTH ASIA RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ it 5 E/FRIER G R A 7

RBEHR AEEERPARBEERY
23,381,000/ 7T ( == — U 4 : 22,397,000
BIT) AR ARIR ) o AR R EETE AR
AR A SRR - B L A h A B B TE U R T
RIEILTR IR & 2 - TIH K 18 £921,178,00078
JL (= Z —PO4F : 21,178,000/ 7T ) 7] £ [R HA
#hE o H £ E518 492,208,000/ 7T (—ZF — I
% :1,219,000%8 70) K BE B HEBE 2 FH L
EF N -

NBEMR AEEAAHNBREHZHLD
15,094,000/ 7t ( — & — P4 4 : 13,235,000
BIT) » RN KA 8L A FE AR Bm A B 1EH 84
AEBZ AR ERERE Bt mat s
AMREREREAEEHAEE -

BEFBEFEEMETE BEETEREAR
AT N\F—A—HEMEIUEFR ([=
ZENFERAN]) 2 REBHNTENE 7
ZE-RAFERZFE-NMF+_A=+—8"
REBMIAR [ TS N\FERBH] HR2E
RER RNEEMEREREDETCRBREE
R 2 7 52 [ Bl 120 | 8 (o] T B 2= R 2 D
BEBEREBT AN &R E -
RZE—RAFE+-_A=+—8 FEEHF=
TT )\ F 1% B F 492,933,000 (=T — M
2,901,000 7T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

33. IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS, PROPERTY, PLANT BREE VR BERKRER

AND EQUIPMENT AND GOODWILL

Impairment testing of mining rights, property, plant and

equipment and goodwill in relation to mining operation

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Group’s mining operation
was allocated into five CGUs namely LI 75 5 7% 38 §5 & B & 2 $H pE A
¥BEMRAF (‘Bolong”), WAKKREHERERERKEEBRA A
(“Liaoyuan”), ILFEE RIBEHEE S R BBREZE AR AR (Xinfeng”), LUF
BrREHER SR BEEEABRAA (“Fuchang”) and LA & 8 5%
Bt EAR QA (“Jinxin®), which represented five subsidiaries
in the mining operation segment to determine their recoverable

amounts.

The recoverable amounts of the mining operation CGUs are
determined from value-in-use calculation. As extracted from Greater
China Appraisal Limited (“Greater China”)’s valuation reports for
the recoverable amounts as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 (the
“Valuation Reports”), the management of the Group prepared cash
flow forecast derived from the most recent available financial budgets
approved by management and cash flows beyond 5-year period are
extrapolated using 3% (2014: 3%) growth rate over sixteen (2014:
seventeen) years which does not exceed the long-term growth
rate assuming the extension of mining licenses is available and
administrative in nature. In preparing the forecast, management made
reference to the mineral reserves presently verified and the future
production capacity according to the technical report issued by John T.
Boyd (“J T Boyd”).

&R E

RERREB AR ZRRE ¥
X W E KRR R R R E R
RREARTE LB RBEFIEES
RERGESER DLAEEHERS
SEHEEEERAR (1$5]) - WAKRE
HEEERRREERAR (TRR]) -1
FRREHEEERERREERAF ([8
]) PR R B HEEE X EEREER
DA ([18E ) RIL TR RS HEE & X 4
$BERAR([£8]) RREBEBZH
GIGE PSRV P ol et

RBEEBRSELSA 2T IRE € ERE
RAEEFELEE AEEEREENESE
AEERAR(DEE])HERSE ([HER
HEDFIR T —RAFR=FT—NF+=A
=t+—AZARESE EEAHEEREA
EHECHBHEERERSRETEN BB
AFHMZRESRE A% (ZT—MEF:
3% ) ERE (WEBBRPERE) EH TR
F(ZT—NF: ++HF)HEE FREBRER
BB ENBEBEPBETRIEE - EEA
B2FNRTEEAR ([JTIEE]) 2 ik
HRTE IR BORIE 2 B 2 J R IR E e
245838 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE =%
33. IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS, PROPERTY, PLANT

—hFEFT-A=1T—HLFE

BHEBEE -ME BERRER

AND EQUIPMENT AND GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of mining rights, property, plant and
equipment and goodwill in relation to mining operation
(continued)

Based on the Valuation Reports, the recoverable amounts of the

relevant mining operations CGUs are determined as follows:

Bolong e
Liaoyuan EIR
Xinfeng =yl
Fuchang Ba
Jinxin ok

EERE (&)

HEREXBEBZREE Y
% "BERIZERBERENR
(&)
BEEERE FRARBEEFRCEEEM
ZEWESEEFLOT
2015 2014
—E-IF —ZE-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
3,400,383 4,744,728
1,646,631 2,233,639
1,729,980 2,421,298
1,306,818 1,881,218
945,267 1,386,528

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill of approximately
HK$1,322,481,000, HK$644,490,000, HK$782,843,000,
HK$537,950,000 and HK$373,791,000 were allocated to Bolong,
Liaoyuan, Xinfeng, Fuchang and Jinxin respectively and was fully

impaired during the year ended 31 December 2013.

The directors of the Company were of the opinion that, based on the
Valuation Reports, the recoverable amounts of the mining rights of
HK$7,977,311,000 (2014: HK$11,399,038,000) and property, plant
and equipment of HK$1,059,067,000 (2014: HK$1,268,373,000)
under the mining operation were less than the carrying amounts
in the consolidated statement of financial position. Impairment
losses in respect of mining rights during the year of approximately
HK$2,715,022,000 (2014: HK$709,204,000) and impairment
losses of property, plant and equipment of HK$368,432,000 (2014:
HK$74,776,000) were recognised for the year ended 31 December
2015.

NORTH ASIA RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED e 1t 55 & RZ R B R A A
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RERAMBRNERAZ BB - RAFE - B8
IR 2 R E R 1B 4)/A2,715,022,000/ 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VIR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HIFE

33. IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS, PROPERTY, PLANT
AND EQUIPMENT AND GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of mining rights, property, plant and
equipment and goodwill in relation to mining operation
(continued)

The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculation are those
regarding discount rates, anticipated changes to future selling prices

and anticipated production capacity, as follows:

- Management used a discount rate which was derived as the
Company’s cost of capital, representing the expected return
on the Company’s capital, and assigned the following pre-tax

discount rate to each mine:

Bolong fARE
Fuchang &E
Jinxin ok
Liaoyuan EIR
Xinfeng EqeS

BHEBHE VX BERRER
BmERE (&)

ERBEREEHEZREE Y
X BERREREERERH
(%)
EREEMEEMBZEZHRRF LR
K RREEEPEHRIEHER FHEMN
T

- BEASMARREBARAEAKAK
(AARBEARZFIMER) K& T5%E
T [ 2 $6TE W AT B R R E

2015 2014
—®2-I%F —E-mEF
% %

20.74 20.56
22.70 24.30
23.11 25.16
21.41 21.37
23.15 23.65

—  Future selling prices were estimated with reference to existing and

past quoted commodity prices of the mining industry.

—  Future production capacity estimation was made in accordance
with the feasibility report issued by J T Boyd. The estimated

optimal production capacity per annum is expected to be as

follows:

Bolong e
Fuchang pig=|
Jinxin ok
Liaoyuan IR
Xinfeng z21

— AREESERGRBEWENSHE
fiisto

— RREEBRBEITEEZAITHERSE®
o TEHIh A REFERNT ¢

2015 2014
—E-1F —ZT-F
tonnes tonnes

7] &
1,270,000 1,270,000
680,000 680,000
450,000 450,000
630,000 630,000
880,000 880,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

33. IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS, PROPERTY, PLANT BREE VWX BERKER

AND EQUIPMENT AND GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of mining rights, property, plant and
equipment and goodwill in relation to mining operation
(continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill in relation to the acquisition of Jiang Xi
Jin Chuang Information Technology Limited (“Jin Chuang”). Details of
the acquisition are set out in Note 34.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill with indefinite useful
lives set out in Note 18 has been allocated to one individual CGU,
systems integration services and software solutions, to determine its

recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of the goodwill is determined from value-in-
use calculation. The management of the Group prepared cash flow
forecast derived from the most recent available financial budgets
approved by management and cash flows beyond 5-year period are
extrapolated using zero (2014: nil) growth rate over five (2014: nil)
years which does not exceed the long-term growth rate. Cash flow
projections during the budget period for Jin Chuang is also based on
the budgeted sales and expected gross margins during the budget
period and the same raw materials price inflation during the budget
period. Expected cash inflows/outflows, which include budgeted sales,
gross margin and raw material price inflation, have been determined
based on past performance and management’s expectations for
the market development. Management considered that the carrying
amount of goodwill of Jin Chuang exceeded its recoverable amount.
Goodwill of HK$2,352,000 was impaired for the year ended 31
December 2015.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 34. Wi —EHE QT
On 4 December 2015, the Group acquired 100% equity interest of REZZE—RAF+-_ANA AEER—EBE
Jin Chuang from an independent third parties, settled by a cash VE=ZHREEEIZ100%M A - WIAR
consideration of HK$2,387,000. The acquisition has been accounted & X 512,387,000 ;R (& o Uk BE S 18 LAUK BE
for using the acquisition method. Jin Chuang is engaged in the systems EARR e BB E R IRTS KRB RR R
integration services and software solutions business. Jin Chuang is FREB -EZIBENREERRAS
acquired so as to continue the expansion of the Group’s systems B2 RS AR RS iR R T R -

integration services and software solutions operation

The effect of acquisition is summarised as follows: Wz BamT
Consideration transferred CEERE
HK$’000
FHT
Cash consideration ReRE 2,387
Asset (liabilities) recognised at the date of acquisition RIWBHHPBRIZEE (BE)
HK$’000
FAT
Property, plant and equipment W BB MR 6
Trade and other payables B 5 & H A FOE (41)
(35)
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition KEBEE2BRESREFHE
HK$’'000
FiHBT
Cash consideration paid EfEERE 2,387
Goodwill arising on acquisition WIEELE2EHE
HK$’000
FAT
Consideration transferred EEERE 2,387
Add: net liabilities acquired s B EFE 35
2,352
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e WIS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

34.

35.

172

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED)

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Jin Chuang because the
consideration included a control premium and the assembled
workforce. These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable

intangible assets.

Included in the profit for the year is approximately HK$40,000
attributable to the additional business generated by Jin Chuang.
Revenue for the year includes approximately HK$4,184,000 generated
from Jin Chuang. Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January
2015, total revenue of the Group for the year would have been
approximately HK$64,116,000, and loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$3,774,385,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue
and results of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2015, nor

is it intended to be a projection of future results.

ACQUISITION OF ASSET THROUGH ACQUISITION OF A
SUBSIDIARY

On 4 November 2014, the Group completed to acquire 100% equity
interest of Hamford Enterprises Limited (“Hamford Enterprises”) from
China Best Group Holding Limited, an independent third party, settled
by a cash consideration of HK$550,000. The directors of the Company
was of the opinion that the acquisition of Hamford Enterprises was in
substance an acquisition of asset instead of an acquisition of business
as the principal asset included in Hamford Enterprises was mainly a

motor vehicle and without any operation.
The effect of acquisition was summarised as follows:

Consideration transferred

ReRE

Cash consideration

34.

35.

WE-EHELR (&)

HRREBEHEEERARAT Bk
BoAELARE RENEYEEFESR
R AREINEREMAETLEE

Rt o

FEGBNEESABEBNINEBMEE 2L
40,0008 T - FEURABIESEIMEEZLD
4,184,000B Lo MM BFENR T —HF
—A—BEK RAAEEZFERALLE
1% #) £64,116,0007 7T i FE BB KL A
3,774,385,0008 Lo fEE B R E A A
BW A —FERAMBEER - —RE—A
—BRERAEEREEIRE 2 RAREEHE
BzEE BUWTERERRKERZEZTER-

B UL EE — B A B T W R
BE
R-B—mF+—AWAE - REBEHREKE
HEEWERERAR (—RBLEZH) K
MEECEERAF ([RBLE])Z100%
M #E - I LA 2R ©550,0008 T A (E « AR
AEERANBEBCEEE L AKEE
EMFREEY RARBLERAZEE
AETEA-WAEMLMEE-

Wz 2 EBNIT

EHEAHE

HK$’000
FET

550
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VIR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HIFE
35. ACQUISITION OF ASSET THROUGH ACQUISITION OF A 35. &8 W iE — R Bt B & B U BB

SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED) BE (&)
Asset recognised at the date of acquisition RBRBAHERAZEE
HK$’'000
FHET
Non-current assets EMBEE
Property, plant and equipment W B MR 550
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition WIEELE 2B ARHFEEE
HK$’'000
FHEIT
Cash consideration paid ENRERE 550
36. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 36.BHARS
Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, BREEMBRMEREAMITDAEEEIN K&
the Group entered into the following significant related party TDERRB AR LA TEREB RS
transactions with related parties:
Compensation of key management personnel FTEEBEAESHE
The remunerations of the directors of the Company and other members FAARAEERHMFEEREEKE 2
of key management during the year were as follows: FHEN S
2015 2014
—E-AF —ZT-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Short-term benefits = HRE I 8,838 3,568
Post-employment benefits BEBR 21T 86 68
Share-based payments F&% 19 1+ 3¢ 17,523 -
26,447 3,636
The remunerations of directors of the Company and other members ARAREEREMETESTEEKE 2 H A
of key management were determined by the remuneration committee FNEZEESREARBEMSGBEAEE -

having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE =%

B RS RAR B AL

—hFEF-A=1+—HILFE

37.MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(@)

174

During the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, there were
conversions of convertible preference shares into ordinary shares
as detailed in Note 28(a).

During the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, there were
conversions of convertible loan notes into ordinary shares as
detailed in Note 28(b).

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company issued
20,000,000 share options (with fair value of share options at grant
date of approximately HK$2,102,000), as detailed in Note 39, to
a lender of the other borrowing as a consideration to renew the
borrowing. Fair value of the share options is considered as part
of the borrowing costs and was off set with the relevant other
borrowing recorded in the balance sheet and amortised over the
term of the loan.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company issued
share options (with fair value of share options at grant date of
approximately HK$38,905,000 charged to profit and loss for
the year ended 31 December 2015), as detailed in Note 39, to
directors, senior management and employees for the purpose of
providing incentives to directors and eligible employees

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Government
had approved the refund of certain mineral compensation fees
amounting to approximately HK$22,581,000 previously paid by a
subsidiary of the Group and recognised as cost of mining right.
HK$5,967,000 was refunded in cash while the remaining amount
was offset with payables due to certain government agencies
included in other payables.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company issued
28,078,979 ordinary shares of the Company to settle interest
payables of HK$4,071,000 as detailed in Note 28(d).

During the year ended 31 December 2015, Mr. Tse has resigned,
therefore HK$66,000 has reallocated from amount due from a
director to other receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

38. COMMITMENTS 38. & &
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following REEIR  REBEH T REE:

commitments:

(@) Commitments under operating leases (a) KEHERE
The Group as lessee AEBEAEEA
The Group’s leases certain of its office premises and staff quarters AEERBKEHEZHHESETEF
under operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are BYMEREIRES WEEBRETAW
negotiated for a term ranging from two months to three years and BRAE=F1% WX EEHEE-

rentals are fixed.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for RMEBRR AEERBETAIHHEEE
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating HEEUTHBI A2 RRFEA S &
leases which fall due as follows: BT
2015 2014
—E-AF —ZE-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHEx FHET
Land and buildings T RIEF
Within one year —F R 10,833 6,026
In the second to fifth year inclusive S$£ - ZFAF (BHEEEMF) 8,942 4,810
19,775 10,836
(b) Other capital commitments (b) Hfh&EARAERE
2015 2014
—E-1F —ZE-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHEIT
Contracted but not provided for BET 4B R B
in respect of:
— acquisition of property, —WIEME  BE REE
plant and equipment 328,555 315,925
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 39. KX f[AR 5

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company:

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 14 July 2015 for the primary
purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible employees and
loan arrangement with an independent third party (the ‘Lender’), and
will expire on 13 July 2025. Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors
of the Company may grant options to eligible employees, including
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares

in the Company.

On 14 July 2015, share options to subscribe for 825,000,000 (2014:
Nil) ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company were granted to certain individuals. At 31 December 2015,
807,000,000 options remained outstanding.

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date of
upon which it is made provided that no such offer shall be open for
acceptance after the earlier of the 10th anniversary of the date of
adoption or the termination of Scheme or the participant to whom
such offer is made has ceased to be a participant. For the share option
73% of the options are exercisable from the date of grant to expiry of
option period; and 27% of the options are exercisable from the first

anniversary of the Date of Grant to expiry of option period.

A non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the
grantee upon acceptance of an option. An option shall be deemed to
have been accepted when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance
of the option duly signed by the participant together with the said
consideration of HK$1.00 is received by the Company. The exercise
price is determined by the board of directors at its absolute discretion
but in any event will not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price
of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business day; (i)
the average closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of

the share on the date of grant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE
39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company:

(continued)

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

Option granted on 14 July 2015

Grantee

ERA

Directors

g%

Directors

g%

Senior Management &
Employees
SRERERES

Senior Management &
Employees
SRERERES

The Lender

ERA

The Lender

ERA

Employees

E&

Vesting
proportion

BREL

17%

17%

9%

9%

1%

1%

46%

Vesting
period

BEA

14 July 2015 to
13 July 2016

“T-FEFE+A+WAEE
—E-RFLA+=H

N/A
TiE A
14 July 2015 to
13 July 2016
“T-FEFE+A+WAEE
—E-RFLA+=H
N/A
T iE A
14 July 2015 to
13 July 2016
“T-HEFE+A+WAEE
—E-RFLA+=H

N/A

9. ROXNAXRS (&)

RARzEREAEBRERT S :

(%)

B BRARFENT

R-ZE-HAFEtATHARBZERE

Exercisable
period

T

14 July 2015 to
13 July 2025
“T-RFEATWHEZRE
ZT-hFEATZ=H

14 July 2016 to
13 July 2025
“E-REtATHmAZE
—ZRE+LAT=R

14 July 2015 to
13 July 2025
“T-RFLATWHEZRE
ZT-hFEATZ=H

14 July 2016 to
13 July 2025
“E-REtATHmAZE
—ZRE+LAT=R

14 July 2015 to
13 July 2025
“T-RFELATWHEZRE
ZT-hFEATZ=H

14 July 2016 to
13 July 2025
—E-REtATHmAZE
—ZRE+LAT=R

14 July 2015 to
13 July 2025
“T-RFELATWHEZRE
ZT-hFEATZ=H

Exercise

price

TEE
HK$
BT

0.15

0.15

0.15

0.15

0.15

0.15

0.15

Fair value
at grant date
REHBEHZ

DYE
HK$
BT

0.0815

0.0831

0.0453

0.0575

0.1051

0.1051

0.0453
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 39. RBZMNARE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company: AARzEREEERESE:
(continued) (#&)
Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows: FRERITEBEREFBEOT
Outstanding at Forfeited  Outstandingat  Exercisable at
1 January Granted Exercised during 31 December 31 December
2015 during year during year the year 2015 2015
R=2-1f% RZ2-1F R-B-1F
-B-1 +-ZA=t-B +ZA=1-AH
HRTE ERRH ERfE FRER HRTE AP
'000 '000 '000 '000 '000 '000
SR T 3 S 1 7
Option granted on 14 July 2015 RZZ-RFtATMA
Bl 2 Bk - 825,000 (10,000) (8,000) 807,000 591,000
Weighted average exercise price MEFHRE - 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15
In respect of the share options exercised during the year, the weighted FRITEBREETE 2 BN THRE
average share price at the dates of exercise is HK$0.128 (2014: ROA28B T (ZE—WF:THL) o
HK$Nil).
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e VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 9. KON RZ (&)

(CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company:
(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2015, 825,000,000 options were
granted on 14 July 2015 (2014: Nil). The estimated fair values of the
share options at the granted date was HK$49,237,000.

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$38,905,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2015 in relation to share options granted by the

Company.

These fair values were calculated using The Black-Scholes pricing
model with Binomial Tree method. The inputs into the model were as

follows:

Weighted average share price MEFHITEE
Exercise price (B

Expected volatility T8 HR R IR

Expected life TEHAFHA

Risk-free rate 4 Ja g ) o
Expected dividend yield TEER AR B
Suboptimal factor EEES

- Directors —&EF

— Senior management and employees SREEERER
— The Lender —BRA

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of
the Company’s share price over the previous year. The expected life
used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best
estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and

behavioural considerations.

AARZEREEERES S
(&)
REE-_ZT-—AE+-_A=+—HILFE"
825,000,000 IR EE R —E—AF A
THARE (ZT—MF &) xS HEBRE
MNEH B8 2 H 5 A E A49,237,0007
JTe

KBE-T-AF+-A=+—HILER
AR BB A D A 2 R R X
38,905,000/ JT °

ZERNTEMERMRE S BATSHETE
BRI - B AREEESFE - HA 28 A
[ER/NE

Options
BRE

HK$0.13607% 7T
HK$0.15% 7T
74.52%

10 years4F
1.9254%

0%

2.8%
1.5
N/A i@ F

TEHIR IR IR A R R RO BRER EF 2B LK
REE - REMAZANFHCKREEE
ZREME AT ER YL ITERBIRITR
ERZVBIFHTBE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

40. &1 B) B MR R

COMPANY
2015 2014
—E-IF —ET-MEF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B FHExT FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB &R 59 82
Investments in subsidiaries RHWB AR ZIEE 390 390
449 472
Current assets B E B
Other receivables E b fE WK IB 3,890 3,052
Amounts due from subsidiaries A EENGIE /S (a) 5,181,179 5,067,350
Amount due from a director R —BEERIA - 66
Derivative component of AMBREREE
convertible loan notes PTHETAZD - 11,340
Bank balances and cash RITEBRERS 14,369 14,954
5,199,438 5,096,762
Current liabilities mENAE
Other payables E b JE A KB 7,999 7,047
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEHBT B A B3R (a) 1,633 1,685
Amounts due to related companies R RAB AR ZIE - 20,053
Liabilities component of convertible ARRERERZ
loan notes BEHD 121,587 -
Derivative component of AMREREEZ
convertible loan notes PTHET ALY 356,225 930,730
Promissory notes 7 R 217,963 -
705,407 959,515
Net current assets BN E EFE 4,494,031 4,137,247
4,494,480 4,137,719
Capital and reserves BEAR R FEE
Share capital &N 206,634 60,350
Convertible preference shares Al B ST IR - 19,887
Reserves s (b) 3,145,658 1,191,462
Total equity g 3,352,292 1,271,699
Non-current liabilities ERBBE
Promissory notes AR - 278,634
Liabilities component of AMREREEZ
convertible loan notes BEBD 1,142,188 2,587,386
1,142,188 2,866,020
4,494,480 4,137,719
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(a) Amounts due from (to) subsidiaries
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable
on demand. The fair values of the amounts at the end of the
reporting period were approximated to the corresponding carrying

amounts due to their short-term maturity.

40. XA B BB MRR T (F)

(a) FEUL (FEAS) BB 2 B 7RI
RERARMER 2B RANBRE
(B8 - NS HEN I BN - B
R s @R AP ERREERE -

(b) Reserves (b) fe# &
Convertible
Share preference  Contributed Share options ~ Accumulated
premium shares surplus reserve losses Total
RAEE TERELR BABE  BRERE RFR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FhET Fhx FAx Fhx Fhx FAx
At 1 January 2014 RZE-—NF—-A—AH 4,408,676 21,071 458,561 29,545 (4,249,293) 668,560
Loss for the year FEER - - - - (22,068) (22,068)
Issue of shares upon AEBASRELR
conversion of convertible mETRH
preference shares (161) (1,184) - - - (1,345)
Conversion of convertiole RBTBRRENEE
loan notes 566,202 - - - - 566,202
At 31 December 2014 and RZE-ME+ZA=+-H
1 January 2015 L=—Z-H%E—F—H 4,974,717 19,887 458,561 29,545 (4,271,361) 1,211,349
Loss for the year FEEBB - - - - (1,085,298) (1,085,298)
Issue of share option BITRERE - - - 41,007 - 41,007
Issue of share upon: AT EEMETRG :
- Placings -KE 318,185 - - - - 318,185
- Expenses on issue shares  — R EITHX (3,575) - - - - (3,575)
- Interest capitalisation -HEERL 3,313 - - - - 3,313
- Exercise of share options —fIiERE R 1,852 - - (452) - 1,400
- Conversion of convertible ~ — A&k
preference shares Bk (1,965) (19,887) - - - (21,852)
- Conversion of convertible ~ — LB ABRRERZE
loan notes 2,681,129 - - - - 2,681,129
At 31 December 2015 RZ_E-RE+=-A=1+-H 7,973,656 - 458,561 70,100 (5,356,659) 3,145,658
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e P BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

41. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES NREBRARAIZRE
At the end of the reporting period, the Company has interests in the RMEBAR ARFARTIHEZHE QA%
following principal subsidiaries: A
Nominal value
Place of of paid-up share/ Class of Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Company incorporation registered capital shares held interest held by the Company Principal activities
Bkt
27 AMAIBE EMEAZEE  AERHER RREELA KARAMEREELA E2:$3
2015 2014 2015 2014
ZB-1f -E-ME CZB-EF —B2-OF
% % % %
Held directly:
EEEA:
Technology Venture BVI US$1,000 Ordinary 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Investments Limited EBRNHS 1000%(n  EB REER
North Asia Precious Metals BVI US$60,000 Ordinary 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Group Limited ARRARE B0000%XT  EB RARR
Guang Cheng Group Limited BVI US$1 Ordinary 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
EREEARAA RBRUME iEST. 4! RELR

Held indirectly:

BEEE:
Sequent China/ Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary 100 100 100 100 Distribution of information
Hong Kong Limited technology products and
provision of computer
technology services
A 100008 Eil@ AHARBBERRIREEH
iR
Technology Venture (Software) BVI US$1,000 Ordinary 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Holdings Limited RERLES 1,000%n  E@ REZR
Topasia Computer Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary 100 100 100 100 Distribution of information
technology products and
provision of computer
technology services
BEEMERAT 36 100008 E@ AHARHRERRIREER
iR
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

41. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) NREBARZRE (&)
Nominal value
Place of of paid-up share/ Class of Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Company incorporation registered capital shares held interest held by the Company Principal activities
BdRG/
e EMALBE AMERZEE  FERHEH BRELH ARAFEREELA TEXEH
2015 2014 2015 2014
“E-1f -T-MF Z®R-1Ff “E-[OF
% % % %
Topsoft Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary 100 100 100 100 Distribution of information

technology products and
provision of computer

technology services
RERHARAT £k 10000EL &R AHEARBERRREER
iR
#Topasia Tech (Shanghai) The PRC 1S$3,800,000 Registered 100 100 100 100 Distribution of information
Limited (Note) Capital technology products and
provision of computer
technology services
BEME (L8)ERAR PE 380000057  HMAR AHERHRERRIRAER
(Fi3E) B iR
# Topasia IT (Shanghai) Limited The PRC US$1,000,000 Registered 100 100 100 100 Systems integration services
(Note) Capital and software solutions
BRfEaRERS (LE) Gk 1,000,000%7  #fEX ZRERRBREMHERFR
BRAA (M)
Rong Xin Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary 100 100 100 100 Investment holding

(Formerly known as: CTG
Resources Holdings Limited)

REHHARAT £k 10000EL &R RERR
(3% BRERERERAA

Lexing Holdings Limited BVI US$1 Ordinary 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
SRZRERAT ABRARE IEST. 4! RERR

Hong Kong OEPC Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
ERABERTLERAR 35 100008 EB RERR

# Jiangxi Wantai Enterprise The PRC RMB113,000,000 Registered 100 100 100 100 Coal Operation

Co., Ltd. Capital
IREREXERAA k! ARB  #EfiER BRER
113,000,0007
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

— L =
41.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) NREBARZRE (&)
Nominal value
Place of of paid-up share/ Class of Proportion of ownership  Proportion of voting power
Company incorporation registered capital shares held interest held by the Company Principal activities
EdRe/
e EMALBE AMERZEE  HFERHEH REELA ARAFEREELA TERHK
2015 2014 2015 2014
“E-1f C-T-MF ZR-IFf “Z-[O%
% % % %
#Jiangxi Hengchuang Energy The PRC RMB60,300,000 Registered 100 100 100 100 Coal trading and new energy
Investments Co., Ltd. Capital development
IREERREERAT PE AR%60,300,000T  HfEE ERBoRAERRE
# Jiangxi Hengpuwei Energy The PRC RMB51,350,000 Registered 100 100 100 100 Energy wholesale and
Investments Co., Ltd. Capital investment
IREERRERAERAR  TE AR¥51,350,000m  HfEK HRHERRE
#Shanxi Ruiying Investment and ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 Registered 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Management Co., Ltd. Capital
LERBREAERERAA Gk ARMB100000007  HBEAR RARR
#Taiyuan Zhituo Investment The PRC RMB1,100,000 Registered 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Consultant Co., Ltd. Capital
ARTERARERRERRA  TE AR%1100000  ERER RERR
*Shanxi Changtong Energy The PRC RMB100,000,000 Registered 100 100 100 100 Energy development and
Share Co., Ltd. Capital equipment trading
LAERERRABRAR PE ARB  #EfiER ERRERREES
100,000,000
*Shanxi coal The PRC RMB370,000,000 Registered 49 49 56 56 Coal operating and trading
Capital
IEER PE AR%E  HfER EnxBRES
370,000,0007C
*Jinxin The PRC RMB50,080,000 Registered 49 49 56 56 Coal mine development
Capital
e& Gk ARM50080,0000  HBAR RER%
“Bolong The PRC RMB23,924,200 Registered 49 49 56 56 Coal mine development
Capital
kil3 Gkl AR%23924000T AR S
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

41. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) NREBARZRE (&)
Nominal value
Place of of paid-up share/ Class of Proportion of ownership  Proportion of voting power
Company incorporation registered capital shares held interest held by the Company Principal activities
B4R/
e EMALBE dMEACEE ~ AERHER BRELH ARAFEREELA TEXEH
2015 2014 2015 2014
—2-1f C-T-MOF Z%-1f _"T-[%
% % % %
* Liaoyuan The PRC RMB2,000,000 Registered 49 49 56 56 Coal mine development
Capital
FER s AR 2,000,000 HHER RER%E
*Fuchang The PRC RMB2,000,000 Registered 34 34 56 56 Coal mine development
Capital
*iEE # AR%2000000 AR BERZ
* Xinfeng The PRC RMB62,000,000 Registered 49 49 56 56 Coal mine development
Capital
1 Gk AR®620000007  HEBEAR KERE
Parkson Global Investments Samoa USs$1 Ordinary 100 - 100 - Investment Holding
Limited
BERRRAERAT EED =T BB RERR
Bilion Zone Development Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary 100 - 100 - Investment Holding
Limited
kBBRBRAT Bk 100008 & REZR
#Shanxi Guanghui Corporate The PRC RMB$10,000,000 Registered 100 - 100 - T service, system integration,
Management Consultancy Capital sales of equipments and
Limited services
LABRZCEERFABRAA  HE ARM¥100000007  HBEAR BARERS ZGER HE
R RRB
#Jiang Xi Jin Chuang Information ~ The PRC RMB$2,000,000 Registered 100 - 100 - T service, system integration
Technology Limited Capital
IALEIEERIERAR Gk ARH2000000r  #EX ERRRRE ZRENK
Note:  Wholly-owned foreign enterprises. Mizk: SNEBERZ-
# English name is for identification purpose only e EXE %
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding as at the BEMNE QAR EETNRFLEBINEEZ
end of the year or at any time during both years ended 31 December T-—RAFR-FT—NOFF+_A=+—HIM
2015 and 2014. 16146 £ {1 05 T KA 2 (A 0 5 o
* Although the Group only held 49% of equity interest in Shanxi coal, Jinxin, * BEAEBEFELUAER £8 AELE
Bolong, Liaoyuan, and 34% equity interest in Fuchang, the directors of the TR 2 49% R 1 LA K2 48 & 2 34% AR 1 » 1R A 7]
Company concluded that the Group has control over these companies on the EERA RBWFHAFEEE REAREZ
basis as set out in Note 4. ERA) LI
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE
41.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

N RBLARIZKRE (&)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non- GHEERFERER 2FZ2EWNB AR
controlling interests: 15

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the TREJNFEERFERERZ 2 AEEFES
Group that have material non-controlling interests: BB R RS

Proportion of

ownership
Place of interest Loss
incorporation and held by the allocated to Accumulated
principal place of non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling
Name of the subsidiary business interests interests interests
S8 B 3L i B R FERESR SEFIFER
MEAEER TEEEMBH iR LA BEzER  RIFERER
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TET FET
2015
—Z-hF
Shanxi Coal and its subsidiaries The PRC 51% 1,399,451 2,945,506
L7 o % EL B 8 )
2014
—ZT-mE
Shanxi Coal and its subsidiaries The PRC 51% 470,623 4,531,259
7 A i B LT A ) &
As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group has only 49% RZE—RAFRZFTE—WF+=ZA=1+—
ownership in Shanxi Coal, the directors of the Company concluded that H AEEEES LARRZ490%EEE K
the Group has control over Shanxi Coal on the basis of set out in Note NAEERA RBWFH4FTHELE - KEH
4. The 51% ownership interests in Shanxi Coal are owned by Shanxi VAR LT R 2 IR o L PR IR 251 %%
Coal Transportation and Sales Group Co., Ltd (41%) and LI FAEEJRE % BRERILAREREFEEBRBRATNEEI%

EEBRETRF(10%).

FARILAEREXEEEREEQAAESR
10% °
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE T —RAF+_A=1+—HILFE

41.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) N RBLARIZRE (&)
REBEABERFERET ZWE AR ZH
BERBMEZI M T Tz B ERME

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s subsidiaries

that has material non-controlling interests is set out below. The

summarised financial information below represents amounts before REENEHEA -
intra-group eliminations.
Shanxi Coal and its subsidiaries 2015 2014
IWARERREKEB AR —E—EHF —T—-MEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Current assets REBEE 62,816 49,526
Non-current assets ERBEE 9,078,670 12,737,457
Current liabilities REBE (3,488,951) (2,621,173)
Non-current liabilities ERBELE (2,976,758) (4,425,988)
Equity attributable to owners RARER AEL#ER
of the Company (269,729) 1,208,563
Non-controlling interests FEIE R = 2,945,506 4,531,259
Shanxi Coal and its subsidiaries 2015 2014
WP R H B AR —E-EE —ZE—NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHExT FHET
Turnover B 5,590 44,644
Expenses 53 (3,270,175) (1,074,573)
Loss for the year FEER (2,583,322) (825,706)
Loss attributable to: AT ALTERER:
Owners of the Company VNI PN (1,183,871) (355,083)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR B 2 (1,399,451) (470,623)
Loss for the year EEER (2,583,322) (825,706)
Total comprehensive expenses WTATE(R2E M2 :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KAEER A (1,478,292) (273,879)
Non-controlling interests FEPE R R (1,585,753) (369,645)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year F /€ 2 M X 4258 (8,064,045) (643,524)
Net cash outflow from operating activities #& & %% &5 H F %8 (127,920) (115,889)
Net cash outflow from investing activities & & BB & 7 HIF5E (65,690) (171,706)
Net cash inflow from financing activities ~ B & EBIR & R AFE 193,762 279,232
Net cash inflow (outflow ) BEmA Cnd) F58 152 (8,363)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE—T—hAF+_A=+—HILFE

42.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 2. BEHRERER

A placing of 38,000,000,000 shares of the Company (the “Placing
Shares”) (the “Placing”) was completed on 18 March 2016. The Placing
Shares were allotted and issued to not less than six independent third
parties at a price of HK$0.01 per Placing Share. Net proceeds of
approximately HK$374,800,000 was raised from the Placing.

Pursuant to the terms of the instruments constituting the 2013
Convertible Loan Notes A, the conversion price of the 2013 Convertible
Loan Notes A will be adjusted from the exercising conversion price of
HK$0.17 per share to HK$0.07 per share as a result of the Placing with
effect from 18 March 2016, and a total of 20,291,265,795 shares will
fall to be issued upon exercise in full the conversion rights attached

hereto.

Further details of the Placing and adjustment to the 2013 Convertible
Loan Notes A are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 18
March 2016.

On 18 March 2016, the remaining 2013 Convertible Loan Notes B,
Promissory Notes B and Promissory Notes C were fully redeemed.
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ARABRZE—ANFZATN\ARKEE
38,000,000,000/% A" A A i {7 ([ERE MR 1)
(BEEFE]) RERNEATRESRN
0.01B T BREHEREITTFILONAEE
VEZF - REFHEHSEEMSREFENS
374,800,000 T °

BEBKAB-_TE——GFARBRERZRZ
XBER AR#ETREFE  WITEARES
T-ZFARRERERZ HRE K HER
BEROATETHAREZER0.07ET B_F
—RNEZATNBRER MARAE-T—=
FAIMRERZEMM X RERBEBTE
7R T 317 2 IR 19 48 20 /20,291,265,795
P& o

EMEEFERARAR T FRR
BREEY AR RARERA-S
—AEZB+NBZAME-

—ZE—R"FE=ZAt+/N\H #HIBE-_T—=
AR E SRR BEAR ZERCHEAR
BEEEEEL-
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